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Exhibit 32.2
NOTE REGARDING REVERSE STOCK SPLIT
On February 5, 2010, we filed a Certificate of Amlerent to our Articles of Incorporation with the 8stary of State ¢

the State of Nevada to affect a reverse split ofommmon stock at a ratio of ten for one. All higtal share and per share amo!
have been adjusted to reflect the reverse stodk spl
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In this Annual Report, the terms “we”, “us”, “our"Company” and “CryoPortrefer to CryoPort, Inc., and our wholly owr
subsidiary, CryoPort Systems, Inc. This Annual Repontains forwardeoking statements that involve risks and uncetitsn The
inclusion of forwardlooking statements should not be regarded as @geptation by us or any other person that the tgscol
plans will be achieved because our actual resulty differ materially from any forward-looking statent. The words “may,”
“should,” “plans,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “estinta,” “expect,” their opposites and similar expressions are intgndeidentify
forward-looking statements, but the absence ofetlvesrds does not necessarily mean that a statesaot forwardlooking. We
caution readers that such statements are not geasaof future performance or events and are suttjecnumber of factors that v
tend to influence the accuracy of the statementduding but not limited to, those risk factors lmed in the section titledRisk
Factors” as well as those discussed elsewherasmtinual Report. You should not unduly rely onstadorwardiooking statement
which speak only as of the date of this Annual RefWe undertake no obligation to publicly revisg dorwardiooking statement"
reflect circumstances or events after the datdisfAnnual Report or to reflect the occurrence énticipated events. You shot
however, review the factors and risks we descnibéhe reports that we file from time to time withetSecurities and Exchar
Commission (“SEC”) after the date of this AnnuapRg.

” o« "o " o«

In addition, we own or have rights to the regisietrademark CryoPoft (both alone and with a design logo) and CryoPogress®
(both alone and with a design logo). All other Compaames, registered trademarks, trademarks amitesenarks included in tr
Annual Report are trademarks, registered trademaeksice marks or trade names of their respectivgers.

tem 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We are a provider of an innovative cold chain froghipping system dedicated to providing supegtfgrdable cryogen
shipping solutions that ensure the safety, statgstamperature, of high value, temperature semsitiaterials. We have develo)
cost effective reusable cryogenic transport coetaifreferred to as “shippersfapable of transporting biological, environmentad
other temperature sensitive materials at tempearathelow minus 150° Celsius. These dry vapor shépped shipping system
one of the first significant alternatives to drg ishipping and achieve J0us day holding times compared to one to two dagdihg
times with dry ice.

Our value proposition comes from both providinges#ifansportation with an environmentally friendlgng lasting
shipper, and through our value added servicesdffiat a simple hassle-free solution for our custsn&hese valuadded service
include an internebased web portal that enables the customer tat@iticheduling, shipping and tracking of the pregr@nd stat
of a shipment, and provides fransit temperature and custody transfer monitosienyices of the shipper. The CryoPort service
provides a fully ready charged shipper containithdreight bills, customs documents and regulatpaperwork for the entire journ
of the shipper to our customers at their pickup @gldzery locations.

Our principal focus has been the further develograed commercial launch of CryoPort Expr@&d8ortal, an innovativ
IT solution for shipping and tracking high-valueespmens through overnight shipping companies, amdQryoPort Expres®
Shipper, a dry vapor cryogenic shipper for thedpamt of biological and pharmaceutical materialsini vapor cryogenic shipper i
container that uses liquid nitrogen in dry vapanfowhich is suspended inside a vacuum insulatétliebas a refrigerant, to provi
storage temperatures below minus 150° Celsius. drgevapor shipper is designed using innovative pgatary, and patent
technology which prevents spillage of liquid nitemgand pressure build up as the liquid nitrogerpesstes. A proprietary foe
retention system is employed to ensure that ligitigen stays inside the vacuum container, evesnwitaced upsiddewn or on it
side, as is often the case when in the custodysbi@ping company. Biological specimens are stimealspecimen chamber, refer
to as a “well”inside the container and refrigeration is providgdharmless cold nitrogen gas evolving from theiitignitroger
entrapped within the foam retention system surrmgqthe well. Biological specimens transported gsiir cryogenic shipper ¢
include clinical samples, diagnostics, live cellaphaceutical products (such as cancer vaccinesersemd embryos, infectic
substances) and other items that require and/@ratected through continuous exposure to frozesryaygenic temperatures.

During our early years, our limited revenue waswégr from the sale of our reusable product liner @urrent busine:
plan focuses on per-use leasing of the shippingaguer and added-value services that will be usedsbto provide an end-tenc
and costptimized shipping solution to life science compsnimoving pharmaceutical and biological samplegliirical trials ani
pharmaceutical distribution.




Table of Contents

The Company entered into its first strategic relaghip with a global courier on January 13, 201@nvit signed a
agreement with Federal Express Corporation (“Fejiufsuant to which the Company leases to FedEx sustber of its cryogen
shippers that FedEx, from time to time, ordersFedExs customers. Under this agreement, FedEx hasdheto and shall, on
non-exclusive basis, promote market and sell trartapion of the Company’s shippers and its relat@deadded goods and servic
such as its data logger, web portal and plannedfst Expres® Smart Pak System. On January 24, 2011 we annouhatBedE
had launched its deep frozen shipping solution gusior CryoPort Expres8 Dry Shipper. On September 2, 2010, the Com
entered into an agreement with DHL Express (USAE. I("DHL") that gives DHL life science customers direct acamesshe
Company’s web-based order entry and tracking pootairder the CryoPort Expre@sShipper and receive preferred DHL shipy
rates. The agreement covers DHL shipping discothas may be used to support the Compamstistomers using the CryoF
Express® shipping solution. In connection with the agreeméhné Company has integrated its proprietary wetiapdgo DHL’s
tracking and billing systems. DHL life science aumers now have a seamless way of shipping theicalribiological materiz
worldwide. The IT integration with DHL was compldtduring the Company’s fourth quarter of fiscalry2@l11.

We are a Nevada corporation originally incorporatedler the name G.T.5-Limited (“GT59n May 25, 1990. |
connection with a Share Exchange Agreement, on Mas¢c 2005 we changed our name to CryoPort, Ind.aguired all of tr
issued and outstanding shares of common stockyafRert Systems, Inc., a California corporationexchange for 2,410,811 she
of our common stock (which represented approxinge8@Po of the total issued and outstanding sharesofmon stock followin
the close of the transaction). CryoPort Systems, lwhich was originally formed in 1999 as a Catiiia limited liability company
and subsequently reorganized into a California @@ton on December 11, 2000, remains the operaiimgpany under CryoPc
Inc. Our principal executive offices are locate®@882 Barents Sea Circle, Lake Forest, Califo#@&30. The telephone numbe
our principal executive offices is (949) 42300, and our main corporate website is www.crybpom. The information on, or tt
can be accessed through, our website is not péanioAnnual Report.

Our Products and Pipeline

Our product offering and service offering consiteur CryoPort Expres® Shippers, reusable dry vapor shippers, the
portal allowing ease of entry and our Smart Pala dagger, a temperature monitoring system (whiogether with our CryoPc
Express® Shippers, comprise our new business model reféored the CryoPort Expre8sSystem) and a containment bag whic
used in connection with the shipment of infectiouslangerous goods using the CryoPort ExpgfeSisipper.

The CryoPort Expres® Shippers

Our CryoPort Expres8 Shippers are cryogenic dry vapor shippers capdhigaintaining cryogenic temperatures of mi
150° Celsius or below for a period of 10 or morgsda dry cryogenic shipper is a device that uspsd nitrogen contained inside
vacuum insulated bottle which serves as a refrigeta provide storage temperatures below minus XG8Sius. Our CryoPc
Express® shipper is designed to ensure that there is nospresbuild up as the liquid nitrogen evaporatespillage of liquic
nitrogen. We have developed a proprietary foamntite system to ensure that liquid nitrogen staysde the vacuum contain
which allows the shipper to be designated as ssHigper meeting International Air Transport Asstoia (“IATA”) requirement:
Biological or pharmaceutical specimens are storedaispecimen chamber, referred to as a “weliside the container a
refrigeration is provided by cold nitrogen gas ey from the liquid nitrogen entrapped within tfi@am retention systel
Specimens that may be transported using our cryogdipper include live cell pharmaceutical produstich as cancer vaccir
diagnostic materials, semen and embryos, infectmusstances and other items that require contingspesure to frozen
cryogenic temperatures (e.g., temperatures below$150° Celsius).

The technology underlying the CryoPort Expr@sShipper was developed by modifying and advancief@rtelogy fron
our first generation of reusable cryogenic dry phiis. While our CryoPort Expre8sShippers share many of the characteristics
basic design details of our earlier shippers, veeraanufacturing our CryoPort ExpreégShippers from alternative, lower cost .
lower weight materials, which will reduce overafievating costs. We maintain ongoing developmemreffrelated to our shippt
which are principally focused on material propestiparticularly those properties related to the tewperature requirement,
vacuum retention characteristics, such as the paitity of the materials, and lower cost and lowagight materials in an effort
meet the market needs for achieving a lower castefi and cryogenic shipping solution. Other advanadditional to th
development work on the cryogenic container inclbdth an improved liquid nitrogen retention systend a secondary protecti
spill proof packaging system. This secondary systarter packaging has a low cost that lends itsedfisposability, and it is made
recyclable materials. Further, it adds an additidig@id nitrogen retention capability to furthessure compliance with IATA a
ICAO regulations that prohibit egress of liquidragen from the shipping package. IACO stands ferlifiernational Civil Aviatio
Organization, which is a United Nations organizatibat develops regulations for the safe transpiodangerous goods by air.

Our CryoPort Expres8 Shippers are lightweight, low-cost, usable dry vapor liquid nitrogen storage contairteas we
believe combine the best features of packagingygayics and high vacuum technology. A CryoPort Egg? Shipper is compos:
of an aluminum metallic dewar flask, with a well foolding the biological material in the inner cHzan The dewar flask,
“thermos bottle,'is an example of a practical device in which theduetion, convection and radiation of heat are ceduas much
possible. The inner chamber of the shipper is smgted by a high surface, loskensity open cell plastic foam material which net
the liquid nitrogen irsitu by absorption, adsorption and surface tensiasorption is defined as the taking up of mattebulk by
other matter, as in the dissolving of a gas byqaidi, whereas adsorption is the surface retentfasolid, liquid or gas molecule
atoms or ions by a solid or liquid. This materillsarbs liquid nitrogen several times faster thamenily used materials, wh



providing the shipper with a hold time and capatityransport biological materials safely and canently. The annul:
space between the inner and outer dewar chambexsaéiated to a very high vacuum (10-6 Torr). Tpecsnenholding chambe
has a primary cap to enclose the specimens, aathavable and replaceable secondary cap to furtidose the specimemelding
container and to contain the liquid nitrogen. Tintire dewar vessel is then wrapped in a pluralityngulating and cushionit
materials and placed in a disposable outer paclagade of recyclable material.
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We believe the CryoPort solution is the best andtmmost effective solution available in the martkett satisfies custom
needs and regulatory requirements relating to thensent of temperatureritical, frozen and refrigerated transport of biital
materials, such as the pharmaceutical clinicalstrigene biotechnology, infectious materials harglliand animal and hum
reproduction markets. Due to our proprietary tedbgy and innovative design, our shippers are lessgto losing functional hol
time when not kept in an upright position than toenpeting products because such proprietary teoggadnd innovative desic
prevent the spilling or leakage of the liquid ngem when the container is tipped or on its sidectwvhivould adversely affect tt
functional hold time of the container.

An important feature of the CryoPort Expré&sShippers is their compliance with the stringentiaaing requirements «
IATA Packing Instructions 602 and 650, respectivelhese instructions include the internal press{imgdraulic) and dro
performance requirements.

The CryoPort Expres® System

The CryoPort ExpresiSystem comprises theryoPort Expres® Shipper, theCryoPort Expres® Smart Paldata logger
CryoPort Express® Portal, which programmatically manages order entry andaapects of shipping operations, a@dyoPort
Express® Analytics,which monitors shipment performance metrics anduestes temperatuneonitoring data collected by the d;
logger during shipment. The CryoPort Expr@system is focused on improving the reliability aiZen shipping while reducing tl
customers’ overall operating costs. This is accishpt by providing a complete endénd solution for the transport and monitor
of frozen or cryogenically preserved biologicalptrarmaceutical materials shipped though overnigippéng companies. Certain
the intellectual property underlying the CryoPoxipEess® System, (other than that related to the CryoPopré&ss® Shipper) ha
been, and continues to be, developed under a comiith an outside software development companth thie underlying technolocg
licensed to us for exclusive use in our field of.us

CryoPort Express® Portal

The CryoPort Expres8 Portal is used by CryoPort, our customers and asiness partners to automate the entr
orders, prepare customs documentation and totgeilstatus and location monitoring of shipped deéhile in transit. It is used
CryoPort to manage shipping operations and to ed@utministrative costs typically provisioned thrbuganual labor relating 1
order-entry, order processing, preparation of shigpplocuments and baakfice accounting. It is also used to support tighHevel
of customer service expected by the industry. @Geftatures of the CryoPort Expre8$ortal reduce operating costs and facili
the scaling of CryoPoid’ business, but more importantly they offer sigiifit value to the customer in terms of cost avaidaanc
risk mitigation. Examples of these features incladéomation of order entry; development of Key Berfance Indicators (“KPI"o
support our efforts for continuous process improgets in our business, and programmatic exceptionitoring to detect an
sometimes anticipate delays in the shipping proaa$sn before the customer or the shipping comgatomes aware of them.
the future we will add rate and mode optimizatiom an-transit monitoring of temperature, location andestaf health (discusse
below), via wireless communications.

The CryoPort Expres®Portal also serves as the communications nerverctmtthe management, collection and anal
of Smart Pak data harvested from Smart Pak datgetsgn the field. Data is converted into plesigned reports containing valua
and often actionable information that becomes thality control standard or “pedigre@f the shipment. This information can
utilized by CryoPort to provide valuable feedbaahite customer relating to cryogenic shipping.

The CryoPort Express® Smart Pak

Temperature monitoring is a high value feature fiaum customersperspective as it is an effective and reliable metto
determine that the shipment materials were not dachar degraded during shipment due to temperéitwriations. Phase 1l of o
Smart Pak System which is a setfrtained automated data logger capable of reapriia internal and external temperature:
samples shipped in our CryoPort Expr@&hipper was launched in fiscal year 2010.

Phase Il of our Smart Pak System is anticipatelduach in fiscal year 2012, and consists of ad@irggnart chip to eac
shipper with wireless connectivity to enable oustomers to monitor a shipperlocation, specimen temperature and overall st
health via our web portal. A key feature of the $hall product is automatic downloading of data ethrequires no custom
intervention.

CryoPort Express® Analytics

Our continued development of the CryoPort Expréd2ortal is a strategic element of our business egyatand th
CryoPort Expres® Portal system has been designed to support plaunee features with this thought in mind. Analgtis a tern
used by IT professionals to refer to performancechmarks or Key Performance Indicators (Kpithat management utilizes
measure performance against desired standards.fieeimclude time-based metrics for order processine and ortime deliveries
by our shipping partners, as well as profiling gimg lanes to determine average transit times amrdiging an exception if
shipment is taking longer than it should based wtohical metrics. The analytical results will bélimed by CryoPort to rende
consultative customer services.

Biological Material Holders



We have also developed a patented containment Wachvis used in connection with the shipment okedatious o
dangerous goods using the CryoPort ExpfeShipper. Up to five vials, watertight primary retages are placed onto alumin
holders and up to fifteen holders (75 vials) aacptl into an absorbent pouch which is designetidorh the entire contents of all
vials in the event of leakage. This pouch contgniip to 75 vials is then placed in a watertightoselary packaging Tyvek b
capable of withstanding cryogenic temperatures,thed sealed. This bag is then placed into the efdélie cryogenic shipper.
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Other Product Candidates and Development Activities

We are continuing our research and developmenttsfiehich are expected to lead to the introductbmdditional dr
vapor shippers, including larger and smaller sigiéssuconstructed of lower cost materials and utitizhigh volume manufacturil
methods. We are also exploring the use of alteregthase change materials in place of liquid néroim order to seek entry into
ambient temperature and chilled (2° to 8° Celsdlpping markets.

Government Regulation

The shipping of diagnostic specimens, infectiousstances and dangerous goods, whether via aioandr falls under tf
jurisdiction of many states, federal and internadioagencies. The quality of the containers, paickpmaterials and insulation tl
protect a specimen determine whether or not it arilive in a usable condition. Many of the regulas for transporting danger
goods in the United States are determined by iatemmal rules formulated under the auspices ofthited Nations. For example,
ICAOQ is the United Nations organization that depsloegulations (Technical Instructions) for theesaéinsport of dangerous go
by air. If shipment is by air, compliance with thdes established by IATA is required. IATA is ade association made ug
airlines and air cargo couriers that publishes aheditions of the IATA Dangerous Goods Regulatiofisese regulations interp
and add to the ICAO Technical Instructions to refiadustry practices. Additionally, the CDC hagufations (published in the Cc
of Federal Regulations) for interstate shippingpécimens, and OSHA also addresses the safe hguodi@lass 6.2 Substances. !
CryoPort Expres® Shipper meets Packing Instructions 602 and 650isadrtified for the shipment of Class 6.2 Dangsr@ood
per the requirements of the ICAO Technical Instart for the Safe Transport of Dangerous Goods iyaAd IATA. Our presel
and planned future versions of the CryoPort Smaktdata logger will likely be subject to regulatiop FAA, FCC, FDA, IATA ani
possibly other agencies which may be difficult &aedmine on a global basis.

We are also subject to numerous other federak statl local laws relating to such matters as safieking conditions
manufacturing practices, environmental protectfoe, hazard control, and disposal of hazardousobentially hazardous substanc
We may incur significant costs to comply with suaWws and regulations now or in the future.

Manufacturing and Raw Materials

Manufacturing.The component parts for our products are primaripnufactured at third party manufacturing faci
We also have a warehouse at our corporate offiteake Forest, California, where we are capablmafufacturing certain parts ¢
fully assemble our products. Most of the compon#éms we use in the manufacture of our productsagaéiable from more than o
qualified supplier. For some components, howeusgre are relatively few alternate sources of sumplg the establishment
additional or replacement suppliers may not be mqdished immediately, however, we have identifitdraate qualified supplie
which we believe could replace existing suppli&isould this occur, we believe that with our curdentl of dewars and producti
rate we have enough to cover a four to six weekigapaximum disruption of production. There arespecific agreements with a
manufacturer nor are there any long term commitsyemainy manufacturer. We believe that most ontl@ufactures currently us
by us could be replaced within a short period witias none have a proprietary component or a suladteapital investment speci
to our products.

Our production and manufacturing process incorggrahnovative technologies developed for aerospaud othe
industries which are cost effective, easier to arsg more functional than the traditional dry iceides and other methods curre!
used for the shipment of temperature-sensitive niadge Our manufacturing process uses hamardous cleaning solutions which
provided and disposed of by a supplier approvethbyEnvironmental Protection Agency (the “EPAERA compliance costs for
are therefore negligible.

Raw MaterialsVarious common raw materials are used in the matwfa of our products and in the development o
technologies. These raw materials are generallyiladka from several alternate distributors and niacres. We have r
experienced any significant difficulty in obtaininbese raw materials and we do not consider ravwemahtavailability to be
significant factor in our business.

Patents and Proprietary Rights

In order to remain competitive, we must develop araintain protection on the proprietary aspectsusftechnologies. W
rely on a combination of patents, copyrights, tradeks, trade secret laws and confidentiality agesgmto protect our intellectt
property rights. We currently own four registereditdd States trademarks and three issued UnitedsSpatents primarily coveri
various aspects of our products. In addition, weehfiled a patent application for various aspedt®ur shipper and wepertal
which includes, in part, various aspects of ouriress model referred to as the CryoPort ExpfeSystem, and we intend to 1
additional patent applications to strengthen oteliectual property rights. The technology covebsdthe above indicated isst
patents relates to matters specific to the uségafd nitrogen dewars in connection with the shipinef biological materials. Tl
concepts include those of disposability, packag#igoration details, liquid nitrogen retention sisis, systems related to ther
performance, systems related to packaging integaitg matters generally relevant to the containmoétijuid nitrogen. Similarly
the trademarks mentioned relate to the cryogeminpégature shipping activity. Issued patents andetrearks currently owned by
include:

Type: No. Issuec Expiration




Patent
Patent
Patent
Trademark
Trademark
Trademark
Trademark

6,467,64.
6,119,46!
6,539,72
7,583,478,
7,586,797,
7,748,667,
7,737,451,

Oct. 22, 200:
Sep. 19, 200
Apr. 1, 2003
Oct. 9, 200z
Apr. 16, 200z
Feb. 3, 200!
Mar. 17, 200¢

Oct. 21, 202:
Sep. 18, 202
Mar 31, 2023

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A
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Our success depends to a significant degree upoability to develop proprietary products and tedlogies and to obta
patent coverage for these products and technoloffies intend to file trademark and patent applic&iacovering any new
developed products, methods and technologies. Henvehere can be no guarantee that any of our pgndi future files
applications will be issued as patents. There @andguarantee that the U.S. Patent and Tradenféide @r some third party wi
not initiate an interference proceeding involvimy &f our pending applications or issued patentsalfy, there can be no guarar
that our issued patents or future issued patdrdagyi will provide adequate protection from conitpe.

Patents provide some degree of protection for @aprnetary technology. However, the pursuit andee8sn of pater
rights involve complex legal and factual determimas and, therefore, are characterized by sigmificencertainty. In addition, tl
laws governing patent issuance and the scope ehpabverage continue to evolve. Moreover, therntaights we possess or
pursuing generally cover our technologies to vagyidegrees. As a result, we cannot ensure that tsateéth issue from any of o
patent applications, or that any of its issued mtatewill offer meaningful protection. In additiomur issued patents may
successfully challenged, invalidated, circumventedendered unenforceable so that our patent rigtatg not create an effect
barrier to competition. Moreover, the laws of soimeign countries may not protect our proprietaghts to the same extent, as
the laws of the United States. There can be noraisse that any patents issued to us will providegal basis for establishing
exclusive market for our products or provide ushwahy competitive advantages, or that patents leéretwill not have an advel
effect on our ability to do business or to contitmi@se our technologies freely.

We may be subject to third parties filing claimattbur technologies or products infringe on thefellectual property. W\
cannot predict whether third parties will assedhsalaims against us or whether those claims witt bur business. If we are forc
to defend against such claims, regardless of thernit, we may face costly litigation and diversiohmanagemens’ attention ar
resources. As a result of any such disputes, we Imag to develop, at a substantial cost, mrrging technology or enter in
licensing agreements. These agreements may be ilaldezon terms acceptable to it, or at all, whimbuld seriously harm o
business or financial condition.

We also rely on trade secret protection of ourllettual property. We attempt to protect trade etcby entering in
confidentiality agreements with third parties, eaygles and consultants, although, in the past, we hat always obtained st
agreements. It is possible that these agreementsmareached, invalidated or rendered unenforeealnd if so, our trade seci
could be disclosed to our competitors. Despite tfeasures we have taken to protect our intellegbuaperty, parties to su
agreements may breach confidentiality provisionsun contracts or infringe or misappropriate outepés, copyrights, trademar
trade secrets and other proprietary rights. Intamdithird parties may independently discoverrareint competitive technologies,
reverse engineer our trade secrets or other teopyol herefore, the measures we are taking to giroter proprietary technolo
may not be adequate.

Customers and Distribution

As a result of growing globalization, including tvitespect to such areas as life science clini@bstand distribution «
pharmaceutical products, the requirement for effectolutions for keeping certain clinical sampéesl pharmaceutical products
frozen temperatures takes on added significanceaalagtended shipping times, custom delays andtiogi challenges. Today, st
goods are traditionally shipped in styrofoam caatbansulated containers packed with dry ice, geier packs or a combinat
thereof. The current dry ice solutions have liniitas that severely limit their effective and eféint use for both short and long-
distances (e.g., international). Conventional @& shipments often require labor intensive “regtioperations resulting in higr
labor and shipping costs.

We believe our patented cryogenic shippers makealispositioned to take advantage of the growingded for effectiv
and efficient international transport of temperatwsensitive materials resulting from continued gl@ation. Of particule
significance is the trend within the pharmaceutarad biotechnology industries toward globalizatidre believe this presents a r
and unique opportunity for pharmaceutical comparpesticularly early or developmental stage comgsnio conduct some of th
clinical trials in foreign countries where the costy be cheaper and/or because the foreign cosisigaificantly larger populatic
provides a larger pool of potential patients surffigrfrom the indication that the drug candidatdésng designed to treat. We ¢
plan to provide domestic shipping solutions in afitons and regions where there is a high priofiaggd on maintaining the integr
of materials shipped at cryogenic temperaturesnarete we can be cost effective.

To date, most of our customers have been in then@eutical or medical industries. As we initidlbcus our efforts t
increase revenues, we believe that the primaretangstomers for our CryoPort ExprésSystem are concentrated in the follow
markets, for the following reasons:

. Pharmaceutical clinical trials / contract reseanganizations
. Gene biotechnology

e Transport of infectious materials and dangerousigr

. Pharmaceutical distribution; al

. Fertility clinics/artificial insemination



Pharmaceutical Clinical TrialsEvery pharmaceutical company developing a new drugt be approved by the FDA w
conducts clinical trials to, among other thingst the safety and efficacy of the potential newgdRresently, a significant amoun
clinical trial activity is managed by a number afde Clinical Research Organizations (“CRO®ye to the growing downsizil
trend in the pharmaceutical industry, CROs aregytdnobtain an increasing share of the clinicall tmarket.
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In connection with the clinical trials, due to gédlzation the companies may enroll patients frohoaér the world wh
regularly submit a blood or other specimen at tloall hospital, doctos' office or laboratory. These samples are thentsespecifie
testing laboratories, which may be local or in &eotcountry. The testing laboratories will typigafiet the requirements for !
storage and shipment of blood specimens. In additieveral of the drugs used by the patients redtozen shipping to the sites
the clinical trials. While both domestic and intational shipping of these specimens is accomplishgidg dry ice toda
international shipments especially present sey@alems, as dry ice, under the best of circum&sncan only provide freezing
one to two days, in the absence ofdieg (which is quite costly). Because shipmentpatkages internationally can take longer
one to two days or be delayed due to flight caatielts, incorrect destinations, labor problemsugublogistics, customs delays
safety reasons, dry ice is not always a reliabté st effective option. Clinical trial specimens aften irreplaceable because ¢
one represents clinical data at a prescribed poititne, in a series of specimens on a given pgtigho may be participating in a tr
for years. Sample integrity during the shippinggesss is vital to retaining the maximum number dfgpds in each trial. Our shippi
are ideally suited for this market, as our longaldhime ensures that specimens can be sent ovgrdistances with minimal conct
that they will arrive in a condition that will caeisheir exclusion from the trial. There are alsmynastances in domestic shipme
where the CryoPort Expre8sShipper will provide higher reliability and be cesfective.

Furthermore, the IATA requires that all airborndpsients of laboratory specimens be transmitted ithee IATA
Instruction 650 or 602 certified packaging. We hdeseloped and obtained IATA certification of they@Port Expres® System
which is ideally suited for this market, in partimudue to the elimination of the cost to retura teusable shipper.

Gene Biotechnologythe gene biotechnology market includes basic aptiexpresearch and development in diverse i
such as stem cells, cloning, gene therapy, DNA tumazcines, tissue engineering, genomics, and bjmoducts. Compani
participating in the foregoing fields rely on theZen transport of specimens in connection withrthesearch and developm
efforts, for which our CryoPort Expre8sShippers are ideally suited.

Transport of Infectious Materials and Dangerous @®d he transport of infectious materials must be diessas suc
and must maintain strict adherence to regulatitva$ protect public safety while maintaining thebiiidy of the material bein
shipped. Some blood products are considered infe@nd must be treated as such. Pharmaceutical acoesp private reseat
laboratories and hospitals ship tissue culturesmaicgdobiology specimens, which are also potentiaifgctious materials, betwee|
variety of entities, including private and publiedith reference laboratories. Almost all specimi&nshis infectious materia
category require either a refrigerated or a frozevironment. We believe our CryoPort Expré@shipper is ideally suited to meet
shipping requirements of this market.

Partly in response to the attack on the World Tr@dater and the anthrax scare, government officats health ca
professionals are focusing renewed attention orptissibility of attacks involving biological andahical weapons such as anth
smallpox and sarin gas. Efforts expended on releard development to counteract biowarfare agewqjsires the frozen transport
these agents to and from facilities conductingrésearch and development. Vaccine research, imgudethods of vaccine delive
also requires frozen transport. We believe our €oyoExpres® Shipper is ideally suited to this type of reseaant development.

Pharmaceutical DistributionThe current focus for the CryoPort ExprésSystem also includes the area of pharmace
distribution. There are a significant number ofréipeeutic drugs and vaccines currently or soon taibdergoing clinical trials. Afti
the FDA approves them for commercial marketingwiit be necessary for the manufacturers to haveliable and economic
method of distribution to the physician who willraghister the product to the patient. Although thare not now a large numbel
drugs requiring cryogenic transport, there are mber in the development pipeline. It is likely thae most efficient and reliat
method of distribution will be to ship a single dgs to the administering physician. These drugsyaieally identified to individue
patients and therefore will require a completekirag history from the manufacturer to the patidiiie most reliable method of dol
this is to ship a unit dosage specifically for epelient. Because the drugs require maintenanfrezen or cryogenic temperatur
each such shipment will require a frozen or cryagshipping package. CryoPort anticipates being position to service that need.

Fertility Clinics. We estimate that artificial insemination procedurethe United States account for at least 50,06%k!
of semen annually. Since relatively few sperm bgmkside donor semen, frozen shipping is almosaginvolved. As with anim
semen, human semen must be stored and shipped/agenic temperatures to retain viability, stabilitee cells, and enst
reproducible results. This can only be accomplishét the use of liquid nitrogen or LN2 dry vapdrigpers. CryoPort anticipal
that this market will continue to increase as prictice gains acceptance in new areas of the world

In addition to the above markets, our longgmm plans include expanding into new markets iiclg, the diagnostic
food, environmental, semiconductor and petroleutustries.

Sales and Marketing

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, anmealrevenues from three customerd) Biosciences, CDx Holdin
and Life Technologies accounted for 19%, 38% arfb bf our total revenues, respectively. During tisedl year ended March :
2010, annual net revenue from two customerB), Biosciences and CDx Holdings accounted for 32% EP6 of our total revenue
respectively.
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Our geographical sales for the year ended Marc2@1] were as follows:

USA and Canad 50%
Europe 20%
Asia and Rest of Worl 30%

We recently entered into agreements with FedExCat and we plan to further expand our sales ancketarg efforts throug
the establishment of additional strategic relatims with global couriers and, subject to availdf@ncial resources, the hiring
additional sales and marketing personnel.

During the year ended March 31, 2011, we had oterrial sales person who manages our direct sale8ptil 2011 th
Company hired a Chief Commercial Officer and adttede members to the direct sales force, of whowe limckgrounds in tl
cold-chain shipping industry.

Industry and Competition

Our products and services are sold into a rapidbwing niche of the packaging industry focused ba temperatu
sensitive packaging and shipping of biological mats. Expenditures for “value addegackaging for frozen transport have t
increasing for the past several years and, duaiintp continued globalization, are expected tdticoe to increase even more in
future as more domestic and international bioteldgyofirms introduce pharmaceutical products tleafuire continuous refrigerati
at cryogenic temperatures. We believe this willuiegya greater dependence on passively controfiegpérature transport syste
(i.e., systems having no external power source).

We believe that growth in the following markets hasulted in the need for increased efficiencieb gneater flexibility ir
the temperature sensitive packaging market:

. Pharmaceutical clinical trials, including transpairtissue culture sample
. Pharmaceutical commercial product distributi

»  Transportation of diagnostic specime

e Transportation of infectious materia

. Intra laboratory diagnostic testin

»  Transport of temperatL-sensitive specimens by couri

e Analysis of biological sample

. Environmental sampling

. Gene and stem cell biotechnology and vaccine pitaazycand

. Food engineering

Many of the biological products in these above ratgkequire transport in a frozen state as wethaseed for shippir
containers which have the ability to maintain aéwo, cryogenic environment (e.g., minus 150° Csjsfar a period ranging fro
two to ten days (depending on the distance and mbdhipment). These products include semen, embiysue, tissue culture
cultures of viruses and bacteria, enzymes, DNA rnase vaccines and certain pharmaceutical prodlictsome instances, transg
of these products requires temperatures at, ooapping, minus 196° Celsius.

One problem faced by many companies operatingasetispecialized markets is the limited number ydgenic shippin
systems serving their needs, particularly in treaarof pharmaceutical companies conducting clirtitals. The currently adopt
protocol and the most common method for packagiogeh transport in these industries is the uselid state carbon dioxide (c
ice). Dry ice is used extensively in shipping toimein a frozen state for a period of one to foaysl Dry ice is used in the transy
of many biological products, such as pharmacewidaboratory specimens and certain infectious riadgethat do not require tr
cryogenic temperatures. The common approach t@sigghese items via ground freight is to packgheduct in a container, such
an expanded polystyrene (styrofoam) box or a molgagurethane box, with a variable quantity of dcg. The box is taped
strapped shut and shipped to its destination wlglit charges based on its initial shipping weight

With respect to shipments via specialized coumevises, there is no standardized method or dexicently in use for tt
purpose of transporting temperatwensitive frozen biological specimens. One commethod for courier transport of biologi
materials is to place frozen specimens, refrigerafgecimens, and ambient specimens into a compatdfized container, similar
size to a 55 quart Coleman or Igloo cooler. TheZez compartment in the container is loaded wigfuantity of dry ice at minus 7
Celsius, while the refrigerated compartment at 8fs0s utilizes ice substitute



Two manufacturers of the polystyrene and polyumnetheontainers frequently used in the shipping andier transport ¢
dry ice frozen specimens are Insulated Shippingt&oers, Inc. and Tegrant (formerly SCA Thermosaféhen these containers
used with dry ice, the average sublimation ratg. (¢he rate at which dry ice turns from a solicitgaseous state) in a container-
a 11/2 inch wall thickness is slightly less tharethpounds per 24 hours. Other existing refrigesgatems employ the use of
packs and ice substitutes for temperature maintenaBels and eutectic solutions (phase changingriaks) with a wide range
phasing temperatures have been developed in rgeamns to meet the needs of products with varyirggifip temperature contr
requirements.
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The use of dry ice and ice substitutes, howevegraniiess of external packaging used, are frequémigequate becat
they do not provide low enough storage temperatamnes in the case of dry ice, last for only a feaysiwithout reicing. As a resul
companies run the risk of increased costs duestssfoecimens and additional shipping charges dtheetaeed to re-ice.

Some of the other disadvantages to using dry iceHipping or transporting temperature sensitivadpcts are as follows:
»  Availability of a dry ice source

. Handling and storage of the dry it

. Cost of the dry ice

. Compliance with local, state and federal regulaimiating to the storage and use of dry

*  Weight of containers when packed with dry i

. Securing a shipping container with a high enoRglalue (which is a measure of thermal resistancdptd the dr
ice and product for the required time peri

. Securing a shipping container that meets the remeénts of IATA, the DOT, the CDC, and other reguiyg
agencies; an

»  The emission of green house gases into the envinh

Due to the limitations of dry ice, shipment of sipeens at true cryogenic temperatures can only leeraplished usin
liquid nitrogen dry vapor shippers, or by shippioger actual liquid nitrogen. While such shippersvide solutions to the isst
encountered when shipping with dry ice, they ta® experiencing some criticisms by users or potensiars. For example, the ¢
for these products typically can range from $653¢000 per unit, which can substantially limitithese for the transport of ma
common biologics, particularly with respect to shegiantities such as, is the case with direct éopthysician drug delivery. Becal
of the initial cost and limited production of thesentainers, they are designed to be reusable. tAmwehe cost of returning the
heavy containers can be significant, particulanlynternational markets, because most applicatieqaire only onewvay shippinc
We expect to provide a cost effective solution cared to dry ice. We believe we will provide an @atkcost savings of 10% to 2(
for international and specialty shipments compadoedry ice, while at the same time providing a leiglevel of support and relal
services.

Another problem with these existing systems reléethe hold time of the unit in a normal, uprigitsition versus tt
hold time when the unit is placed on its side ented. If a container is laying on its side omigerted the liquid nitrogen is prone
leaking out of the container due to a combinatibfiaotors, including a shift in the equilibrium lyét of the liquid nitrogen in tf
absorbent material and the relocation of the paiigravity, which affects the hold time and compisas the dependability of the «
shipper, particularly when used in circumstancegiireng lengthy shipping times. Due to the use of proprietary technology, @
CryoPort Expres® Shippers are not prone to leakage when on thesr gidnverted, thereby protecting the integrityoaf shippers
hold time.

Within our intended markets for our CryoPort Exgr@sShippers, there is limited known competition. Weeird tc
become competitive by reason of our improved teldgyoin our products and through the use of ouviserenabled business mot
The CryoPort Expres8 System provides a simple and cost effective salutaw the frozen or cryogenic transport of bioladior
pharmaceutical materials. This solution uses omovative dewar and is supported by the CryoPortr&sg® Portal, our welbase:
order-entry system, which manages the schedulidgshipping of the CryoPort Expre8Shippers. In addition, the traditional dry
shippers and suppliers, such as MVE/Chart Industii@ylor Wharton and Air Liquide, offer various deds of dry vapor liqui
nitrogen shippers that are not cost efficient fadtiruse and multshipment purposes due to their significantly greatgt costs an
unit weight (which may substantially increase tinpging cost). On the other hand, they are morabéished and have lar¢
organizations and have greater financial, operatji@ales and marketing resources and experienesé@arch and development t
we do. Factors that we believe give us a competdidvantage are attributable to our shipping coataivhich allows our shipper
retain liquid nitrogen when placed in non-uprighdsjiions, the overall “leak-proofnes®f the our package which determi
compliance with shipping regulations and the ovesalight and volume of the package which determist@pping costs, and ¢
business model represented by the merged integratiour shipper with CryoPort Expre8®ortal and Smart Pak data logger in
seamless shipping, tracking and monitoring solut@ther companies that offer potentially compegitiproducts include Industr
Insulation Systems, which offers cryogenic transpoits and has partnered with Marathon Produats lnmanufacturer and glo
supplier of wireless temperature data collectingicts used for documenting environmentally sensifivoducts through the c«
chain and Kodiak Thermal Technologies, Inc. whiffers, among other containers, a repeat use actieécontainer that uses fi
piston stirling cycle technology. While not havittgeir own shipping devices, BioStorage Technologgesotentially a competitiy
company through their management services offeseatdld-chain logistics and long term biomaterial stora@eyogena offers
single use disposable LN2 shipper with better parémce than dry-ice, but it does not perform ad amd is not as cogffective a
the CryoPort solution when all costs are considdredddition, BioMatrica, Inc. is developing aniflesing technology that stabiliz
biological samples and research materials at roemmpérature. They presently offer these technologigsarily to research a
academic institutions; however, their technologyreeentually enter the broader c-chain market
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Research and Development

Our research and development efforts are focusezbotinually improving the features of the CryoPBrpress® Systen
including the web based customer service portaltaadCryoPort Expres3Shippers. Further these efforts are expected thtteéhe
introduction of shippers of varying sizes basedarket requirements, constructed of lower cost re$eand utilizing high volun
manufacturing methods that will make it practi@aptovide the cryogenic packages offered by theoBoyt Expres® System. Othe
research and development effort has been directedrtl improvements to the liquid nitrogen retentgystem to render it mc
reliable in the general shipping environment anth®design of the outer packaging. Alternativesghehange materials in place
liquid nitrogen may be used to increase the patemiarkets these shippers can serve such as an#idn28°C markets. Ot
research and development expenditures during foffiital years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 wé48,$29 and $284,8¢
respectively.

Corporate Governance

Our Board is committed to legal and ethical condudulfilling its responsibilities. The Board exgis all directors, as wi
as officers and employees, to act ethically atiales and to adhere to the policies comprising@oepanys Code of Busine
Conduct and Ethics. The Board of Directors (the &Rtj) of the Company adopted the corporate governandeigmland charter
Copies of the following corporate governance doaueare posted on our website, and are availatde of charge,
www.cryoport.com: (1) Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (2) @naof the Nominating and Governance Committee @
Board of Directors, (3) Charter of the Audit Comteit of the Board of Directors, and (4) Charterhaf Compensation Committee
the Board of Directors. If you would like a printedpy of any of these corporate governance docwsnplgase send your reques
CryoPort, Inc., Attention: Corporate Secretary, @0Barents Sea Circle, Lake Forest CA 92630.

Human Resources

As of March 31, 2011, we had 13 full-time employeesl 9 consultants; 3 of the consultants work foon a fulltime
basis. Each of our employees has signed a coniddignagreement and none are covered by a collediargaining agreement.
have never experienced employment-related workpsiggs and consider our employee relations to bd.goo
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwémdking information based on our current expectasioBecause ot
actual results may differ materially from any fomgdooking statements made by or on behalf of CrygRbis section includes
discussion of important factors that could affeat actual future results, including, but not lindtéo, our potential product ar
service revenues, acceptance of our products amvitss, expenses, net income(loss) and earnings(f@s common share.

Risks Related to Our Business
We have incurred significant losses to date and neaytinue to incur losses.

We have incurred net losses in each fiscal yeaesive commenced operations. The following tableasgnts net loss
incurred for the years ended March 31, 2011 an®201

Net Loss
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 20 $ 6,152,27:
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 20 $ 5,651,56.

As of March 31, 2011, we had an accumulated defic#t52,096,087. While we expect to continue tawderevenues fror
our current products and services, in order toeaghiand sustain profitable operations, we mustessfolly commercialize ar
launch our CryoPort Expre$sSystem, significantly expand our market presenakinorease revenues. We may continue to i
losses in the future and may never generate regesuféicient to become profitable or to sustainfipability. Continuing losses me
impair our ability to raise the additional capitaiuired to continue and expand our operations.

If we are unable to obtain additional funding, weay have to reduce or discontinue our business opierss.

As of March 31, 2011, we had cash and cash equitmlef $9,278,443. We have expended substantiasfuom the
research and development of our products and ITesys As a result, we have historically experiencedative cash flows froi
operations and we expect to continue to experieregative cash flows from operations in the futdrkerefore, our ability t
continue and expand our operations is highly dependn the amount of cash and cash equivalentsand hombined with ot
ability to raise additional capital to fund ourde operations.

We anticipate, based on currently proposed pladsa@sumptions relating to our ability to market aetl our product
(but not including any additional strategic relasbips with global couriers), that our cash on haondether with projected ca
flows, will satisfy our operational and capital vdggments at least through the fourth quarter of fmcal year 2012. There are
number of uncertainties associated with our finalngrojections that could reduce or delay our faitprojected revenues and cash-
inflows, including, but not limited to, our abilitto complete the commercialization and launch af @yoPort Expres® System
launch our relationship with FedEx, increase owtamer base and revenues and enter into stratelgitonships with addition:
global couriers. If our projected revenues and dafilbws are reduced or delayed, we may not havéicgrfit capital to operat
through the fourth quarter of our fiscal year 2Qi®2ess we raise more capital. Additionally, if we anable to realize satisfactc
revenue in the near future, we will be requireddek additional financing to continue our operatibayond that period. We will al:
require additional financing to expand into othearkets and further develop and market our produdts. have no currel
arrangements with respect to any additional finagciConsequently, there can be no assurance tlgaadditional financing o
commercially reasonable terms, or at all, will baible when needed. The inability to obtain aidd&l capital may reduce o
ability to continue to conduct business operatiohsy additional equity financing may involve subsial dilution to our thel
existing stockholders. In addition, raising addiib funding may be complicated by certain provision the securities purcha
agreements and related transaction documents, exsdeah, entered into in connection with our priamagtible debenture financings.

If we are not successful in establishing strategielationships with global couriers, we may not béle to successfully increas
revenues and cash flow which could adversely affeat operations.

We believe that our near term success is best\ahiey establishing strategic relationships withbgll couriers, such :
our recent agreements with FedEx and DHL. Suchioelkships will enable us to provide a seamless;terehd shipping solution 1
customers and allow us to leverage the couriestablished express, ground and freight infragirestand penetrate new mark
with minimal investment. Further, we expect that tilobal couriers will utilize their sales forcas gromote and sell our froz
shipping services. If we are not successful in ¢aimg our relationship with FedEx or DHL or estahlhg additional relationshiy
with global couriers, our sales and marketing e$fowill be significantly impacted and anticipateévenue growth will b
substantially delayed which could have an adveffeetzon our operations.

Our agreements with FedEx and DHL may not result@nsignificant increase in our revenues or cashilo
On January 13, 2010, we entered into an agreemiéimtB@dEX pursuant to which we lease to FedEx suchber of ou

cryogenic shippers that FedEx, from time to tinteleos for its customers. FedEx has the right tosiradl, on a norexclusive basis
promote, market and sell transportation of our jgbip and our related va-added goods and services, such as our data loggk



portal and planned CryoPort Expreé®sSmart Pak System. Because our agreement with FedEg not contain a
requirement that FedEx lease a minimum number ipshs from us during the term of the agreement,nvag not experience
significant increase in our revenues or cash flaws result of this agreement. On September 2,, 204 @ntered into an agreen
with DHL that gives DHL life sciences customersediraccess to our weiased order entry and tracking portal to orderGmyoPor
Express® Shipper and preferred DHL shipping rates. Althotlghagreement provides shipping discounts thatlmeaysed to suppe
our customers using our CryoPort Expré&shipping solution, DHL will not be promoting, matkey or selling transportation of ¢
shippers or services, which may not lead to angei®e in our revenues.
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Current economic conditions and capital markets aire a period of disruption and instability which add adversely affect ou
ability to access the capital markets, and thus adbely affect our business and liquidity.

The current economic conditions and financial srisve had, and will continue to have, a negathygaict on our ability t
access the capital markets, and thus have a negatipact on our business and liquidity. The shartaf liquidity and credi
combined with substantial losses in worldwide eguiiarkets could lead to an extended worldwide oes We may fac
significant challenges if conditions in the capiadrkets do not improve and we do not achieve pesiiash flow from operation
Our ability to access the capital markets may versdy restricted at a time when we need to acsesls markets, which could haw
negative impact on our business plans, includireyadbmmercialization and launch of our CryoPort Essf System and othe
research and development activities. Even if weahfe to raise capital, it may not be at a pricemterms that are favorable to
We cannot predict the occurrence of future finadndistuptions or how long the current market coiodis may continue.

The sale of substantial shares of our common stocly depress our stock price.

As of March 31, 2011, there were 27,504,583 shaffesir common stock issued and outstanding. Sutisligrall of these
shares of common stock are eligible for tradinghie public market. The market price of our commuocls may decline if ou
stockholders sell a large number of shares of oumngon stock in the public market, or the marketemes that such sales
occur.

We could also issue up to 30,332,635 additionaleshaf our common stock including shares to beedsiypon conversic
of the outstanding balance of our convertible dales and upon the exercise of outstanding warramisoptions or reserved 1
future issuance under our stock incentive planfyrdiser described in the following table:

Number of Shares o
Common Stock
Issuable or Reserve
For Issuance

Common stock issuable upon conversion of the audstg balance of our convertible debentt 869,06!
Common stock issuable upon exercise of outstandargants 27,822,66
Common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanaltions or reserved for future incentive awardseuralir

stock incentive plan 1,640,90.
Total 30,332,63

Of the total options and warrants outstanding aMafch 31, 2011, options and warrants exercisaiief aggregate
23,849,159 shares of common stock would be coreiddilutive to the value of our stockholdensterest in CryoPort because
would receive upon exercise of such options andamés an amount per share that is less than thketnarice of our common stox
on March 31, 2011.

We will have difficulty increasing our revenues\ie experience delays, difficulties or unanticipatedsts in establishing the sale
distribution and marketing capabilities necessary successfully commercialize our products.

We are continuing to develop sales, distributiod amarketing capabilities in the Americas, Europd &sia. It will be
expensive and timeensuming for us to develop a global marketing aates network. Moreover, we may choose, or fin
necessary, to enter into additional strategic bollations to sell, market and distribute our praslug/e may not be able to provi
adequate incentive to our sales force or to estaldnd maintain favorable distribution and marlgtoollaborations with othe
companies to promote our products. In addition, #rngd party with whom we have established a mamngetand distributior
relationship may not devote sufficient time to tharketing and sales of our products thereby exgossto potential expenses
exiting such distribution agreements. We, and anguo third party collaborators, must also market products in compliance wi
federal, state, local and international laws retato the provision of incentives and inducemeviislation of these laws can result
substantial penalties. Therefore, if we are unablsuccessfully motivate and expand our marketind sales force and furth
develop our sales and marketing capabilities, ouifdistributors fail to promote our products, wil have difficulty increasing ou
revenues.

Our ability to grow and compete in our industry Wwibe hampered if we are unable to retain the contéd service of our ke
professionals or to identify, hire and retain addinal qualified professionals

A critical factor to our business is our ability édtract and retain qualified professionals inahgdkey employees ar
consultants. We are continually at risk of losimgrent professionals or being unable to hire addéi professionals as needed. If
are unable to attract new qualified employees, ahility to grow will be adversely affected. If weeaunable to retain curre
employees or strategic consultants, our finan@abdion and ability to maintain operations maydolwersely affected.
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We are dependent on new products and serviceslable of which would harm our competitive position.

Our future revenue stream depends to a large degreer ability to bring new products and servitemarket on a timel
basis. We must continue to make significant investis in research and development in order to comtin develop new produc
and services, enhance existing products and servacel achieve market acceptance of such prododtservices. We may inc
problems in the future in innovating and introdgcimew products and services. Our development staagicts and services may |
be successfully completed or, if developed, mayaabieve significant customer acceptance. If weuaable to successfully defir
develop and introduce new, competitive products seivices and enhance existing products and ssrvag future results «
operations would be adversely affected. Developraadtmanufacturing schedules for technology pradant services are diffict
to predict, and we might not achieve timely inittaistomer shipments of new products or launch ofices. The timely availabilit
of these products and services and their acceptayn@istomers are important to our future succésdelay in new or enhanct
product or service introductions could have a $igamnt impact on our results of operations.

Because of these risks, our research and develdpeffemts may not result in any commercially viatgeoducts o
services. If significant portions of these devel@pmefforts are not successfully completed, or aew or enhanced products
services are not commercially successful, our mssinfinancial condition and results of operatimay be materially harmed.

If we successfully develop products and/or servjcbat those products and/or services do not achiewel maintain marke
acceptance, our business will not be profitable.

The degree of acceptance of our CryoPort ExpPeSkipper and/or CryoPort Expre8sSystem, or any future product
services, by our current target markets, and ahgromarkets to which we attempt to sell our proglumd services, and ¢
profitability and growth will depend on a numberfattors including, among others:

. our shipper ability to perform and preserve the integrity of thaterials shippe:
. relative convenience and ease of use of our shigpafior web porta

. availability of alternative product

. pricing and cost effectiveness; &

. effectiveness of our or our collaboraf sales and marketing strate

If any products or services we may develop do chtesve market acceptance, then we may not gensuéfteient revenu:
to achieve or maintain profitability.

In addition, even if our products and services elimarket acceptance, we may not be able to nmaititat marke
acceptance over time if new products or servicesrdaroduced that are more favorably received iamproducts and services, i
more cost effective, or render our products obeolet

We are dependent on an outside party for the conéd development of our CryoPort Expre&®ortal

Our proprietary CryoPort Expre§sPortal is a software system used by our custommasbasiness partners to autorr
the entry of orders, prepare customs documentatiofacilitate status and location monitoring dppled orders while in transit. Tl
continued development of this system is contrauti¢hl an outside software development company.iff tleveloper becomes una
or unwilling to continue work on scheduled projeetsd an alternative developer cannot be securednay not be able to impleme
needed enhancements to the system. Furthermave,términate our agreement with this developeraamhot reach an agreemen
fail to fulfill an agreement for the terminationeweould lose our license to use this software uFaito proceed with enhancement:
the loss of our license for the system would addgraffect our ability to generate new business asar/e existing customel
resulting in a reduction in revenue.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to ahtpatent protection for our products and businessdel, preserve our trac
secrets, and operate without infringing the proptéey rights of others

Our policy is to seek to protect our proprietangifion by, among other methods, filing United Ssapatent applicatior
related to our technology, inventions and improvets¢hat are important to the development of owirmss. We have three isst
U.S. patents and one recently filed provisionaepa@pplication, all relating to various aspectoof products and services. C
patents or provisional patent application may ballenged, invalidated or circumvented in the futarehe rights granted may r
provide a competitive advantage. We intend to vagely protect and defend our intellectual prope@gstly and timesonsuming
litigation brought by us may be necessary to emfaar patents and to protect our trade secretkaod-how, or to determine tr
enforceability, scope and validity of the proprigtaghts of others.

We also rely upon trade secrets, technical khow-and continuing technological innovation to depeand maintain ot
competitive position. In the past our employeespsodtants, advisors and suppliers have not alwagswged confidentialit
agreements and invention assignment and work far djreements in connection with their employmeatsulting, or advisor
relationships. Consequently, we may not have adeqesnedies available to us to protect our intéligcproperty should one !



these parties attempt to use our trade secretfume to assign any rights he or she may haveyiingellectual property t
or she developed for us. Additionally, our commpetitmay independently develop substantially eqeiviaproprietary informatic
and techniques or otherwise gain access to ouriptapy technology, or we may not be able to megfuity protect our rights i
unpatented proprietary technology.
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We cannot assure you that our current and poterti@lpetitors and other third parties have not fledin the future wil
not file) patent applications for (or have not riged or in the future will not receive) patentsaitain additional proprietary righ
that will prevent, limit or interfere with our ahiif to make, use or sell our products either inlthnited States or internationally. In t
event we are required to license patents issuddrtbparties, such licenses may not be availahléd available, may not be availak
on terms acceptable to us. In addition, we cansstire you that we would be successful in any atteéenpedesign our products
processes to avoid infringement or that any sudhsign could be accomplished in a cefective manner. Accordingly, an adve
determination in a judicial or administrative predeng or failure to obtain necessary licenses cpuéent us from manufacturii
and selling our products or offering our servieelsich would harm our business.

We are not aware of any third party that is infaimggany of our patents or trademarks nor do weebkelithat we ar
infringing on the patents or trademarks of any offexson or organization.

Our products may contain errors or defects, whicbutd result in damage to our reputation, lost revess, diverted developme
resources and increased service costs and litigatio

Our products must meet stringent requirements amdmust develop our products quickly to keep padé tie rapidly
changing market. Products and services as somtisticas ours could contain undetected errors arctiefespecially when fir
introduced or when new models or versions are selkaln general, our products may not be free fegrors or defects aft
commercial shipments have begun, which could resultamage to our reputation, lost revenues, didedevelopment resourct
increased customer service and support costs,igatibn. The costs incurred in correcting any duct errors or defects may
substantial and could adversely affect our businessilts of operations and financial condition.

If we experience manufacturing delays or interruptis in production, then we may experience custord&satisfaction and ou
reputation could suffer.

If we fail to produce enough shippers at our owmuifacturing facility or at a third party manufadhg facility, or if we
fail to complete our shipper recycling processeplasned, we may be unable to deliver shippersutacastomers on a timely bas
which could lead to customer dissatisfaction andlddarm our reputation and ability to compete. Werently acquire variol
component parts for our shippers from various ietelgnt manufacturers in the United States. We wdildlely experience
significant delays or cessation in producing oupgérs if a labor strike, natural disaster or othgpply disruption were to occur
any of our main suppliers. If we are unable to preca component from one of our manufacturers, \&g be required to enter in
arrangements with one or more alternative manufecflcompanies which may cause delays in producinmgshippers. In additiol
because we depend on third party manufacturergprofit margins may be lower, which will make it neddifficult for us to achiev
profitability. To date, we have not experienced angterial delay that has adversely impacted ouradjpms. As our busine:
develops and the quantity of production increaisé®comes more likely that such problems couldeari

Because we rely on a limited number of supplierse way experience difficulty in meeting our custors’ demands for oul
products in a timely manner or within budge

We currently purchase key components of our pradfrom a variety of outside sources. Some of tlweseponents ma
only be available to us through a few sources, wvewenanagement has identified alternative mateeatl suppliers should the ne
arise. We generally do not have lotegm agreements with any of our suppliers. Congetfyyen the event that our suppliers delay
interrupt the supply of components for any reasacould potentially experience higher product €@std longer lead times in or¢
fulfillment.

Our CryoPort Express® Portal may be subject to intentional disruption thaould adversely impact our reputation and futu
revenues.

We have implemented our CryoPort Expr@$ortal which is used by our customers and busipagsers to automate t
entry of orders, prepare customs documentation faailitate status and location monitoring of shigperders while in transi
Although we believe we have sufficient controlplace to prevent intentional disruptions, we cdatda target of attacks specifica
designed to impede the performance of the CryoPxptess® Portal. Similarly, experienced computer programnmeay attempt t
penetrate our CryoPort Expreég®ortal in an effort to search for and misappropriatoprietary or confidential information or cai
interruptions of our services. Because the teclesiqused by such computer programmers to accessbotage networks chan
frequently and may not be recognized until launchgainst a target, we may be unable to anticigegset techniques. Our activiti
could be adversely affected and our reputatiomdend future sales harmed if these intentionafiyugtive efforts are successful.

Our products and services may expose us to liapilit excess of our current insurance coverage.

Our products and services involve significant rigksiability, which may substantially exceed tfevenues we derive fro
them. We cannot predict the magnitude of thesenpiatdiabilities.

We currently maintain general liability insuranegth coverage in the amount of $1 million per ocence, subject to
$2 million annual limitation, and product liabilitpsurance with a $1 million annual coverage lititta. Claims may be made agai
us that exceed these limi
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Our liability policy is an “occurrencebased policy. Thus, our policy is complete whenpuechased it and followin
cancellation of the policy it continues to proviceverage for future claims based on conduct thait fdace during the policy terr
However, our insurance may not protect us agaiability because our policies typically have vasoexceptions to the clain
covered and also require us to assume some cotite ofaim even though a portion of the claim maycbvered. In addition, if w
expand into new markets, we may not be aware oh#ex for, or be able to obtain insurance covefagsuch activities or, i
insurance is obtained, the dollar amount of anlillizes incurred could exceed our insurance cogeraA partially or completel
uninsured claim, if successful and of significardgnitude, could have a material adverse effectwrbasiness, financial conditic
and results of operations.

Complying with certain regulations that apply to igments using our products can limit our activitiesnd increase our cost ¢
operations.

Shipments using our products and services are ®utgevarious regulations in the countries in whigh operate. Fc
example, shipments using our products may be reduw comply with the shipping requirements proratéd by the Centers f
Disease Control (“CDC"), the Occupational Safety &tealth Organization (“OSHA”), the Department ahmsportation (“DOT")as
well as rules established by the International Amansportation Association (“IATA"and the International Civil Aviatio
Organization (“ICAQ”"). Additionally, our data logger may be subject to ulegjon and certification by the Food and Di
Administration (“FDA”), Federal Communications Conssion (“FCC”), and Federal Aviation AdministratidtFAA”). We will
need to ensure that our products and services gomijph relevant rules and regulations to make otwdpcts and service
marketable, and in some cases compliance is difftoudetermine. Significant changes in such regofa could require cost
changes to our products and services or prevenbiuser shippers for an extended period of timeleviie seek to comply wit
changed regulations. If we are unable to comphhwity of these rule or regulations or fail to obtany required approvals, ¢
ability to market our products and services maytheersely affected. In addition, even if we areeablcomply with these rules a
regulations, compliance can result in increasedscds either event, our financial results and dtiod may be adversely affecte
We depend on our business partners and unrelateftequently unknown third party agents in fore@puntries to act on our beh
to complete the importation process and to makeelgl of our shippers to the final user. The faélaf these third parties to perfo
their duties could result in damage to the contehtkie shipper resulting in customer dissatistacor liability to us, even if we a
not at fault.

If we cannot compete effectively, we will lose mess.

Our products, services and solutions are positidndoe competitive in the colchain shipping market. While there
technological and marketing barriers to entry, \@armt guarantee that the barriers we are capalpeodiicing will be sufficient t
defend the market share we wish to gain againsectand future competitors. The principal compediffactors in this marke
include:

. acceptance of our business model aper useconsolidated fee structur
. ongoing development of enhanced technical feammdsbenefits

. reductions in the manufacturing cost of compet’ products;

» the ability to maintain and expand distribution hels;

. brand name

» the ability to deliver our products to our customehen requeste:

e the timing of introductions of new products andveas; anc

» financial resource:

Current and prospective competitors have substhntimeater resources, more customers, longer tipgraistories
greater name recognition and more establishedaesdtips in the industry. As a result, these coitgrstmay be able to develop a
expand their networks and product offerings moreldy, devote greater resources to the marketind) sale of their products ai
adopt more aggressive pricing policies. In addjtidrese competitors have entered and will likelptowe to enter into busine
relationships to provide additional products coritppet to those we provide or plan to provide.

We may not be able to compete with our competitarthe industry because many of them have greatesaurces than we do.

We expect to continue to experience significant iaadeasing levels of competition in the future atidition, there may k
other companies which are currently developing ostitipe products and services or which may in thieifle develop technologi
and products that are comparable, superior ordesdy than our own. For example, some cryogenigpement manufacturers wi
greater resources currently have solutions foiirgjasind transporting cryogenic liquid and gassekrany develop storage solutic
that compete with our products. Additionally, sogpecialty couriers with greater resources curreptbvide dry ice transportatic
and may develop other products in the future, lmbtiwhich compete with our products. A competitaatthas greater resources tl



us may be able to bring its product to market fatan we can and offer its product at a loweretitan us to establi
market share. We may not be able to successfuliypete with a competitor that has greater resousoessuch competition m
adversely affect our business.
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Risks Relating to Our Current Financing Arrangements

Our outstanding convertible debentures impose carteestrictions on how we conduct our business. addition, all of our assets
including our intellectual property, are pledged teecure this indebtedness. If we fail to meet olnligations to the debentur
holders, our payment obligations may be acceleratatl the collateral securing the indebtedness may dold to satisfy thes
obligations.

We issued convertible debentures in October 200& {(©ctober 2007 Debentures”) and in May 2008 (thtay 2008
Debentures,” and together with the October 2007eDabes, the “Debentures”The Debentures were issued to four institutic
investors and have an outstanding principal balaf&?,607,196 as of March 31, 2011. In additionQictober 2007 and May 20(
we issued to these institutional investors warrémgsurchase, as of March 31, 2011, an aggrega¢066,097 shares of our comrr
stock (without regard to beneficial ownership liatibns contained in the transaction documents andio antidilution provisions)
As collateral to secure our repayment obligatiamghe holders of the Debentures we have granteld bolders a first priorit
security interest in generally all of our asseats|uding our intellectual property.

The Debentures warrant agreements and relatedatémsal documents (including subsequent amendmeatstain
various covenants that presently restrict our dpegdlexibility. Pursuant to the foregoing docunt&nwe may not, among oth
things:

. other than the reverse stock split we effected elorlrary 5, 2010, which the holder of our Debenta@ssented to, effe
future reverse stock splits of our outstanding camrstock;

. incur additional indebtedness, except for cert@mptted indebtedness. Permitted indebtednesdfiisedeto include leas
obligations and purchase money indebtedness ofougnt aggregate of $200,000 and indebtedness thexpeessl
subordinated to the Debentures and matures follpia maturity date of the Debentur

. incur additional liens on any of our assets exdeptcertain permitted liens including but not lieit liens for taxe
assessments and government charges not yet dliemsdhcurred in connection with permitted indelrtess

. pay cash dividend:

. redeem any outstanding shares of our common stoany outstanding options or warrants to purchdmges of oL
common stock except in connection with the repwsehaf stock from former directors and officers pded sucl
repurchases do not exceed $100,000 during thedkthe Debentures

. enter into transactions with affiliates other tlmarm-length terms; an

. make any revisions to the terms of existing conmtr@icagreements for the Related Party Notes Payaiidethe Line ¢
Credit (as each is referred to in our Forn-Q for the period ended June 30, 20(

These provisions could have important consequeiocass, including, but not limited to, (i) makingmore difficult for us
to obtain additional debt financing, or obtain ngebt financing on terms favorable to us, becausevalender will have to be willin
to be subordinate to the Debenture holders, (istay us to use a portion of our available cashiéht repayment and service rat
than other perceived needs, and/or (iii) impactiog ability to take advantage of significant, péred business opportunities. C
failure to timely repay our obligations under thedentures, which require monthly principal paymesft$200,000 and quarter
interest payments that commenced March 1, 2011vanidh mature on August 1, 2012, or meet the covesnaat forth in thi
Debentures and related transaction documents givédrise to a default under the Debentures or sustsaction documents. In t
event of an uncured default, all amounts owed ¢chitlders may be declared immediately due and fpegaia the Debenture holde
will have the right to enforce their security irgst in the assets securing the Debentures. Ineght, the Debenture holders co
take possession of any or all of our assets in lwtfiey hold a security interest, and dispose ofd¢hassets to the extent necessa
pay off our debts, which would materially harm buisiness.

Certain of our existing stockholders own and haveetright to acquire a substantial number of sharecommon stock.

As of June 10, 2011, our directors, executive eficand beneficial owners of 5% or more of our tamiding commoil
stock beneficially owned 11,556,091 shares (with@gard to beneficial ownership limitations coné&mnin certain warrants)
common stock assuming their exercise of all outStanwarrants, options and conversion of all cotiskr debt; or approximate
30.80% of our outstanding common stock. Of thesgeshof common stock beneficially owned, 1,921 ,84ares, or approximate
6.48% of our outstanding common stock, are beradfjcowned by Enable Growth Partners LP (and afi@d funds), 1,877,07
shares, or approximately 6.34% of our outstandiomroon stock, are beneficially owned by BridgePoiktaster Fund, Ltd.
4,285,710 shares, or approximately 14.02% of ounrmnon stock, are beneficially owned by CNH PartnétsC, and 2,757,89
shares, or approximately 9.14% of our outstandiamroon stock, are beneficially owned by Emergentakaml Group (eac
calculated without regard to the shares of commntonksthat may be acquired by the other upon thecese of its warrants ar
conversion of debt). As such, the concentratioerieficial ownership of our common stock may hawe effect of delaying ¢
preventing a change in control of CryoPort and mdwersely affect the voting or other rights of othelders of our common stoc
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Our stock and warrant price is and will continue tee volatile.

The market price of our common stock has been alwhg with the warrants is likely to be, highly atile and coult
fluctuate widely in price in response to varioustéaes, many of which are beyond our control, in@bgd but not limited to:

» technological innovations or new products and sesvby us or our competito!
. additions or departures of key personi

. sales of our common stoc

. our ability to integrate operations, technologydrcts and service

. our ability to execute our business pl

. operating results below expectatio

. loss of any strategic relationsh

. industry development:

+ economic and other external factors;

. perioc-to-period fluctuations in our financial resul

You may consider any one of these factors to beemadt The price of our common stock and warrangs fluctuate
widely as a result of any of the above listed fexttn addition, the securities markets have frametto time experienced significe
price and volume fluctuations that are unrelatethéooperating performance of particular companiégse market fluctuations m
also materially and adversely affect the marketgpaf our common stock and warrants.

If equity research analysts do not publish researoh reports about our business or if they issue ambrable commentary c
downgrade our common stock and warrants, the pradeour common stock and warrants could decline.

The trading market for our common stock and wasgasties in part on the research and reports thaitye researcl
analysts publish about us and our business. Weotl@antrol these analysts. The price of our commsimtk and warrants cou
decline if one or more equity analyst downgradesstack or if analysts issue other unfavorable cemtary or cease publishil
reports about us or our business.

We have not paid dividends on our common stock lie past and do not expect to pay dividends in tbee$eeable future. An
return on investment may be limited to the valueafr common stock.

We have never paid cash dividends on our commark stod do not anticipate paying cash dividendhénforeseeabl
future. The payment of dividends on our common lstedl depend on our earnings, financial conditiand other business a
economic factors affecting us at such time as tharé of Directors may consider the payment of arghdividends. In addition, w
may not pay any dividends without obtaining theopgonsent of the holders of our Debentures. Ifdeenot pay dividends, ol
common stock may be less valuable because a retuyour investment will only occur if the price @ir common stock appreciates.

As a result of our recent 1-to-1 reverse stock split, the liquidity of our commetock and market capitalization could be advers
affected.

On February 5, 2010, we effected a 1Qttoeverse stock split. A reverse stock split ieofiewed negatively by tf
market and, consequently, can lead to a decreasariroverall market capitalization. In addition,chase the reverse split w
significantly reduce the number of shares of ounemn stock that are outstanding, the liquidity af common stock could t
adversely affected and you may find it more diffi¢a purchase or sell shares of our common stock.

We may need additional capital, and the sale of #gidthal shares of common stock or other equity seties could result in
additional dilution to our stockholders.

We believe that our current cash and cash equitsaberd anticipated cash floimom operations will be sufficient to me
our anticipated cash needs for a period of at I2asinonths. We may, however, require additionahaa&sources due to chanc
business conditions or other future developmentduding any investments or acquisitions we mayid#eto pursue. If our resourc
are insufficient to satisfy our cash requirements,may seek to sell additional equity or debt séiegror obtain a credit facility. Tt
sale of additional equity securities, or debt siiesr convertible into equity securities, could ukksn additional dilution to ou
stockholders. The incurrence of indebtedness woeddilt in increased debt service obligations angldcoesult in operating ar
financing covenants that would restrict our opersi
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Provisions in our bylaws and Nevada law might discage, delay or prevent a change of control of ocwmpany or changes i
our management and, as a result, may depress thditrg price of our common stock.

Provisions of our bylaws and Nevada law may disager delay or prevent a merger, acquisition orrathange in contrc
that stockholders may consider favorable, includiagsactions in which you might otherwise recaaveremium for your shares
our common stock. The relevant bylaw provisions ralap prevent or frustrate attempts by our stoakdnsl to replace or remove ¢
management. These provisions include advance nattpgrements for stockholder proposals and nonoingt and the ability of ot
Board of Directors to make, alter or repeal ouralnd.

Absent approval of our Board of Directors, our wdamay only be amended or repealed by the affikraatbte of the
holders of at least a majority of our outstandihgres of capital stock entitled to vote.

In addition, Section 78.438 of the Nevada Revisedufes prohibits a publiclizeld Nevada corporation from engaging
a business combination with an interested stocldndigenerally defined as a person which togethdr its affiliates owns, or withi
the last three years has owned, 10% of our votiocks for a period of three years after the dattheftransaction in which the pers
became an interested stockholder) unless the tmssamnbination is approved in a prescribed manner.

The existence of the foregoing provisions and off@ential antitakeover measures could limit the price that inmes
might be willing to pay in the future for shares afr common stock. They could also deter potemtigjuirers of our compan
thereby reducing the likelihood that you could reee premium for your common stock in an acquositi

Even though we are not incorporated in Californiaye may become subject to a number of provisionshef California General
Corporation Law.

Section 2115(b) of the California Corporations Cddgoses certain requirements of California corfmriaw on
corporations organized outside California thagémeral, are doing more than 50% of their busiime&alifornia and have more th,
50% of their outstanding voting securities heldredord by persons residing in California. While ar@ not currently subject
Section 2115(b), we may become subject to it inftlere.

The following summarizes some of the principal eliéinces which would apply if we become subjectdctiSn 2115(b).

Under both Nevada and California law, cumulativéingfor the election of directors is permitted.wver, under Nevac
law cumulative voting must be expressly authorizedhe Articles of Incorporation and our Amended aRestated Articles ¢
Incorporation do not authorize cumulative votinfgwe become subject to Section 2115(b), we mayeheired to permit cumulati
voting if any stockholder properly requests to clateihis or her votes.

Under Nevada law, directors may be removed by tivekholders only by the vote of twbirds of the voting power of tr
issued and outstanding stock entitled to vote. H@amneCalifornia law permits the removal of directdny the vote of only a majori
of the outstanding shares entitled to vote. If wedme subject to Section 2115(b), the removaldifector may be accomplished
a majority vote, rather than a vote of two-thirdfthe stockholders entitled to vote.

Under California law, the corporation must taketaier steps to be allowed to provide for greatereindification of its
officers and directors than is provided in the foatiia Corporation Code. If we become subject toti®a 2115(b), our ability t
indemnify our officers and directors may be limitgdCalifornia law.

Nevada law permits distributions to stockholdersoag as, after the distribution, (i) the corpooatiwould be able to pe
its debts as they become due and (ii) the cormoratitotal assets are at least equal to its liakslined preferential dissolutic
obligations. Under California law, distributions ynlae made to stockholders as long as the corparatauld be able to pay its del
as they mature and either (i) the corporasorétained earnings equals or exceeds the amoutiteoproposed distributions,
(i) after the distributions, the corporation’s ¢glnie assets are at least 125% of its liabilitied the corporatiors current assets are
least equal to its current liabilities (or, 125%itsf current liabilities if the corporatios’average operating income for the two n
recently completed fiscal years was less than tlezage of the interest expense of the corporatiwrttfose fiscal years). If w
become subject to Section 2115(b), we will haveatisfy more stringent financial requirements toabé to pay dividends to o
stockholders. Additionally, stockholders may bélkato the corporation if we pay dividends in viada of California law.

California law permits a corporation to provide psumajority vote”provisions in its Articles of Incorporation, whi
would require specific actions to obtain greatemtla majority of the votes, but not more thar? 66 percent. Nevada law does 1
permit supermajority vote provisions. If we becosubject to Section 2115(b), it is possible that stackholders would vote -
amend our Articles of Incorporation and requireipesmajority vote for us to take specific actions.

Under California law, in a disposition of substaiiyi of all the corporatiors assets, if the acquiring party is in control o
under common control with the disposing corporatithre principal terms of the sale must be approlbgdd0 percent of th
stockholders. Although Nevada law does containagentules governing interested stockholder busimessbinations, it does n
require similar stockholder approval. If we becasnbject to Section 2115(b), we may have to obtaénvbte of a greater percent:
of the stockholders to approve a sale of our assetparty that is in control of, or under comnoomtrol with, us



California law places certain additional approvights in connection with a merger if all of the g of each class
series of a corporation are not treated equallif tite surviving or parent party to a merger représ more than 50 percent of
voting power of the other corporation prior to timerger. Nevada law does not require such apprdivale become subject
Section 2115(b), we may have to obtain a the vbtegreater percentage of the stockholders to appaamerger that treats share

a class or series differently or where a survivangparent party to the merger represents more 5046 of the voting power of tl
other corporation prior to the merger.
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California law requires the vote of each classgprave reorganization or a conversion of a corpamanto another entity
Nevada law does not require a separate vote fdr elass. If we become subject to Section 2115(l8),nmay have to obtain ti
approval of each class if we desire to reorganizenavert into another type of entity.

California law provides greater dissenters’ rigtitsstockholders than Nevada law. If we become sulife Section 2115
(b), more stockholders may be entitled to dissshteghts, which may limit our ability to merge \wianother entity or reorganize.

Our stock is deemed to be penny stock.

Our stock is currently traded on the OTCQB, opetdtg the OTC Markets Group, Inc., and is subjedhto“penny stocl
rules” adopted pursuant to Section 15(g) of theuBtes Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Brgle Act”).The penny stoc
rules apply to companies not listed on a natiomahange whose common stock trades at less tha® $&10share or which ha
tangible net worth of less than $5,000,000 ($2,000,f the company has been operating for thremane years). Such rules requi
among other things, that brokers who trade “pentock$ to persons other than “established customehplete certail
documentation, make suitability inquiries of invarst and provide investors with certain informaticoncerning trading in th
security, including a risk disclosure document gadte information under certain circumstances. RPetocks sold in violation of tr
applicable rules may entitle the buyer of the stiockescind the sale and receive a full refund ftbenbroker.

Many brokers have decided not to trade “penny Stbelcause of the requirements of the penny stock arid, as a resu
the number of brokedealers willing to act as market makers in suclusges is limited. In the event that we remain jegbto the
“penny stock rulesfor any significant period, there may develop aneagle impact on the market, if any, for our semsitBecaus
our securities are subject to the “penny stocksillevestors will find it more difficult to dispose afur securities. Further, fi
companies whose securities are traded in the OT@Q@Bmore difficult: (i) to obtain accurate qutitms, (ii) to obtain coverage fi
significant news events because major wire seryisgsh as the Dow Jones News Service, generaliyot@ublish press releas
about such companies, and (iii) to obtain neededala

If we fail to maintain effective internal controlver financial reporting, the price of our commonack may be adversely affecte

Our internal controls over financial reporting mhgve weaknesses and conditions that could requireeation ot
remediation, the disclosure of which may have areesk impact on the price of our common stock. Véerequired to establish a
maintain appropriate internal controls over finahceporting. Failure to establish those controtsany failure of those controls on
established) could adversely impact our public Idmaes regarding our business, financial conditorresults of operations.
addition, managemerst'assessment of internal controls over financiabring may identify weaknesses and conditions tieetd tc
be addressed in our internal controls over findmaporting or other matters that may raise conedan investors. Any actual
perceived weaknesses and conditions that need &ddeessed in our internal control over financiarting and disclosure
managemen$ assessment of our internal controls over findmeaorting may have an adverse impact on the miagur commor
stock.

Standards for compliance with Section 404 of therSanes«-Oxley Act of 2002 are uncertain, and if we fail tomply in a timely
manner, our business could be harmed and our stpcice could decline.

Rules adopted by the SEC pursuant to Section 4@deoBarbane®xley Act of 2002 require an annual assessmenun
internal controls over financial reporting. Thergtards that must be met for management to assegsténal controls over financi
reporting as effective are evolving and complexd eeguire significant documentation, testing, andsgible remediation to meet t
detailed standards. We expect to continue to is@nificant expenses and to devote resources toncaa Section 404 complian
on an ongoing basis. It is difficult for us to pietchow long it will take or how costly it will béo complete the assessment of
effectiveness of our internal controls over finaheceporting and to remediate any deficienciesuninternal controls. As a result, \
may not be able to complete the assessment andligina process on a timely basis. In the everttaba Chief Executive Officer ¢
Chief Financial Officer determine that our intersahtrols over financial reporting are not effeetas defined under Section 404,
cannot predict how regulators will react or how tharket price of our common stock will be affecthdywever, we believe that the
is a risk that investor confidence and share valag be negatively impacted.

If we fail to remain current in our reporting requiements, our securities could be removed from th€GWB, which would limit
the ability of broker-dealers to sell our securii@nd the ability of stockholders to sell their seities in the secondary market.

Companies trading on the OTCQB must be reportisagess under Section 12 of the Exchange Act, and brusurrent ir
their reports under Section 13, in order to mamfaiice quotation privileges on the OTCQB If wel fimi remain current on ot
reporting requirements, we could be removed fromm@TCQB. As a result, the market liquidity for @macurities could be severe
adversely affected by limiting the ability of brakaéealers to sell our securities and the abilityto€kholders to sell their securities
the secondary market.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We do not own real property. We currently lease faalities, with approximately 12,000 square feédtcorporate
research and development, and warehouse facilitbested at 20382 Barents Sea Circle, Lake Foi@st, 92630 and fiv
(5) executive offices located at 402 West Broadwagn Diego, CA 92101. The Company currently makese bease payments
approximately $7,000 per month, due at the begmmheach month. On August 24, 2009, the Compargred into the secol
amendment to the lease for its manufacturing afideo§pace. The amendment extended the lease évawnonths from the end
the existing lease term with a right to cancelld@se with a minimum of 120 day written notice iytame as of November 30, 20
In June 2010, Company entered into the third amemdnto the lease for its manufacturing and offipace. The amendme
extended the lease for sixty months commencing DuB010 with a right to cancel the lease with @imum of 120 day writte
notice at anytime as of December 31, 2012. On Axjl2010, the Company entered into office serdagesements with Reg
Management Group, LLC (Lessor) for five (5) exeeaitoffices located at 402 West Broadway, San Di€®,92101. The offic
service agreements are for periods ranging from B months ending October 31, 2011. The officeiseragreements require b
lease payments of approximately $9,000 per mon#bélieve that these facilities are adequate, ldeitand of sufficient capacity
support our immediate needs. Additional space mayréquired, however, as we expand our research davelopmen
manufacturing and selling and marketing activities.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the ordinary course of business, we are at tisudect to various legal proceedings and dispMiéscurrently are n
aware of any such legal proceedings or claim tlabelieve will have, individually or in the aggrégaa material adverse effect
our business, operating results or cash flows.

ITEM 4. [REMOVED AND RESERVED]

Not applicable.
PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDERS * MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

(@) Market Information.The Company’'s common stock is quoted on the OTCQ@Beu the symbol “CYRX"The
following table shows the high and low sales poE¢he Companys common stock for each quarter in the two yeade@émarch 3:
2011

Common Stock

Sales Price
High Low

Fiscal Year 2011

Quarter Ended March 31, 20 $ 1.6¢ $ 0.51
Quarter Ended December 31, 2( $ 0.9t $ 0.4z
Quarter Ended September 30, 2! $ 1.5C $ 0.6¢€
Quarter Ended June 30, 20 $ 2.2C $ 1.31
Fiscal Year 2010

Quarter Ended March 31, 20 $ 10.5C $ 1.6t
Quarter Ended December 31, 2( $ 5.4(C $ 3.8C
Quarter Ended September 30, 2! $ 7.0C $ 3.7C
Quarter Ended June 30, 20 $ 9.0C $ 4.1C

(b) Holders.As of June 10, 2011, the number of stockholdergodrd of the Company’s common stock was 218.

(c) Dividends.No dividends on common stock have been declargdam by the Company. The Company intenc
employ all available funds for the development tsfhusiness and, accordingly, does not intend yoaoy cash dividends in t
foreseeable future.

(d) Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity @ensationThe information included under Item 12 of Partdf
this Annual Report is hereby incorporated by refeeeinto this Item 5 of Part Il of this Annual Repo

(e) Recent Sale of Unregistered Securitiékhe following is a summary of transactions by @@mpany during the p:
quarter involving the issuance and sale of the Gomis securities that were not registered under their§ies Act of 1933, ¢
amended (the “Securities Act’All securities sold by the Company were sold toivithials, trusts or others who were accrec
investors as defined under Regulation D under g fties Act, as amended.
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On February 4, 2011, the Company consummated rstecfosing of a private placement to accrediteg@tors resulting
the issuance of units consisting of 6,335,318 shafe&common stock and warrants to purchase 6,38%Bares of common stock
an exercise price of $0.77, for gross cash procet#d,434,722. On February 14, 2011, the Compamypteted the second clos
of this same private placement resulting in theidasse of units consisting of 7,026,771 shares afimon stock and warrants
purchase 7,026,771 shares of common stock at acisxerice of $0.77, for gross cash proceeds ¢d1¥740. In both closinc
each unit consisting of one share, together withwarrant to purchase one share, was priced ab $&. Aggregate gross proceed
$9,353,462. Aggregate net proceeds of $8,041,8Bct@lacement agent fees, legal and accountiag €& $1,311,582. In additic
as part of the compensation to the selling agevasrants to purchase 2,393,826 shares of commak stere issued to the agel
The warrants issued to the investors and sellirepagare immediately exercisable and have a terfivefyears. The fair mark
value of the warrants issued to the placement agefr$2,153,397 was based on the Black-Scholetgrinodel (“Black-Scholeg”
and was recorded to paiid-capital and offset against the proceeds of thenting with no net effect on equity. The Compavas
obligated to file a registration statement with 8tC registering the resale of the shares of constmrk issued to the investors .
the shares of common stock underlying the warrisssed to the investors within ninety (90) daydofwing the close of tr
transaction.

On March 7, 2011 the Company entered into an AdyiServices Agreement with Marc Grossman M.D. tovjite strategi
business advice for which he was issued a fullyegesvarrant to purchase 200,000 shares of the Coyrpaommon stock at .
exercise price of $0.77 per share. The fair valuthis warrant was $302,769 of which the Compaegorded $277,538 as anol
current asset and recognized $25,231 in sellingegd and administrative expense for the year erddacch 31, 2011 in tt
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data has beenvéerifrom audited consolidated financial statementthe Company fc
each of the five years in the period ended March2B11. These selected financial summaries shauigéd in conjunction with t
financial information contained for each of the ty@ars in the period ended March 31, 2011, includetie consolidated financ
statements and notes thereto, Manageradbiscussion and Analysis of Results of Operatiand Financial Condition, and otl
information provided elsewhere herein.

Years Ended March 31,
(in thousands, except per share data)

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Consolidated Statement o

Operations Data:
Revenue: $ 47¢€ $ 11€ $ 35 $ 84 $ 67
Cost of revenue 1,30% 71¢€ 54¢ 38¢ 177
Gross lost (827) (600 (517 (302 (110

Selling, general and administrati 4,321 3,31z 2,38 2,551 1,89¢

Research and developmt 44¢ 284 297 16€ 88

Total operating expens 4,77( 3,591 2,68¢ 2,71 1,98
Loss from operation (5,599 (4,199 (3,195 (3.019 (2,099
Other (expense) incom

Interest incom 16 8 32 50

Interest expens (619) (7,029 (2,697%) (1,599 (22¢)

Loss on sale of fixed asse¢ — 9)

Loss on extinguishment of de — — (10,847 — —

Change in fair value of derivative

liabilities 50 5,571 — — —

Net loss before income tax (6,150 (5,650 (16,707 (4,562) (2,32%)
Income taxe: 2 2 2 2 2
Net loss $ (6,152 % (5,65 $ (16,70H % (4,569 % (2,327)
Net loss per common share, basic

diluted $ (0.46p % 115 % 4.0 % (1.19 % (0.75)

Weighted average shares used in
computing net loss per comm



share, basic and dilute

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivaler

Working capital (deficit,

Total asset

Convertible notes, nt

Other lon¢-term obligations
Accumulated defici

Total stockholder equity (deficit)

13,30z 5,011 4,12¢ 3,94: 3,094
As of March 31,
(in thousands)
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
$ 9,27¢ $ 3,63( $ 25C $ 2,231 $ 264
6,76( 1,99¢ (3,699 981 (47¢)
11,03: 4,77 1,57 3,461 484
2,401 2,50z 3,88: 90z 96
1,42 1,47¢ 1,601 1,711 1,851
(52,09¢) (45,949 (30,639 (13,929 (9,36%)
5,94¢ (915) (4,77¢) — (2,28¢)
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwéwdking statements that have been made pursuahetprovisions ¢
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of B98nd concern matters that involve risks and uag#its that could cause aci
results to differ materially from those projectedlie forward-looking statements. Discussions doirtg forwardiooking statemen
may be found in the material set forth under “Bas&” “Managemend’ Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &esult
of Operations” and in other sections of this ForG+KL Words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could, “expect,” “plan,”
“anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “pntial,” “continue” or similar words are intended identify forwardlooking
statements, although not all forwdabking statements contain these words. Althoughbeleeve that our opinions and expectat
reflected in the forward-looking statements aresoeable as of the date of this Annual Report onmFd@K, we cannot guarant
future results, levels of activity, performanceamhievements, and our actual results may diffestsutbially from the views ai
expectations set forth in this Annual Report onnrdi0-K. We expressly disclaim any intent or obligatto update any forward-
looking statements after the date hereof to confsuch statements to actual results or to changesiiropinions or expectatiol
Readers are urged to carefully review and conglievarious disclosures made by us, which attemptvise interested parties
the risks, uncertainties, and other factors thidcafour business, set forth in detail in Item 1fARart |, under the headindRisk
Factors.”

The following discussion and analysis should bed rieaconjunction with our consolidated financiahtstments and tl
related notes to those statements contained elsewhthis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We are a provider of an innovative cold chain froghipping system dedicated to providing supedtfgrdable cryogen
shipping solutions that ensure the safety, stabdstamperature, of high value, temperature semsitiaterials. We have develo)
cost effective reusable cryogenic transport coetaitfreferred to as “shippergfapable of transporting biological, environmentad
other temperature sensitive materials at tempersitbelow minus 150° Celsius. These dry vapor shippee one of the fir
significant alternatives to dry ice shipping andiiage 10plus day holding times compared to one to two dalgdihg times with dr
ice.

Our value proposition comes from providing bothes@énsportation and an environmentally friendiygd lasting shippe
and through our value added services that offémale, hassle-free solution for our customers. €hedueadded services include
internetbased web portal that enables the customer tat@ischeduling, shipping and tracking of the prsgrand status of
shipment, and provides inansit temperature and custody transfer monitosagrices of the shipper. The CryoPort service
provides a fully ready charged shipper containithdreight bills, customs documents and regulatpaperwork for the entire journ
of the shipper to our customers at their pick uatmn.

Our principal focus has been the further develograed commercial launch of CryoPort Expr@&dBortal, an innovativ
IT solution for shipping and tracking high-valueespmens through overnight shipping companies, amdQryoPort Expres®
Shipper, a dry vapor cryogenic shipper for thedpamt of biological and pharmaceutical materialglnj vapor cryogenic shipper i
container that uses liquid nitrogen in dry vapanfowhich is suspended inside a vacuum insulatétliebas a refrigerant, to provi
storage temperatures below minus 150° Celsius. drigevapor shipper is designed using innovative pgetary, and patent
technology which prevents spillage of liquid nitemgand pressure build up as the liquid nitrogerpesstes. A proprietary foe
retention system is employed to ensure that ligitiehgen stays inside the vacuum container, eveerwiaced upsiddewn or on it
side, as is often the case when in the custodysbi@ping company. Biological specimens are stimealspecimen chamber, refer
to as a “well,”inside the container and refrigeration is providgdharmless cold nitrogen gas evolving from theiitignitroget
entrapped within the foam retention system surroygnthe well. Biological specimens transported gsaur cryogenic shipper c
include clinical samples, diagnostics, live cellaphaceutical products (such as cancer vaccinesersemd embryos, infectio
substances) and other items that require and/quratected through continuous exposure to frozetrywgenic temperatures (bel
minus 150° Celsius).

During our early years, our limited revenue waswdel from the sale of our reusable product liner @urrent busine:
plan focuses on per-use leasing of the shippingaguer and added-value services that will be usedsbto provide an end-tenc
and costeptimized shipping solution to life science comgasnmoving pharmaceutical and biological samplegliimical trials ani
pharmaceutical distribution.

We have incurred losses since inception and hattemnmulated deficit of $52,096,087 through MarchZ11.
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Results of Operations
Years Ended March 31, 2011 and 2010

Revenue. Net revenues were $475,504 in fiscal 2011, aspeoed to $117,956 in fiscal 2010. The increase3&7$648 or 303¢
was the result of our current business plan focusimper-use leasing of our shipping containersaaitttdvalue services that will |
used by us to provide an end-to-end and op$itnized shipping solution to life science comganimoving pharmaceutical &
biological samples in clinical trials and pharmaezal distribution. The less than anticipated ims® in shipper revenues during
two fiscal years was also the result of delays hie Company securing adequate funding for the matwfag and ful
commercialization of the CryoPort ExprésSystem.

Gross loss and cost of revenu€soss loss for 2011 was 174% of revenues, or $827a4 compared to 508%, or $599,754 for f
2010. The increase in gross loss in absolute dolad the decrease in gross loss as a percentageesfues for the year enc
March 31, 2011, as compared to the year ended MarcRB010, was primarily the result of the incremseevenues from the perse
leasing of the shipping containers.

The increase in cost of revenues from $717,710he1year ended March 31, 2010 to $1,302,988 foy#ae ended March 31, 20
was primarily the result of increased revenues. ddst of revenues exceeded revenues due to fixedifangturing costs and ple
underutilization.

Selling, general and administrative expenseSelling, general and administrative expenses v##,820,461 in fiscal 2011,
compared to $3,312,635 in fiscal 2010. The $1,@& jAcrease in expenses over prior year was daeb@00,144 or 218% incre:
in sales and marketing expenses from $412,73%&ye¢ar ended March 31, 2010, to $1,312,883 foyé¢lae ended March 31, 20
The increase in sales and marketing expensestedflecr focus on market development and sales tgmyf the CryoPort Expre$s
System. An overall increase in the sales effo20d1 increased expenses in salaries due to new, hderuiting, travel and outsi
services due to additional sales consulting.

Total stockbased compensation costs for the years ended NarcB011 and 2010 were $396,696 and $559,561, ctraply.
During the year ended March 31, 2011, we granteomapto employees and directors to purchase 18326shares of common st
at a weighted average exercise price of $0.69 Ipares The exercise prices of options and warrasi® vequal to the fair marl
value of our common stock at the time of grant.

Research and development expel. Research and development expenses were $449, I2@al 2011, as compared to $284,84
fiscal 2010. The increase in research and developmrepenses of $164,282 was due primarily to th&tscassociated with t
continued development of the internet-based wetaptirat enables the customer to initiate and noonlite progress of a shipment.

Interest income. Interest income was $15,571 in fiscal year 2Glcompared to $8,164 in fiscal year 2010. Curyeat interes
income included the impact of increased cash baknelated to the funds received in connection thighCompanys February 201
private placement, August 2010 and October 201¥afwiplacement and the February 25, 2010 publierioff. Prior year intere
income included the impact of increased cash beknelated to the funds received in connection thighconvertible notes paya
issued in March through September 2009.

Interest expens. Interest expense was $618,765 in fiscal year 288 Tompared to $7,028,684 in fiscal year 201@. ddcrease
interest expense compared to the prior year pavelprimarily due to the conversion of our con@etinotes payable of $1,381,t
and a portion of our convertible debentures of $2,230 into common stock in February 2010, andctireesponding reduction
debt discount amortization and interest expenderdst expense for fiscal year 2011 included actcmerest on our Related Pe
notes payable $57,156, amortization of debt dist522,041 and interest expense on our convertdébentures $19,233. Inter
expense for fiscal year 2010 included amortizatibdebt discount of $6,417,346 and amortized fivanéees of $159,516, primar
due to the convertible debentures issued in Oct2b@7, May 2008 and the Private Placement Debenture

Change in fair value of derivative liabilitie3he change in fair value of derivative liabilitiesas a gain of $49,590 in fiscal y
2011, compared to the gain of $5,576,979 in figealr 2010. The gain of $49,590 for the fiscal y&@k1 was the result of a decre
in the fair value of our warrant derivatives duénarily to a decrease in our stock price, and aase in the number of eqt
instruments treated as derivative liabilities comsplato the prior fiscal year. The prior year gafn$6,576,979 was the result @
decrease in the fair value of our warrant derivestj\due primarily to a decrease in our stock price.

Income taxe. We incurred net operating losses for the yeade@march 31, 2011 and March 31, 2010 and consdguid not pa
any federal, state or foreign income taxes. At Ma&t, 2011, we had federal and state net operdting carryforwards i
approximately $21,743,000 and $21,706,000, respagtiwhich we have fully reserved due to the utaiety of realization. Ot
federal tax loss carryforwards will begin to expinefiscal 2020, unless utilized. Our Californix t@ss carryforwards will begin
expire in fiscal 2014, unless utilized. We alsoénéederal and California research tax credit camyards of approximately $17,0
and $16,000, respectively. Our federal researcltitedits will begin to expire in fiscal 2026, urgagtilized. Our California reseai
tax credit carryforwards do not expire and willrgaiorward indefinitely until utilized.

Net lossAs a result of the factors described above, netflosthe year ended March 31, 2011 increased b9,$37 to $6,152,278
($0.46) per share compared to a net loss of $%564%19r ($1.13) per share for the year ended Maig2310.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of March 31, 2011, the Company had cash and egsivalents of $9,278,443 and working capital 6f7%9,75%
Historically, we have financed our operations pritgathrough sales of our debt and equity secwsitias of March 31, 2010, t
Company had cash and cash equivalents of $3,628,886vorking capital of $1,994,934.

From August 2010 to October 2010, we conductediafer placement financing to institutional and adited investol
resulting in the issuance of units consisting d&¥32,418 shares of common stock and warrants tohpeec5,532,418 shares
common stock at an exercise price of $0.77, fosgmash proceeds of $3,872,702 and net cash psoé&s,407,679. Each u
consisting of one share, together with one wartamturchase one share, was priced at $0.70. Cenastors that had investec
our public offering that was completed on Febru2sy2010 were issued additional warrants with #raesterms to purchase 448,
shares of common stock in connection with thisgtewplacement. We paid a 7% fee to the placemamtsgn the aggregate ama
of $271,090 and issued warrants to purchase aregagr of 774,542 shares of our common stock, akarcise price of $0.77, whi
are immediately exercisable and have a term ofyieas.

On February 4, 2011, the Company consummated rstecfosing of a private placement to accrediteggtors resulting
the issuance of units consisting of 6,335,318 shafeommon stock and warrants to purchase 6,38%Béares of common stock
an exercise price of $0.77, for gross cash procettid,434,722. On February 14, 2011, the Compamypteted the second clos
of this same private placement resulting in theidasse of units consisting of 7,026,771 shares afimon stock and warrants
purchase 7,026,771 shares of common stock at acisxerice of $0.77, for gross cash proceeds ¢3181740. In both closing
each unit consisting of one share, together withwarrant to purchase one share, was priced ab $6:aggregate gross proceed
$9,353,462. Aggregate net proceeds which refleatguhent agent fees, legal and accounting fees $8041,880. In addition,
part of the compensation to the selling agentsrams to purchase 2,393,826 shares of common sterk issued to the agents.
warrants issued to the investors and selling agaetimmediately exercisable and have a term efyiars.

During fiscal year 2011, we used $4,811,411 of dasloperations primarily as a result of the nesslof $6,152,278 a
non cash expenses of $1,201,300 due primarily gocodint amortization related to our convertible dabtruments and share ba
compensation. Offsetting the cash impact of our operating loss (excluding narash items) was an increase in acc
compensation and related expenses of $306,744rimarpy to increased selling, general and admiatste expenses. During fis
year 2010, we used $2,853,359 of cash for opesafwimarily as a result of the net loss of $5,661,fcluding a nc-cash gain ¢
$5,576,979 due to the change in valuation of ouivdtve liabilities and non cash expenses of $0,062 due primarily to discot
amortization related to our convertible debt instemts. Offsetting the cash impact of our net ofagalbss (excluding nowast
items) was an increase in accrued interest payHt$835,830 primarily due to our Private Placen@abentures and an increas
accounts payable and accrued expenses of $209@0@rinarily to increased general and administesgixpenses.

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $4868, during fiscal year 2011, primarily attributalitee purchase
equipment $341,400 and the purchase of intangéseta of $124,050. Net cash used in investing iietvtotaled $138,874 duri
fiscal year 2010, primarily attributable to the dese in restricted cash of $10,000, offset byptirehase of equipment $31,926
the purchase of intangible assets of $116,948.

Net cash provided by financing activities totaldd$25,418 in fiscal year 2011, primarily resultingm the receipt of tt
proceeds net of cash paid for offering costs fram public offering of common stock of $11,571,28&dagross proceeds frc
exercise of options and warrants of $213,203, whiehne partially offset by payment of deferred fioguy costs of $275,699 a
repayment of convertible debt of $423,372. Net gasivided by financing activities totaled $6,372,36 fiscal year 2010, primari
resulting from the receipt of the proceeds netasfhcpaid for offering costs from our public offeriof common stock of $4,046,8!
the proceeds from the issuance of our Private Riane Debentures of $1,321,500 and gross proceeds dxercise of options a
warrants of $1,437,100, which were partially offbgtpayment of deferred financing costs of $92,886 payments on our rela
party notes payable and notes payable to offic1@p,000 and $143,950, respectively.

The Company believes it has sufficient cash on leamtbiprojected revenues to sustain operationg feaat 12 months.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual gdgions as of March 31, 2011:

Payments due by period

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1 year years Years 5 years
Operating Lease Obligatiol $ 483,74 $ 156,97 $ 195,23 $ 131,52 $ —
Convertible Debentures ( 2,607,19 2,176,62 430,56¢ — —
Other Lon¢term Debt Obligations (2 1,525,41; 102,00( 192,00( 1,231,417,
Total: $ 4,616,35 $ 2,435,60 $ 817,80 $ 1,362,93 $ 0

(1) The Company issued convertible debenturé&ctober 2007 (the “October 2007 Debentures”) anday 2008 (the May 200¢
Debentures,” and together with the October 2007 ebebes, the “Debentures”)The Debentures were issued to -
institutional investors and have an outstandinggdpial balance of $2,607,196 as of March 31, 2@Elcollateral to secure ¢
repayment obligations to the holders of the Delestwe have granted such holders a first priogtyusity interest in genera
all of our assets, including our intellectual prdpe

(2) Represents unsecured indebtedness owed to fiviedgbarties, including four former members of tloard of directors, fc
capital advances made to the Company from Feb2@0¢ through March 2005. These notes bear intatdbe rate of 6% p
annum and provide for aggregate monthly princiggirpents which began April 1, 2006 of $2,500, andctviincreased by
aggregate of $2,500 every nine months to a maxirofi$10,000 per month. As of March 31, 2011, theragagte princip:
payments totaled $10,000 per month. Any remainimgaid principal and accrued interest is due at ritgtiarch 1, 2015

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Managemens discussion and analysis of financial conditiod aesults of operations, as well as disclosuretidsc
elsewhere in this Annual Report on FormHKOare based upon our consolidated financial states) which have been prepare
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accoumtingriples. Our significant accounting policies aescribed in the notes to
audited consolidated financial statements contagigelwhere in this Annual Report on FormKL.Oncluded within these policies ¢
our “critical accounting policies.Critical accounting policies are those policiesttaee most important to the preparation of
consolidated financial statements and require mamagts most subjective and complex judgments due tonded to mak
estimates about matters that are inherently urineldthough we believe that our estimates and eggions are reasonable, ac
results may differ significantly from these estigmtChanges in estimates and assumptions basedachal results may have
material impact on our results of operations anfif@ncial condition.

We believe that the critical accounting policieattimost impact the consolidated financial statemamné as describ
below.

Revenue Recoghnitio
Per Use Revenue

We recognize revenues from product sales when tlsepersuasive evidence that an arrangement exibian title ha
passed, the price is fixed or determinable, andrgereasonably assured of collecting the resultiegivable. The Company reca
a provision for claims based upon historical exgreze. Actual claims in any future period may difierm the Company estimate:
During its early years, the Company’s limited rewenvas derived from the sale of our reusable proiche. The Company curren
business plan focuses on per-use leasing of tippisi container and value-added services thatbgillised by us to provide an end-
to-end and cost-optimized shipping solution.

The Company provides shipping containers to thestamers and charges a fee in exchange for thefube containe
The Companyarrangements are similar to the accounting staniar@ases since they convey the right to usectingainers over
period of time. The Company retains title to thatainers and provides its customers the use ofdheainer for a specified shippi
cycle. At the culmination of the custom&shipping cycle, the container is returned toGbenpany. As a result of our new busir
plan, during the quarter ended September 30, 20@9Company reclassified the containers from inmgnto fixed assets up
commencement of the loaned-container program.

Inventory

The Company writes down its inventories for estidabbsolescence or unmarketable inventory equtiadifferenc
between the cost of inventory and the estimateketaalue based upon assumptions about future d&nfistare pricing and mark
conditions. Inventory reserve costs are subjeestonates made by the Company based on histosperience, inventory quantitic
age of inventory and any known expectations fodpobd changes. lactual future demands, future pricing or marketditions art
less favorable than those projected by manageraddttional inventory writ-downs may be required and the differences cou



material. Such differences might significantly irapaash flows from operating activities. Once elsabd, writedown:
are considered permanent adjustments to the csist tiethe obsolete or unmarketable inventories.
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During its early years, the Compasylimited revenue was derived from the sale of musable product line. T
Company’s current business plan focuses on peleasing of the shipping container and vaadgled services that will be used b
to provide an end-to-end and caogttimized shipping solution. The Company providagpging containers to its customers
charges a fee in exchange for the use of the amrtalrhe Companyarrangements are similar to the accounting staniariase
since they convey the right to use the containges a period of time. The Company retains titlehte containers and provides
customers the use of the container for a specdigpping cycle. At the culmination of the custorseshipping cycle, the containe
returned to the Company. As a result of our curlerginess plan, during fiscal year 2010, the Companlassified the containe
from inventory to fixed assets upon commencemerthefloaned-container program. The Compargurrent inventory consists
accessories that are sold and shipped to custatmrg with loaned containers and not returned éoGbmpany with the containi
at the culmination of the customer’s shipping cycle

Property and Equipmen

Fixed assets are stated at cost, net of accumuikgebciation and amortization. Depreciation anariimation of fixec
assets are provided using the straight-line metived the following useful lives:

Cryogenic Shipper 3 year
Furniture and fixture 7 year
Machinery and equipme 5-7 year:
Leasehold improvemen Lesser of lease term or estimated usefu

Betterments, renewals and extraordinary repairs éixéend the lives of the assets are capitalizederorepairs ar
maintenance charges are expensed as incurred.obhermd related accumulated depreciation and aratidh applicable to ass
retired are removed from the accounts, and the@alimss on disposition is recognized in currergrations.

Intangible Asset:

Intangible assets are comprised of patents anértratks and software development costs. The Comgeitalizes cos
of obtaining patents and trademarks which are draatt using the straighine method over their estimated useful life ofefiyears
The Company capitalizes certain costs related ftvace developed for internal use. Software develept costs incurred during 1
preliminary or maintenance project stages are esqebas incurred, while costs incurred during th@iegtion development stage
capitalized and amortized using the strailjit-method over the estimated useful life of thévgare, which is five years. Capitaliz
costs include purchased materials and costs oicesrincluding the valuation of warrants issueddnsultants.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company assesses the recoverability of its-limed assets by determining whether the depreciatind amortizatic
of long-lived assets over their remaining lives barrecovered through projected undiscounted daglsf The amount of lontived
asset impairment is measured based on fair valdasacharged to operations in the period in whimigHived asset impairment
determined by management. Manufacturing fixed asaet subject to obsolescence potential as resuthanges in custom
demands, manufacturing process changes and changeserials used. The Company is not currentlyrawd any such chang
that would cause impairment to the value of its ofacturing fixed assets.

Stoclk-based Compensation

We recognize compensation costs for all stock-baseakds made to employees and directors. The &iirevof stock-
based awards is estimated at grant date using ldek-Bcholes option pricing model and the portion tisatiltimately expected
vest is recognized as compensation cost over thesite service period.

We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model tireste the fair value of stodkased awards. The determination of
value using the Black-Scholes optiprieing model is affected by our stock price aslvesl assumptions regarding a numbe
complex and subjective variables, including expéaock price volatility, riskree interest rate, expected dividends and praj
employee stock option exercise behaviors. We estitih@ expected term based on the contractualdéthe awards and employees’
exercise and expected post-vesting termination\ieha

At March 31, 2011, there was $286,821 of total cognized compensation cost related to mested stock options, whi
is expected to be recognized over a remaining weghaverage vesting period of 1.83 years.

Issuance of Stock for No-Cash Consideration

All transactions in which goods or services are ¢basideration received by na@mployees for the issuance of eq
instruments are accounted for based on the fairevaf the consideration received or the fair valti¢he equity instrument issuu
whichever is more reliably measurable. The measen¢mate used to determine the fair value of theétginstrument issued is t
earlier of the date on which the third-party perfance is complete or the date on which it is prib#iat performance will occur.
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Derivative Liabilities

Our issued and outstanding common stock purchaseamtsa and embedded conversion features previdvsited a
equity pursuant to the derivative treatment exeomptvere no longer afforded equity treatment, ardf#ir value of these comm
stock purchase warrants and embedded conversiturdsasome of which have exercise price resetifestand some that wi
issued with convertible debt, from equity to lidyilstatus as if these warrants were treated aigadive liability since their date
issue. The common stock purchase warrants werssutd with the intent of effectively hedging aoyufe cash flow, fair value
any asset, liability or any net investment in aefgn operation. The warrants do not qualify for gedccounting, and as such,
future changes in the fair value of these warrarlishe recognized currently in earnings until suthe as the warrants are exerc
or expire. These common stock purchase warrant®ttiade in an active securities market, and ab,sue estimate the fair value
these warrants using the Black-Scholes optionmmianodel.

Convertible Debentures

If a conversion feature of conventional convertib&bt is not accounted for as a derivative instminaad provides for
rate of conversion that is below market value, feiture is characterized as a beneficial convergature (“BCF”).A BCF is
recorded by the Company as a debt discount. Irethiseumstances, the convertible debt will be rdedrnet of the discount rela
to the BCF. The Company amortizes the discounmtirést expense over the life of the debt usingtfeetive interest method.

Deferred Financing Cost:

Deferred financing costs represent costs incurnedonnection with the issuance of the convertibdées payable ai
private equity financing. Deferred financing coate being amortized over the term of the finandimggrument on a straigtine
basis, which approximates the effective intereghiod or netted against the gross proceeds frorityefipancings.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the provisionihef Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASBgcounting
Standards Codification (*“ASC”) 74dncome Taxes or ASC 740. As of March 31, 2011 and 2010, theeee no unrecognized t
benefits included in the accompanying balance shibet would, if recognized, affect the effectiag tates. Based on the weigh
available evidence, the Compasyhanagement has determined that it is more littelp not that the net deferred tax assets wi
be realized. Therefore, the Company has recordédl aaluation allowance against the net deferrad assets. The Company’
income tax provision consists of state minimum saxe

Our practice is to recognize interest and/or p@wltelated to income tax matters in income taxeazp. We had |
accrual for interest or penalties on our consodiddialance sheets at March 31, 2011 and 2010,atesgde and have not recogniz
interest and/or penalties in the consolidated statg of operations for the year ended March 31,128e are subject to taxation
the United States and various state jurisdictiéssof March 31, 2011, the Company is no longeracito U.S. federal examinatic
for year before 2007 and for California franchisel ancome tax examinations before 2006. Howevethéoextent allowed by la
the taxing authorities may have the right to exangrior periods where net operating losses werergéed and carried forward, ¢
make adjustments up to the amount of the net dpgrhiss carry forward amount. The Company is notently under examinatit
by U.S. federal or state jurisdictions.

New Accounting Pronouncemen

In August 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Stansl&afddate No. 20105, Measuring Liabilities at Fair Value, or A
2010905, which amends ASC 820 to provide clarificatidnaocircumstance in which a quoted price in anvactnarket for a
identical liability is not available. A reportingntity is required to measure fair value using onenore of the following methods: 1
valuation technique that uses a) the quoted pricthe identical liability when traded as an assebp quoted prices for simil
liabilities (or similar liabilities when traded assets) and/or 2) a valuation technique that isistent with the principles of ASC 8.
ASU 201005 also clarifies that when estimating the fairueabf a liability, a reporting entity is not regesdr to adjust to incluc
inputs relating to the existence of transfer restns on that liability. The adoption did not havenaterial impact on our consolide
financial statements.

In August 2010, the FASB issued an exposure drafease accounting that would require entitiestmgnize assets ¢
liabilities arising from lease contracts on thedoak sheet. The proposed exposure draft stateledisaes and lessors should apj
“right-of-use model”in accounting for all leases. Under the proposedehdessees would recognize an asset for the tighse th
leased asset, and a liability for the obligationmake rental payments over the lease term. The lesm is defined as the long
possible term that is “more likely than ndtf occur. The accounting by a lessor would reflectetained exposure to the risks
benefits of the underlying leased asset. A lessaridvrecognize an asset representing its righeteive lease payments based ol
expected term of the lease. Comments on this expabaft were due by December 15, 2010 and thé staadard is expected to
issued in the second quarter of 2011. The Comparyg dot expect the proposed standard, as curmatfied, will have a mater
impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

Changes in United States interest rates would taffex interest earned on our cash and cash eqnisaénd intere
expense on our revolving credit facility.

Based on our overall cash and cash equivalentsestteate exposure at March 31, 2011, a te@n- change in intere
rates, based on historical movements, would no¢ lamaterial adverse effect on our financial positr results of operations.

All outstanding amounts under our Revolving Créditility bear interest at a variable rate equah®lenders prime rat
plus a margin of 1.50% or 5.0%, whichever is higlaterest is payable on a monthly basis and ma@p®x us to market risk due
changes in interest rates. As of March 31, 2011had $90,388 outstanding under our Revolving Crgddility. The interest rate
March 31, 2011 was 5.00%. A 10% change in intasts on our Revolving Credit Facility would nowveehad a material effect
our net loss for the year ended March 31, 2011.

We have operated primarily in the United Statescokdingly, we have not had any significant expostareforeigr
currency rate fluctuations.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Reference is made to the consolidated financi&stants included in this Report at pages F-1 tHidug1.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedsuurdhe term “disclosure controls and proceduredéfifed ir
Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities and ExchangefAto34 (the “Exchange Actiefers to the controls and other procedures
company that are designed to ensure that informatguired to be disclosed by a company in the rtepbat it files under t
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarizedegpuited within the required time periods. Undex supervision and with t
participation of our management, including our Eleeecutive officer and chief financial officer, vilave conducted an evaluatior
the effectiveness of the design and operation of disclosure controls and procedures, as of Maldch2®11. Based on tt
evaluation, our president and chief executive effiand our chief financial officer concluded thatr alisclosure controls a
procedures were effective as of March 31, 201htuee the timely disclosure of required informatiemur Securities and Exchar
Commission filings.

Because of inherent limitations, internal contreko financial reporting may not prevent or detedsstatements.
addition, the design of any system of control isdshupon certain assumptions about the likelihdddtare events, and there car
no assurance that any design will succeed in aitfgets stated goals under all future events, ndétendow remote. According!
even effective internal control over financial refirg can only provide reasonable assurance okauatg their control objectives.

(b) Management’'s Report on Internal Control Ovendicial ReportingManagemens Report on Internal Control Oy
Financial Reporting which appears on the followragye is incorporated herein by this reference.

(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Rejingy. There have been no changes in our internal comivel
financial reporting during the fourth quarter oétfiscal year ended March 31, 2011 that have naditeaffected, or are reasona
likely to materially affect, our internal controber financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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CRYOPORT, INC.
MANAGEMENT’'S REPORT ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of the Company is responsible tabkshing and maintaining effective internal cahtover financie
reporting and for the assessment of the effectis&é internal control over financial reporting.eT@ompanys internal control ovi
financial reporting is a process designed, as ddfiim Rule 13a5(f) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1984provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilityirdntial reporting and the preparation of constéidafinancial statements -
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles.

The Company’s internal control over financial repay is supported by written policies and procedutet:

. pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaoeasle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thangsactions and dispositic
of the Compan’s assets

. provide reasonable assurance that transactionseaoeded as necessary to permit preparation ofotidased financic
statements in accordance with generally acceptesuating principles, and that receipts and expenetit of the Compal
are being made only in accordance with authorinatf the Compar's management and directors;

. provide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, vsalisposition of th
Compan’s assets that could have a material effect ondhsatidated financial statemen

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtover financial reporting may not prevent or aetenisstatement
Projections of any evaluation of effectivenessutiife periods are subject to the risk that contmdy become inadequate becaus
changes in conditions, or that the degree of caampé with the policies or procedures may detemorat

In connection with the preparation of the Compangnnual consolidated financial statements, managerof the
Company has undertaken an assessment of the effieetis of the Compargyinternal control over financial reporting basat
criteria established in Internal Control 4ategrated Framework issued by the Committee ofnSpong Organizations of t
Treadway Commission (“the COSO Framework”). Managetis assessment included an evaluation of thgdexithe Company’
internal control over financial reporting and tegtiof the operational effectiveness of the Compainyternal control over financ
reporting.

Based on this assessment, management has conchatetthe Companyg’ internal control over financial reporting v
effective as of March 31, 2011.

This annual report does not include an attestatéport of the Companyg’ registered public accounting firm regarc
internal control over financial reporting. Managentie report was not subject to attestation b then@anys registered publ
accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules of 8exurities and Exchange Commission that permitCitbepany to provide on
management’s report in this Annual Report.

By: /s/ LARRY G. STAMBAUGH By: /s/ CATHERINE M. DoLL
Larry G. Stambaugt Catherine M. Dol
President & Chief Executiv Chief Financial Office

Officer, and Directo

June 27, 2011
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PART 1lI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information required by this Item regarding directors, executive officers and committees aftmeard of directors
incorporated by reference to the information sethfainder the captions “Election of Directors” atexecutive Compensation &
Related Mattersin our 2011 Definitive Proxy Statement to be filwdhin 120 days after the end of our fiscal yeadeh March 3!
2011 (the “2011 Definitive Proxy Statement”).

Information required by this Item regarding Sectibf(a) reporting compliance is incorporated by nefee to th
information set forth under the caption “Sectiorfad)6Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliandga”our 2011 Definitive Prox
Statement.

Information required by this Item regarding our eodf ethics is incorporated by reference to thermftion set fort
under the caption “Corporate Governance” in Paftthis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is incorpeby reference to the information set forth urttiercaption Executive
Compensation and Related Matteirs’bur 2011 Definitive Proxy Statement to be fileihin 120 days after the end of our fiscal y
ended March 31, 2011.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item is incorp@atoy reference to the information set forth urttiercaption Security
Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers areftt@in Beneficial Ownersin our 2011 Definitive Proxy Statement to be f
within 120 days after the end of our fiscal yeadeshMarch 31, 2011.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is incorp@aty reference to the information set forth urttiercaptions Certair
Relationships and Related Transactions” and “Corsggan Committee Interlocks and Insider Particqoatiin our 2011 Definitiv:
Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days after ¢nd of our fiscal year ended March 31, 2011.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is incorpeditby reference to the information set forth untex captiol
“Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Feéeur 2011 Definitive Proxy Statement to be filwidhin 120 days after tt
end of our fiscal year ended March 31, 2011.
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PART IV
ITEM 15: Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(&) Financial Statements

(1) Index to Consolidated Financial Stateme

The financial statements required by this itemsatemitted in a separate section beginning on p-1 of this report

Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEinm F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2011 @hd F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations the yearstel@drch 31, 2011 and 20 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity (Deficit) for each years ended March 31, 2@hd 201( F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeraded March 31, 2011 and 2C F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem F-8

2. Financial Statement Schedu

All financial statement schedules are omitted beeatlney were not required or the required inforamais included in tr
Consolidated Financial Statements and the relat#d\theretc

3. Exhibit Index
See Exhibit Inde:
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CRYOPORT, INC.
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEing F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 20d 2@h0 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeaded March 31, 2011 and 2C F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity (Deficit) for the years ended March 31, 2@ht 201( F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the y&aided March 31, 2011 and 2C F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem F-8
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors of
CryoPort, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of CryoPort, Inc. (the “Compang®) of March 31, 2011 and 20
and the related consolidated statements of opestitockholderséquity (deficit) and cash flows for the years thlerded. Thes
consolidated financial statements are the respiitsibf the Companys management. Our responsibility is to expresspamian or
these consolidated financial statements based oaumlits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBio(United States). Thc
standards require that we plan and perform thetsudi obtain reasonable assurance about whethecahsolidated financi
statements are free of material misstatement. Atfit ancludes examining, on a test basis, evidenggpasrting the amounts a
disclosures in the consolidated financial stateseftte Company is not required to have, nor were@mgaged to perform, an at
of its internal control over financial reportingu@audits included consideration of internal cohtneer financial reporting as a be
for designing audit procedures that are appropiiatde circumstances, but not for the purposexgir@ssing an opinion on t
effectiveness of the Compamyinternal control over financial reporting. Acciorgly, we express no such opinion. An audit
includes assessing the accounting principles usddsinificant estimates made by management, alsasetvaluating the over
financial statement presentation. We believe thataodits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaerferred to above present fairly, in all matergspects, the financial position
CryoPort, Inc. at March 31, 2011 and 2010, andrdiselts of its operations and its cash flows fer years then ended in conforn
with accounting principles generally accepted m lthmited States of America.

/s/ KMJ Corbin & Company LLP

Costa Mesa, California
June 27, 2011
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CRYOPORT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

March 31,
2011 2010
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 9,278,44. $ 3,629,88
Restricted cas 91,16¢ 90,40:
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $9,1020h1 and $1,500 in 20: 55,79 81,03¢
Inventories 44,22 —
Other current asse 528,04! 104,01-
Total current asse 9,997,67! 3,905,341
Property and equipment, r 669,58( 559,24
Intangible assets, n 354,85: 311,96!
Deposits and other assi 9,35¢ —
Total asset $ 11,031,46 $ 4,776,54
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expel $ 506,88 $ 823,65:
Accrued compensation and related expe 402,74t 312,00:
Current portion of convertible debentures payatét,of discount of $197,226 in 2011 anc
in 2010 1,979,40; 200,00
Line of credit and accrued inter¢ 90,38¢ 90,38¢
Current portion of related party notes paye 102,00( 150,00(
Derivative liabilities 156,49 334,36:
Total current liabilities 3,237,92i 1,910,401
Related party notes payable and accrued interesstfrcurrent portiol 1,423,41. 1,478,25
Convertible debentures payable, net of currentiqgroend discount of $8,842 in 2011 and
$728,109 in 2010, respective 421,72t 2,302,45!
Total liabilities 5,083,05! 5,691,12.
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder' equity (deficit):
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 250,000,000 stard®rized; 27,504,583 and 8,136,6:
shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 201 2@1@ respectivel 27,50¢ 8,131
Additional paic-in capital 58,016,99 45,021,09
Accumulated defici (52,096,08) (45,943,80)
Total stockholder equity (deficit) 5,948,40! (914,579
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity (deficit) $ 11,031,46 $ 4,776,54

See accompanying notes.
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CRYOPORT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenue:!
Cost of revenue

Gross lost

Operating expense
Selling, general and administrati
Research and developmt
Total operating expens

Loss from operation

Other (expense) incom
Interest incomt
Interest expens
Loss on sale of property and equipm
Change in fair value of derivative liabiliti
Total other expense, n

Loss before income taxi

Income taxe:

Net loss
Net loss per common share, basic and dil
Basic and diluted weighted average common shartssaodling

See accompanying notes.

F-4

Years Ended March 31,

2011 2010
$ 47550 $ 117,95(
1,302,98 717,71(
(827,48 (599,75
4,320,46. 3,312,63
449,12 284,84
4,769,59 3,597,48;
(5,597,07) (4,197,23)
15,57: 8,16¢
(618,76} (7,028,68)

— (9,182)

49,59( 5,576,97'
(553,60 (1,452,72)
(6,150,67) (5,649,96)
1,60( 1,60(

$ (6,152,27) $ (5,651,56)
$ (0.46) % (1.19)
13,301,76 5,011,05
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CRYOPORT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DE FICIT)

Balance at March 31, 20(

Cumulative effect related to adoption of new
accounting principle

Issuance of common stock for conversion of
convertible notes payable including accrue
interest

Issuance of common stock for conversion of
convertible debentures and accrued inte

Reclassification of derivative liability to
additional paid-in capital upon conversion ¢
convertible notes and debentu

Reclassification of derivative liability to
additional paid-in capital upon effectively
fixing conversion feature and warrant pr

Estimated fair value of warrants issued as
commission for debt financir

Issuance of common stock for servi

Exercise of warrants for cash, 1

Cashless exercise of warrants and stock op

Issuance of units in public offering, net of offeg
costs of $1,257,90

Sharebased compensation related to stock op

and warrants issued to consultants, employees

and director:
Fractional share adjustment for stock s
Net loss

Balance at March 31, 20:

Issuance of common stock for conversion of
convertible debenture

Reclassification of derivative liability to
additional pai-in capital

Reduction of accrued offering costs in connection

with February 2010 financin

Issuance of common stock for servi

Exercise of warrants and options for c.

Cashless exercise of warra

Issuance of units in private placement offering,
net of offering costs of $1,776,6!

Sharebased compensation related to stock op
and warrants issued to consultants, employ
and director:

Net loss

Balance at March 31, 20:

Additional Total
Common Stock Paid-in Accumulated Stockholder¢
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Equity (Deficit)
4,186,19. $ 4,18€ $ 25,854,26 $ (30,634,35) $ (4,775,90)
— — (4,217,73)) (9,657,89) (13,875,62)
519,18t 51¢ 1,459,68: — 1,460,20.
1,236,311 1,237 4,267,441 — 4,268,68:
— — 2,728,45! — 2,728,45!
— — 9,009,32! — 9,009,32!
— — 63,39¢ — 63,39¢
33,49( 33 166,06 — 166,09:
479,03: 47¢ 1,359,98! — 1,360,46:
15,75 16 (16) — —
1,666,66 1,661 3,740,43! — 3,742,09
— — 589,78t — 589,78t
(20) — — — —
— — — (5,651,56) (5,651,56)
8,136,61! $ 8,137 $ 45,021,09 $ (45,943,80) $ (914,579
66,66¢ 67 199,93: — 200,00(
— — 128,27¢ — 128,27¢
— — 29,067 — 29,067
13,63¢ 14 23,98t — 23,99¢
279,09: 27¢ 212,92: — 213,20:
114,06: 114 (1149 — —
18,894,50 18,89« 11,430,66 — 11,449,55
— — 971,15¢ — 971,15¢
— — — (6,152,27) (6,152,271
27,504,58 $ 27,50¢ $ 58,016,99 $ (52,096,08) $ 5,948,40!

See accompanying notes.
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CRYOPORT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended March 31,

2011 2010
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss $ (6,152,27) $ (5,651,56)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 245,47 150,09:
Amortization of deferred financing cos — 159,51¢
Amortization of debt discour 522,04: 6,417,341
Fair value of stock issued to consults — 166,09«
Share-based compensation related to stock optimhsvarrants issued to consultants,
employees and directa 477,62( 865,89!
Change in fair value of derivative instrume (49,59() (5,576,97))
Loss on sale of asse — 9,18¢
Loss on disposal of cryogenic shipp 6,517 21,28t
Interest accrued on restricted ci (765) 64¢
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl 25,24 (78,490
Inventories 16,00¢ 81,01:
Other asset (155,85) (50,219
Accounts payable and accrued expel (209,729 209,90°
Accrued warranty cos — (18,747
Accrued compensation and related expel 306,74« 105,82:
Accrued interes 57,15¢ 335,83(
Net cash used in operating activit (4,811,41) (2,853,35)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Decrease in restricted ca — 10,00(
Purchases of intangible ass (124,050 (116,949
Purchases of property and equipm (341,400 (31,926
Net cash used in investing activit| (465,45() (138,87)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of gaishfor issuance cos 11,571,28 4,046,86.
Proceeds from borrowings under convertible n — 1,321,501
Repayment of convertible debentures pay: (423,377 —
Repayment of deferred financing co (275,699 (92,520
Repayment of related party notes pay: (160,000 (120,000
Repayments of note payable to offi — (143,95()
Payment of fees associated with the exercise ofants — (76,63
Proceeds from exercise of options and warr 213,20: 1,437,101
Net cash provided by financing activiti 10,925,41 6,372,36.
Net change in cash and cash equival 5,648,55 3,380,12!
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of 3,629,88 249,75!
Cash and cash equivalents, end of \ $ 9,278,44. $ 3,629,88
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATIO
Cash paid during the year fc
Interest 39,56¢ 13,87¢
Income taxe: 1,60( 1,60(
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CRYOPORT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH INVESTING ANDIRANCING
ACTIVITIES:

Offering costs in connection with equity financimgluded in accounts payat

Settlement of accounts payable with shares of comstack

Reduction of accrued offering costs in connectidth Webruary 2010 financin

Conversion of debt to common stc

Reclassification of embedded conversion featuegtaty upon conversio

Cashless exercise of warrants and stock op

Fair value of options issued to employee in lieewagh bonu

Cumulative effect of accounting change to accunedlateficit for derivative liabilitie:

Cumulative effect of accounting change to additignaac-in capital for derivative liabilitie:

Reclassification of inventory to property and equégmt

Addition of principal due to debt modificatio

Reclassification of derivative liabilities to addital paid-in capital upon fixing conversion
feature and warrant pric

Estimated fair value of warrants issued to relgady in connection with an advisory services
agreemen

Reclassification of property and equipment to ineeers
Cumulative effect of accounting change to debtalist for derivative liabilitie:
Debt discount in connection with convertible debahcing

See accompanying notes.

Years Ended March 31,

2011 2010
$ 121,72 $ 304,76t
$ 23,99¢ $ =
$ 29,06’ $ —
$ 200,00( $ 5,728,88
$ — $ 2,728,45!
$ 114 $ 16
$ 216,00¢( $ —
$ — $ 9,657,89
$ — $ 4,217,73
$ = $ 449,22
$ — $ 646,36¢
$ 128,27¢ $ 9,009,322
$ 302,76 $ —
$ 60,22¢ $ —
$ — $ 2,595,09!
$ — $ 1,080,20.
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CRYOPORT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Acounting Policies
The Company

CryoPort, Inc. (the “Company” or “we"s a provider of an innovative cold chain frozerpping system dedicated
providing superior, affordable cryogenic shippirausions that ensure the safety, status and terperaf high value, temperati
sensitive materials. The Company has developedeffesitive reusable cryogenic transport contairfeeferred to as “shippers”
capable of transporting biological, environmentad ather temperature sensitive materials at tenyr@s below minus 150° Celsi
These dry vapor shippers are one of the first Saait alternatives to dry ice shipping and achié@plus day holding time
compared to one to two day holding times with @y assuming no re-icing during transit). The Conyfmvalue proposition com
from both providing safe transportation and an emunentally friendly, long lasting shipper, andaigh its valueadded service
that offer a simple hassle-free solution for itstomers. These value-added services include améitegased web portal that enat
the customer to conveniently initiate schedulifgpging and tracking of the progress and status sifipment, and provides fransi
temperature and custody transfer monitoring sesviok the shipper. Our service also provides a fulpdy charged shipy
containing all freight bills, customs documents aaglulatory paperwork for the entire journey of #igpper to its customers at tt
pick up location.

The Company'’s principal focus has been the furtfewelopment and commercial launch of CryoPort EsgPePortal, ai
innovative IT solution for shipping and trackingghivalue specimens through overnight shipping cangsa and it5 CryoPot
Express® Shipper, a dry vapor cryogenic shipper for thegpamt of biological and pharmaceutical materialsdn vapor cryogen
shipper is a container that uses liquid nitrogedrinvapor form, which is suspended inside a vacinsulated bottle as a refrigere
to provide storage temperatures below minus 1508i@e The dry vapor shipper is designed using vative, proprietary, ar
patented technology which prevents spillage ofitlcnitrogen and pressure build up as the liquidogien evaporates. A propriet
foam retention system is employed to ensure thatdinitrogen stays inside the vacuum containegnevhen placed upsidiswn ol
on its side as is often the case when in the cystbé shipping company. Biological specimens doeesl in a specimen chamt
referred to as a “wellinside the containers and refrigeration is provitgdharmless cold nitrogen gas evolving from thouili
nitrogen entrapped within the foam retention syswnrounding the well. Biological specimens tramggub using our cryoger
shipper can include clinical samples, diagnostigs,cell pharmaceutical products (such as canaecines, semen and embryos,
infectious substances) and other items that reqaird/or are protected through continuous exposardrdzen or cryogen
temperatures (less than minus 150° Celsius).

The Company entered into its first strategic relathip with a global courier on January 13, 201thwiederal Expre
Corporation (“FedEx"pursuant to which the Company leases to FedEx suntber of its cryogenic shippers that FedEx, frane
to time, orders for its customers. Under this agre®, FedEx has the right to and shall, on a exaiusive basis, promote market
sell transportation of the Company’s shippers asdelated valuedded goods and services, such as its data loggbrportal an
planned CryoPort Expre$sSmart Pak System. On January 24, 2011 we annouhat&edEx had launched its deep frozen shig
solution using our CryoPort Expre8sDry Shipper. On September 2, 2010, the Companyremhtato an agreement with DI
Express (USA), Inc. (“"DHL") that gives DHL life smmce customers direct access to the Company’sbaséd order entry a
tracking portal to order the CryoPort Expreéss$hipper and receive preferred DHL shipping ratése &greement covers DI
shipping discounts that may be used to supportGhmpany’s customers using the CryoPort Expresshipping solution. Ir
connection with the agreement, the Company hagrated its proprietary web portal to DHLtracking and billing systems
provide DHL life science customers with a seamigag of shipping their critical biological materialorldwide. The IT integratic
with DHL was completed during the Company’s fouytrarter of fiscal year 2011.

Basis of Presentatiol

The accompanying consolidated financial statemdrage been prepared in accordance with accountimgiples
generally accepted in the United States of AmgfidaS”) (“GAAP").

Reverse Stock Spl

On February 5, 2010, we effected a 10faeverse stock split of all of our issued and tamnding shares of common st
(the “Reverse Stock Split"by filing a Certificate of Amendment to Amended aRestated Articles of Incorporation with
Secretary of State of Nevada. The par value ancbruwf authorized shares of our common stock reethimchanged. The num
of shares and per share amounts included in theotidated financial statements and the accompanyiatgs have been adjustes
reflect the Reverse Stock Split retroactively. Usl@therwise indicated, all references to numbeshafes, per share amounts
earnings per share information contained in thi@regive effect to the Reverse Stock Split.
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CRYOPORT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
Principles of Consolidatior

The consolidated financial statements include ttmoants of CryoPort, Inc. and its wholly owned sdiasy, CryoPor
Systems, Inc. All intercompany accounts and traitsas have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statesm@ntonformity with GAAP requires management tdkenastimates al
assumptions that affect the reported amounts eftassd liabilities and disclosure of contingerstieds and liabilities at the date of
financial statements and the reported amountsvefinges and expenses during the reporting periottsiahresults could differ fro
estimated amounts. The Compamngignificant estimates include allowances for dfullaccounts and sales returns, recoverabili
long-ived assets, allowance for inventory obsolescedeéerred taxes and their accompanying valuatigakiation of derivativ
liabilities and valuation of common stock, warraat&l stock options issued for products or services.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of castl cash equivalents, restricted cash, accoun&veble, related-
party notes payable, a line of credit, convertiliées payable, accounts payable and accrued expéisecarrying value for all su
instruments approximates fair value at March 31,128nd 2010. The difference between the fair value recorded values of 1
related party notes payable is not significant. Tloenpanys restricted cash is carried at amortized cost lwhpproximates fair vall
at March 31, 2011 and 2010.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers highly liquid investmentswitiginal maturities of 90 days or less to be caghivalents.
Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Company maintains its cash accounts in finhimséitutions. Accounts at these institutions ergured by the Fede!
Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDICWith basic deposit coverage limits up to $250,0@0 pwner. In addition to the ba
insurance deposit coverage, the FDIC is provideamporary unlimited coverage for noninterbsring transaction accounts fr
December 31, 2010 through December 31, 2012. AciMad, 2011 and 2010, the Company had $8,701,4d®%a490,116 whic
exceeded the FDIC insurance limit, respectively,cash balances, including restricted cash. The @osmperforms ongoir
evaluations of these institutions to limit its centration risk exposure.

Restricted casl

The Company has invested cash in a one year testraertificate of deposit bearing interest at 1%icl serves ¢
collateral for borrowings under a line of creditegment (see Note 6). At March 31, 2011 and 20#®palance in the certificate
deposit was $91,169 and $90,404, respectively.

Customers

The Company grants credit to customers within th®.@nd to a limited number of international custsnand does n
require collateral. Revenues from internationatauers are generally secured by advance paymeogpefor a limited number
established foreign customers. The Company gegeratjuires advance or credit card payments foralnievenues from ne
customers. The Comparsyability to collect receivables is affected by mommic fluctuations in the geographic areas and strebs
served by the Company. Reserves for uncollectibleunts are provided based on past experience ameafic analysis of tt
accounts, which management believes is suffici&otounts receivable at March 31, 2011 and 201(atef reserves for doubt
accounts of approximately $9,100 and $1,500, res@ég. Although the Company expects to collect amis due, actual collectia
may differ from the estimated amounts.

The Company has foreign revenues primarily in Eargpanada, India and Australia. During fiscal ye3$1 and 201
the Company had foreign revenues of approximat2B2$%00 and $67,000, respectively, which constitutpproximately 51% ai
56% of total revenues, respectively.

The majority of the Company’ customers are in the biotechnology, pharmacéutca life science industrie
Consequently, there is a concentration of receasmklithin these industries, which is subject tonmalr credit risk. At March 3
2011, annual revenues from three customers acabdiotes8% of our total revenues. At March 31, 20a0nual net revenues fr(
two customers accounted for 51% of our total reesndhe Company maintains reserves for bad debtsaod losses, in tl
aggregate, historically have not exceeded our astisn

Inventories



The Companys inventories consist of $37,739 in raw material 86,485 in finished goods, which represents acces
that are sold and shipped to customers along véthperuse containers and not returned to the Company tivitcontainers at t
culmination of the customer’s shipping cycle.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost orentrestimated market value. Cost is determinedgudia standard cc
method which approximates the first-in, first-tgpge method. Inventories are reviewed periodicdily slow-noving or obsolet
status. The Company write downs the carrying valués inventories to reflect situations in whidmetcost of inventories is r
expected to be recovered. Once established, dwitais of inventories are considered permanent adgrgs to the cost basis of
obsolete or excess inventories. Raw materials amdhed goods include material costs less resefoesobsolete or exce
inventories. The Company evaluates the current lelveventories considering historical trends anter factors, and based on
evaluation, records adjustments to reflect invaesoat its net realizable value. These adjustmargsestimates, which could vi
significantly from actual results if future econamionditions, customer demand, competition or otk&vant factors differ fro
expectations. These estimates require us to maessments about future demand for the Comgamgducts in order to categot
the status of such inventories items as slow-mqvoigsolete or in excess-oked. These estimates are subject to the on
accuracy of the Company'’s forecasts of market ¢, industry trends, competition and other fexto

In fiscal year 2010, the Company changed its ofersitand now provides shipping containers to itg#@mers and charc
a fee in exchange for the use of the container. Jompanys arrangements are similar to the accounting stdnida leases sint
they convey the right to use the containers ovg@erdod of time. The Company retains title to thentainers and provides
customers the use of the container for a spec#igpping cycle. At the culmination of the custonseshipping cycle, the containe
returned to the Company. As a result, during tkedli year 2010, the Company reclassified the coataifrom inventory to fixe
assets upon commencement of the per-use contamgnam.
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CRYOPORT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Cnjoghippers, which comprise of 84% of the Compamgt propert
and equipment balance at March 31, 2011, are diepedcusing the straiglihie method over their estimated useful lives ak¢
years. Equipment and furniture are depreciatedgutie straigt-line method over their estimated useful lives (galhe three t
seven years) and leasehold improvements are aewuging the straighthe method over the estimated useful life of theed or th
lease term, whichever is shorter. Equipment acdquireder capital leases is amortized over the estunaseful life of the assets
term of the lease, whichever is shorter and inaludedepreciation expense.

Betterments, renewals and extraordinary repairs éixtend the lives of the assets are capitalizederorepairs ar
maintenance charges are expensed as incurred.obhearmd related accumulated depreciation and amatidh applicable to ass
retired are removed from the accounts, and the @alibss on disposition is recognized in currergrations.

Intangible Asset:

Intangible assets are comprised of patents anérratks and software development costs. The Compapitalizes cos
of obtaining patents and trademarks which are draatt using the straighine method over their estimated useful life ofefiyears
The Company capitalizes certain costs related ftwvace developed for internal use. Software develept costs incurred during 1
preliminary or maintenance project stages are esqebas incurred, while costs incurred during th@iegtion development stage
capitalized and amortized using the strailjit-method over the estimated useful life of tbévgare, which is five years. Capitaliz
costs include purchased materials and costs oicesrincluding the valuation of warrants issueddnsultants.

Long-lived Assets

If indicators of impairment exist, we assess theoverability of the affected lonlived assets by determining whether
carrying value of such assets can be recoveredighraindiscounted future operating cash flows. Ipamment is indicated, v
measure the amount of such impairment by compahagair value to the carrying value. We believe fhture cash flows to |
received from the long-lived assets will exceed desets'carrying value, and accordingly, we have not recagghany impairme!
losses through March 31, 2011.

Deferred Financing Cost:

Deferred financing costs represent costs incurnedonnection with the issuance of the convertibdées payable ai
private equity financing. Deferred financing costtated to the issuance of debt are being amortized the term of the financi
instrument using the effective interest method ahdkeferred financing costs from equity financings aetted against the gr
proceeds received from the equity financings.

During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Companyried $465,023 of offering costs in connectiothwhe privat
placement that closed in August 2010 and Octob#0 20hd $1,311,582 of offering costs from the pevplacement that closed
February 2011; both of which were charged to paidapital and netted against the proceeds recaivié private placements. As
March 31, 2011, offering costs of $121,727 relatedhe February 2011 private placement were incudeaccounts payable &
accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidaladde sheet.

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Companypteted a public offering of units consisting o8@6,667 shares
common stock and 1,666,667 warrants to purchasesloae of common stock at an exercise price of 3@ gross proceeds
$5,000,001 and net proceeds of approximately $30BZ2(the “February 2010 Public OfferingBach unit consisting of one sh:
together with one warrant to purchase one share,psiaed at $3.00. In connection with this publftedng the Company incurr
financing costs of $1,257,904, which consisted prim of placement agent fees, accounting, legal filing fees and were nett
against the proceeds of the offering upon completio

During the year ended March 31, 2010, and in cameevith the issuance of convertible notes paydbée Note 8), tt
Company paid financing costs, which consisted priipmaf placement agent fees, accounting, legal &ihdg fees, and wel
amortized over the life of the debt. Amortizatidhdeferred financing costs using the effective ieg¢ method was $0 and $159,
for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, réspBg and were included in interest expense m dlscompanying consolida
statements of operations. Additionally, during $®ar ended March 31, 2011, the Company made pagnwn$275,699 i
connection with the deferred financing fees reldtethe February 2010 Public Offering, which wemelided in accounts paya
and accrued expenses in the accompanying consalithalance sheet at March 31, 2010.

Accrued Warranty Cost

Estimated costs of the Compasytandard warranty were included with productsoaddditional cost to the customer fi
period up to one year and were recorded as acevaewnty costs at the time of product sale. Cadtsted to servicing the stand



warranty were charged to the accrual as incurred.
Convertible Debentures

If a conversion feature of conventional convertib&bt is not accounted for as a derivative instminag@d provides for
rate of conversion that is below market value, feiture is characterized as a beneficial convergature (“BCF”).A BCF is
recorded by the Company as a debt discount. Theectible debt is recorded net of the discount eslab the BCF. The Comps
amortizes the discount to interest expense oveifthef the debt using the effective interest natethod.

Derivative Liabilities

Effective April 1, 2009, certain of the Compasyssued and outstanding common stock purchasemtarand embedd
conversion features previously treated as equitssyant to the derivative treatment exemption weselanger afforded equi
treatment, and the fair value of these common smaikchase warrants and embedded conversion feasoese of which ha
exercise price reset features and some that wawredswith convertible debt, were reclassified frequity to liability status as if the
warrants were treated as a derivative liabilityceitheir date of issue. The common stock purchaseawts were not issued with
intent of effectively hedging any future cash fldair value of any asset, liability or any net istrment in a foreign operation. 1
warrants do not qualify for hedge accounting, aedsach, all future changes in the fair value ofs¢hevarrants are recogni:
currently in earnings until such time as the wasare exercised, expire or the related rights lmees waived. These common si
purchase warrants do not trade in an active sésinharket, and as such, the Company estimatefaithealue of these warrar
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model (“Bd&®choles”) (see Note 9).
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CRYOPORT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is subject to routine claims and lttaga incidental to our business. In the opinionnafnagement, tl
resolution of such claims is not expected to haweaterial adverse effect on our operating resulfsancial position.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under theigioa of the Financial Accounting Standards Boé#eASB”)
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 74bhcome Taxes or ASC 740. As of March 31, 2011 and 2010, thesxe nc
unrecognized tax benefits included in the accomipangonsolidated balance sheets that would, ifgazed, affect the effective t
rates. Based on the weight of available eviderw Gompanys management has determined that it is more litten not that tr
net deferred tax assets will not be realized. Theee the Company has recorded a full valuatioovedince against the net defel
tax assets. The Company’s income tax provisionistmef state minimum taxes.

The Companys policy is to recognize interest and/or penaltedated to income tax matters in income tax expemnbe
Company had no accrual for interest or penaltiegconsolidated balance sheets at March 31, 20812010, respectively and |
not recognized interest and/or penalties in thescolithated statement of operations for the yearg@mdiarch 31, 2011 and 2010. ~
Company is subject to taxation in the U.S. andoeristate jurisdictions. As of March 31, 2011, @wmpany is no longer subjeci
U.S. federal examinations for years before 2007 Nate 14 and for California franchise and income ¢éaxaminations for yea
before 2006 per Note 14. However, to the extewtnadt by law, the taxing authorities may have tightrio examine prior perio
where net operating losses were generated anéddanward, and make adjustments up to the amduhieanet operating loss ca
forward amount. The Company is not currently uredemination by U.S. federal or state jurisdictions.

Supply Concentration Risk

The component parts for our products are primaminufactured at third party manufacturing faciiiti#he Company al
has a warehouse at our corporate offices in LakedtoCalifornia, where the Company is capable afufiacturing certain parts ¢
fully assembles its products. Most of the compaosiehat the Company uses in the manufacture ofrdadyets are available frc
more than one qualified supplier. For some comptmedmowever, there are relatively few alternaterses! of supply and tl
establishment of additional or replacement supplieay not be accomplished immediately, however,Gbmpany has identifi¢
alternate qualified suppliers which the Companyévels could replace existing suppliers. Should ¢iwisur, the Company belie\
that with its current level of shippers and prodhrctrate the Company has enough to cover a fowixaveek gap in maximu
disruption of production.

There are no specific agreements with any manufactwor are there any long term commitments toraagufacturer. Tt
Company believes that any of the manufactures wtlyreised by it could be replaced within a shontigu of time as none have
proprietary component or a substantial capital stment specific to its products.

Revenue Recognitio

The Company provides shipping containers to thestamers and charges a fee in exchange for thefube containe
The Companys arrangements are similar to the accounting stdrfda leases since they convey the right to usectintainers ovet
period of time. The Company retains title to thatainers and provides its customers the use ofdheainer for a specified shippi
cycle. At the culmination of the customer’s shigpycle, the container is returned to the Company.

The Company recognizes revenue for the use ofttippar at the time of the delivery of the shippethe end user of tl
enclosed materials, and at the time that collelitais reasonably certain. Revenue is based osgnet of discounts and allowanc

Accounting for Shipping and Handling Revenue, Feasd Cost:

The Company classifies amounts billed for shippamgl handling as revenue. Shipping and handling #@escosts a
included in cost of sales in the accompanying clidsi@d statements of operations.

Research and Development Expent

Expenditures relating to research and developmemteapensed in the period incurred. Research anélamen
expenses to date have consisted primarily of casteciated with the continually improving the feasuof the CryoPort Expre$s
System including the web based customer servictlpand the CryoPort Expre§sShippers. Further, these efforts are expect
lead to the introduction of shippers of varyingesibased on market requirements, constructed @rloast materials and utilizi
high volume manufacturing methods that will makpractical to provide the cryogenic packages offdrg the CryoPort Express
System. Other research and development effort kaa directed toward improvements to the liquidogian retention system
render it more reliable in the general shippingiemment and to the design of the outer packaghilternative phase chan
materials in place of liquid nitrogen may be usgihtrease the potential markets these shipperserae such as ambient ar-8°C



markets.
Stoclk-based Compensation

The Company recognizes compensation expense fatalkbased awards made to employees and directors. it
value of stock-based awards is estimated at grat& dsing Blackscholes and the portion that is ultimately expedtedest i
recognized as compensation cost over the reqgisitéce period.

Since stockbased compensation is recognized only for thosedsathat are ultimately expected to vest, the Compea:
applied an estimated forfeiture rate to unvestedrdsyfor the purpose of calculating compensatiost. cbhese estimates will
revised, if necessary, in future periods if acfoaleitures differ from estimates. Changes in fitfiee estimates impact compensa
cost in the period in which the change in estinwateurs. The estimated forfeiture rates at March2®1,1 and 2010 was zero as
Company has not had a significant history of fadiess and does not expect forfeitures in the future

The Company uses Black-Scholes to estimate thev&hire of stocksased awards. The determination of fair value t
Black-Scholes is affected by its stock price as wellssumptions regarding a number of complex and stibgeeariables, includin
expected stock price volatility, risk-free intereste, expected dividends and projected employak stption exercise behaviors.

At March 31, 2011, there was $286,821 of total oognized compensation cost related to mested stock options, whi
is expected to be recognized over a remaining wethaverage vesting period of approximately 1.88ye

The Company’s stock-based compensation plans scestied further in Note 11.
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CRYOPORT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
Issuance of Stock for No-Cash Consideration

The Company accounts for equity issuances to employees in accordance with accounting guidanceefity
instruments that are issued to other than emplofgrescquiring, or in conjunction with selling, gi®and services. All transactic
in which goods or services are the consideratiaeived for the issuance of equity instruments aeanted for based on the -
value of the consideration received or the fairugabf the equity instrument issued, whichever igeneliably measurable. T
measurement date used to determine the fair vdltigeoequity instrument issued is the earlier & thate on which the thirgarty
performance is complete or the date on whichptrabable that performance will occur. See Notedrhfore details.

Basic and Diluted Loss Per Sha

Basic loss per common share is computed basedeowdlghted average number of shares outstandiriggdtire perioc
Diluted loss per share is computed by dividing loss by the weighted average shares outstandingrésg all dilutive potenti
common shares were issued. For the years endechiar@2011 and 2010, the Company was in a lossigosind the basic a
diluted loss per share are the same since thet @ffstock options, warrants and convertible ngiggable on loss per share was anti-
dilutive and thus not included in the diluted Iges share calculation. The impact under the trgastack method of dilutive sto
options and warrants and thecifnverted method of convertible debt would haveilted in weighted average common sh
outstanding of 16,088,589 and 8,472,977 for thesyeaded March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

In addition, in computing the dilutive effect of ragertible securities, the numerator is adjusteddd back the afteix
amount of interest, if any, recognized in the pgdssociated with any convertible debt.

Segment Reportin
We currently operate in only one segment.
Subsequent Event

The Company has evaluated subsequent events thtibeidifing date of this Form 1B-and determined that no subseq!
events have occurred that would require recognitiothe consolidated financial statements or dmale in the notes thereto ot
than as discussed in the accompanying notes.
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CRYOPORT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
New Accounting Pronouncemen

In August 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Stanslatgdate (“ASU”) No. 201®@5, Measuring Liabilities at Fair Valt
or ASU 201005, which amends ASC 820 to provide clarificatidra@ircumstance in which a quoted price in anvactharket for a
identical liability is not available. A reportingntity is required to measure fair value using onenore of the following methods: 1
valuation technique that uses a) the quoted pricthe identical liability when traded as an assebp quoted prices for simil
liabilities (or similar liabilities when traded assets) and/or 2) a valuation technique that isistent with the principles of ASC 8.
ASU 201005 also clarifies that when estimating the fairueabf a liability, a reporting entity is not regesr to adjust to incluc
inputs relating to the existence of transfer resbns on that liability. The adoption did not havenaterial impact on our consolide
financial statements.

In August 2010, the FASB issued an exposure drafease accounting that would require entitiesetmgnize assets ¢
liabilities arising from lease contracts on thedpak sheet. The proposed exposure draft stateledisaes and lessors should apj
“right-of-use model”in accounting for all leases. Under the proposedehdessees would recognize an asset for the tighse th
leased asset, and a liability for the obligationmake rental payments over the lease term. The lesm is defined as the long
possible term that is “more likely than ndtf occur. The accounting by a lessor would reflectetained exposure to the risks
benefits of the underlying leased asset. A lessaridvrecognize an asset representing its righeteive lease payments based ol
expected term of the lease. Comments on this expabaft were due by December 15, 2010 and thé staadard is expected to
issued in the second quarter of 2011. The Comparyg dot expect the proposed standard, as curmratfied, will have a mater
impact on its consolidated financial statements.

Note 2. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

March 31, March 31,
2011 2010
Raw material $ 37,73¢ $ —
Finished good 6,48¢ —

$ 44,22+ $ =

The Company’s inventories consists of accessofi@s are sold and shipped to customers along withppause
containers and are not returned to the Companygawith the containers at the culmination of thetomeer's shipping cycle
Inventories are stated at the lower of standard apgurrent estimated market value. Cost is detecthusing the standard ¢
method which approximates the first-in, first-tgpe®e method.

Note 3. Property and Equipment

Equipment and leasehold improvements and relateshaglated depreciation and amortization are aeviall

March 31,

2011 2010
Cryogenic shipper $ 689,75 $ 449,73
Furniture and fixture 3,28¢ 3,28¢
Machinery and equipme 355,30: 340,16¢
Leasehold improvemen 19,42¢ 19,42¢

1,067,77 812,61
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (398,190 (253,379

$ 669,58 $  559,24:

During its early years, the Compaaylimited revenue was derived from the sale of musable product line. T
Company’s current business plan focuses on peleasing of shipping containers and addatlie services that will be used by u
provide an end-to-end and cost-optimized shippoigt®ns.

Total depreciation and amortization expense rel&ggaroperty and equipment amounted to $164,316$&04746 for th
years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, respecti
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
Note 4. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are comprised of patents andriracks and software developed for internal uses.grbss book valu
and accumulated amortization as of March 31, 2012010 were as follows:

March 31,
2011 2010
Patents and trademar $ 91,35« $ 91,35«
Software development cos 479,13: 355,08:
570,48! 446,43
Less accumulated amortizati (215,63) (134,470

$ 354,85 $ 311,96

Amortization expense for intangible assets for ylears ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 was $81,161%68(847
respectively. All of the Company’s intangible assate subject to amortization.

Patents and Total
Years Ending March 31, Trademarks Software Intangibles
2012 $ 8,53 $ 95,80¢ $ 104,33
2013 8,563 95,80 104,33
2014 8,50¢ 77,11¢ 85,62:
2015 7,46( 29,25: 36,71
2016 7,047 16,79¢ 23,84¢

$ 40,07¢ $ 314,77 $ 354,85
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Note 5. Fair Value Measurements

The Company determines the fair value of its déirreainstruments using a thréevel hierarchy for fair valt
measurements which these assets and liabilitie$ beugrouped, based on significant levels of ote@esor unobservable inpt
Observable inputs reflect market data obtained fiodependent sources, while unobservable inputsatethe Companyg marke
assumptions. This hierarchy requires the use ofrohble market data when available. These two tgbesputs have created 1
following fair-value hierarchy:

Level 1 —Valuations based on unadjusted quoted market piicestive markets for identical securities. Cutheithe
Company does not have any items classified as Level

Level 2 —Valuations based on observable inputs (other trewell prices), such as quoted prices for simsaets at t
measurement date; quoted prices in markets thatodractive; or other inputs that are observahiteeedirectly or indirectly.

Level 3 —Valuations based on inputs that are unobservaldesanificant to the overall fair value measuremesntc
involve management judgment. The Company uses thekfcholes option pricing model to determine the failue of thi
instruments. If the inputs used to measure fainevdall in different levels of the fair value hiechy, a financial securitg’ hierarch
level is based upon the lowest level of input thatignificant to the fair value measurement.

The following table presents the Companwarrants measured at fair value on a recurrisistzes of March 31, 2011 &
March 31, 2010 classified using the valuation highg:

Level 3 Level 3
Carrying Value  Carrying Value
March 31,201  March 31, 201

Derivative Liabilities $ 156,49° $ 334,36:.

The following table provides a reconciliation oétheginning and ending balances for the Compadgtivative liabilitie
measured at fair value using Level 3 inputs:

2011 2010

Balance at April ! $ 334,36 $ —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting princigee Note 9 — 16,470,71
Derivative liability adde— warrants — 389,78:
Derivative liability adde— conversion optiol — 788,63:
Reclassification of conversion feature to equitpmugonversions of note — (2,728,45)
Reclassification of conversion feature and warrémesquity upon modification of terms (no

longer derivative instrument — (9,009,32)
Change in fair valu (49,59() (5,576,97))
Reclassification of warrants to equity upon fixiegercise prict (128,279) —
Balance at March 3: $ 156,49 $ 334,36
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Note 6. Line of Credit

On November 5, 2007, the Company secured finanfinga $200,000 one-year revolving line of credhe(t“Line”)
secured by a $200,000 certificate of deposit witfinancial institution. On November 6, 2008, then@many secured a oneal
renewal of the Line for a reduced amount of $100,0hich is secured by a $100,000 certificate ofodépwith a financie
institution. During October 2010, the Company sedua oneyear renewal of the Line for a reduced amount df,®30 which i
secured by a $90,000 certificate of deposit wifmancial institution. All borrowings under the i@ving line of credit bear variat
interest based either the prime rate plus 1.5%apaum (totaling 4.75% as of March 31, 2011) or 5.0#ichever is higher. TI
Company utilizes the funds advanced from the Lioe dapital equipment purchases to support the comialeation of th
Company’s CryoPort Expre$sOneWay Shipper. As of March 31, 2011 and 2010, thetanting balance of the Line was $90,.
including accrued interest of $388. No funds werawch against the Line during the years ended Mafdgh?011 or 2010. TI
Company recorded interest expense of $4,563 af®44or the years ended March 31, 2011 and 20%0ectively.

Note 7. Related Party Transactions
Related Party Notes Payah

As of March 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company hadesgge principal balances of $849,500 and $1,009 /&3pectively
in outstanding unsecured indebtedness owed to rilated parties, including four former members loé toard of director
representing working capital advances made to thmpgany from February 2001 through March 2005. Theses bear interest
the rate of 6% per annum and provide for aggregaiathly principal payments which began April 1, 808F $2,500, and whic
increased by an aggregate of $2,500 every ninetmdonta maximum of $10,000 per month. As of Marth2011, the aggreg:
principal payments totaled $10,000 per month. Aemyaining unpaid principal and accrued interestuis dt maturity on March
2015.

Relatedparty interest expense under these notes was ¥ arid $64,496 for the years ended March 31, 20812840
respectively. Accrued interest related to theseesiotvhich is included in related party notes payainl the accompanyil
consolidated balance sheets, amounted to $675r818618,756 as of March 31, 2011 and 2010, resebgti

Scheduled maturities of related party debt as afckl&81, 2011 are as follows:

Years Ending March 31:

2012 $ 102,00(
2013 96,00(
2014 96,00(
2015 1,231,41.

Note Payable to Former Office

In August 2006, Peter Berry, the Companjormer Chief Executive Officer, agreed to convast deferred salaries tc
longterm note payable. Interest of 6% per annum omthstanding principal balance of the note begaactwue on January 1, 20
Under the terms of this note, the Company beganake monthly payments of $3,000 to Mr. Berry inukay 2007. The note ant
portion of the accrued interest were paid in Ma&6h0 and the remaining accrued interest of $11,886 paid in full i
August 2010. Interest expense related to this wate$11,996 and $8,133 for the years ended MarcB®1L and 2010, respective
In February 2009, Mr. Berry resigned his positienGhief Executive Officer and on July 30, 2009. Berry resigned his positi
from the Board.

Consulting Agreement with Former Officer

On March 1, 2009, the Company entered into a CtinguAgreement with Peter Berry, the Companyormer Chie
Executive Officer. Mr. Berry provided the Companythwconsulting services as an independent contraéto a ten (10) mon
period from March 1, 2009 through December 31, 2@68%n advisor to the Chief Executive Officer #r&lBoard of Directors.

Relatedparty consulting fees for these services were &0 $202,010 for the years ended March 31, 2011 &id
respectively.

Advisory Services Agreement with Former Offic

On March 7, 2011 the Company entered into a ywee- Advisory Services Agreement with Marc GrossmébD. ta
provide strategic business advisory services inetuédentifying and introducing customers, advisimg sales and marketing pli



and providing financial advice. Dr. Grossman ioanfer officer of the Company and is one of the figkated parties
which CryoPort has an outstanding unsecured ddlgation. For these services, Dr. Grossman was ad@k of $125,000, which
to be amortized over the term of the agreement,isswkd a warrant to purchase 200,000 shares @dhganys common stock
an exercise price of $0.77 per share and vested igsoance. The fair value of this warrant was $882 of which the Compal

recorded $277,538 as another current asset andmezed $25,231 in selling, general and administeaéixpense for the year en
March 31, 2011 in the accompanying consolidateanfoial statements.
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Related Party Legal Service

Since June 2005, the Company had retained the $egakes of Gary C. Cannon, Attorney at Law, fonanthly retaine
fee. From June 2005 to May 2009, Mr. Cannon alseeskeas the Company’s Secretary and a member oftmepanys Board o
Directors. Mr. Cannon continued to serve as Cotgotagal Counsel for the Company and served asrabmeof the Advisor
Board. In December 2007, Mr. Cannsmhonthly retainer for legal services was increasech $6,500 per month to $9,000
month. The total amount paid to Mr. Cannon forireafees and out-gbocket expenses for the year ended March 31, 20d P@1(
was $0 and $34,350, respectively. Board fees exuefts Mr. Cannon were $0 and $5,388 for the yeaded March 31, 2011 &
2010, respectively. At March 31, 2011 and 2010,a$@d $7,788, respectively, of deferred board fees imaluded in accrue
compensation and related expenses. During thegyebad March 31, 2010, Mr. Cannon was granted hdab8557 warrants with ¢
average exercise price of $5.90 per share. All avasrgranted to Mr. Cannon were issued with anceseiprice of greater than
equal to the stock price of the Company’s sharethergrant date. On May 4, 2009, Mr. Cannon reslgrnem the Companyg’ Boar(
of Directors and in July 2009 Mr. Cannon was gi8@mdays notice that he was terminated as the gedeged counsel and advisor
the Company.

Consulting Agreement with Officer

On July 29, 2009, the Board of Directors of the @amy appointed Ms. Catherine M. Doll, a consultamthe offices ¢
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Assistantgooate Secretary, which became effective on Aug0s2009.

Ms. Doll is the owner and chief executive officer The Gilson Group, LLC. The Gilson Group, LLC pided the
Company financial and accounting consulting sesviggcluding, SEC and financial reporting includitige filing of the Si,
budgeting and forecasting and finance and accaysiistems implementations and conversions.

Relatedparty consulting fees for these services were ¥#®&7and $234,650 for the years ended March 31, 2881201(
respectively. On October 9, 2009, the CompensatimhGovernance Committee granted Ms. Doll an optigourchase 2,000 sha
of common stock at an exercise price of $4.50 peres (the closing price of the Compasgtock on the date of grant) value
$8,480 as calculated using BlaSkholes and is included in selling, general and iaidtnative expense in the accompan
consolidated statements of operations. The assangptised under Blacgeholes included: a risk free rate of 2.36%; vbtatdf
182%; an expected exercise term of 4.25 years;nanannual dividend rate. The right to exercisestoek options vested as to
1/3% of the underlying shares of common stock up@mt, with the remaining underlying shares vestingqual installments on t
first and second anniversary of the grant date.

Note 8. Convertible Debentures Payable

The Company'’s convertible debenture balances arershelow:

March 31, March 31,
2011 2010
October 2007 Debentur: $ 2,607,19 $ 3,150,97!
May 2008 Debenture — 79,59:
2,607,19i 3,230,56!
Debt discoun (206,069 (728,109
Total convertible debentures, net of discc $ 2,401,122 $ 2,502,45!
Shor-term:
Current portion of convertible debentures payat,of discount of $197,226 in 2011 and $
2010, respectivel 1,979,40; 200,00(
Long-term:
Convertible debentures payable, net of curreniguoeind discount of $8,842 in 2011 and
$728,109 in 2010, respective 421,72t 2,302,45!
Total convertible debentures, net of discc $ 2,401,12 $ 2,502,45

During the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010Ctvepany recognized an aggregate of $522,041 agd $@46 il
interest expense, respectively, due to amortizatdbrdebt discount related to the warrants and emd@dconversion featur
associated with the Company’s outstanding conertibbentures.

October 2007 and May 2008 Debentures

The Company issued convertible debentures in Oct2@/ (the “October 2007 Debenturesind in May 2008 (tt
“May 2008 Debenture” and together with the October 2007 Debentures,*Debenture”). The Debentures were issued to -



institutional investors and had an outstanding gipial balance of $2,607,196 and $3,230,568 as atiMal, 2011 ar
2010, respectively. In addition, in October 200d aviay 2008, the Company issued to these institatidnvestors warrants
purchase, as of March 31, 2011, an aggregate 66307 shares of the Company’s common stock (theb&hture Warrants”As
collateral to secure our repayment obligationsht lolders of the Debentures we have granted soidens a first priority securi
interest in generally all of our assets, including intellectual property.

F-17




Table of Contents

CRYOPORT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
Fiscal Year 2010 Activit

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compamyerted interest payments due on the Debentutaling $171,25
into 42,814 shares of common stock using the camverate of $4.00.

In May 2009, approximately $713,000 of the Octad@d7 Debentures was converted by a note holdemgUsie
conversion rate of $5.10 per share per the termbeflebenture, 139,804 shares of common stock issued to the investor.
addition, the fair value of $593,303 related to toaversion feature was reclassified from the ligbfor derivative instruments
additional paid-in capital (see Note 10) and aceddel the recognition of $508,886 of unamortizebt déscount as interest expense.

On July 30, 2009, the Company entered into a Cdn$®aiver and Agreement with the holders of the &ehbres (th
“July Agreement”). Pursuant to the terms of they JAjreement, the Holders (i) consented to the Camwjgaissuance of convertit
notes and warrants in connection with a bridgenfoieg of up to $1,500,000 which commenced in M&@89 (the Bridge
Financing”),and (ii) waived, as it relates to the Bridge Firiagca covenant contained in the Debentures nandor any furthe
indebtedness, except as otherwise permitted bipéientures. This Bridge Financing is more partidyldescribed below under t
caption “Private Placement Debenturelsi”addition, in connection with the July Agreemethie Company and Holders confirn
that (i) the exercise price of the Debenture Wasdiad been reduced, pursuant to the terms of ¢fsemure Warrants, to $5.10 ¢
result of the Bridge Financing, and (ii) as a resil the foregoing decrease in the exercise phxgsuant to the terms of |
Debenture Warrants, the number of shares underljlireg Debenture Warrants held by Holders of the Debes had be«
proportionally increased by 404,350 pursuant totdiens of the warrant agreements. As a result effthegoing adjustments,
Company recognized a loss in other expense dueetotHange in fair value of derivative liabilities%1,608,540 and a corresponc
increase to the liability for derivative instrumsnt

On September 17, 2009, the Company entered intAna@ndment to Debentures akdarrants, Agreement and Wai
(the “September Amendment”) with the holders of @@mpanys outstanding Debentures and associated Debentarealits t
purchase common stock, as such Debentures and fDebaNarrants have been amended. The effective afathe Septemb
Amendment was September 1, 2009. The purpose @dptember Amendment was to restructure the Companjigations und
the outstanding Debentures in order to reduce theuat of the required monthly principal payment dachporarily defer tr
commencement of monthly principal payments (whicswcheduled to commence September 1, 2009) asddcéae continuir
interest payments for a period time. The followis@ summary of the material terms of the SepterAbgendment:

1. The Company was required to obtain stockholg@raval of an amendment to its Amended and Restatédes of
Incorporation to increase the number of authorsteares of its common stock to 250,000,000. Sucloappwas obtaine
at the shareholdersheeting on October 9, 2009, and an amendment Wex$ iith the Nevada Secretary of State
November 2, 2009.

2. As of September 1, 2009, the principal amourthef Debentures was increased by $482,792, whichadded to tt
outstanding principal balances and $403,214 wawded as a debt discount and is being amortizedtbeeemaining lif
of the Debentures. The increase reflected all @tand unpaid interest as of such date, plus tliént that would ha
accrued on the principal amount (as increased &gpfember 1, 2009, to reflect the then accruediypidid interest) frol
September 1, 2009, to July 1, 2010 (the maturitte ad the Debentures). The Company had no obligatioder th
Debentures to make further payments of intered, iaterest ceased to accrue, during the periodeSdmr 1, 2009
July 1, 2010.

3. The conversion price of the Debentures was dsexk from $5.10 per share to $4.50 per share, wemlited in a
increase in the number shares of common stock vithiglDebentures may be converted into, an incrieathe liability for
derivative instruments of $802,200 and a correspantbss was recorded in other expense, net dileetehange in fa
value of derivatives.

4. The commencement of the Companydbligation to make monthly payments of principehs deferred fro
September 1, 2009, to January 1, 2010, at whick tima Company was to make monthly pro rata paymnierttse Holder
in the aggregate amount of $200,000 with a ballpagment due on the maturity date of July 1, 202@rRo the
Amendment, the Company was obligated to repay nitieecoutstanding principal amount of the debergunetwelve equi
monthly payments commencing on August 1, 2009. &udry 12, 2010, the Company entered into an Amentru
Debentures and Warrants, Agreement and Waiver tivéhHolders of the Company Debentures, which waseguentl
amended in February 2010 as discussed below.

5. The Holdersexisting right to maintain a fully diluted ownerphgqual to 31.5% has been increased by the Amert
to a fully diluted ownership of 34.5%.
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6. The exercise price of the outstanding Debenfdaerants was decreased from $5.10 per share t@ $ebBshare, whic
also resulted in a corresponding pro rata incréashe number of shares that would be purchased epercise of tr
Debenture Warrants to an aggregate of 3,055,09&sh@he reduction in exercise price of the Debeniarrants t
$4.50 per share and the 359,423 share increabe inumber of Debenture Warrants resulted in areaser in the liabilit
for derivative instruments of $1,679,990 and aesponding loss was recorded in other expense,ugetadthe change
fair value of derivative liabilities.

7. The following additional covenants were addetht® Debentures (replacing similar covenants whiath terminated :
of June 30, 2009) and remained in full force s@lan any of the Debentures remain outstanding'Gbgenant Period”):

a. The Company was to maintain a total cash balahg® less than $100,000 at all times during tleveDan
Period,;

b. The Company was to have an average monthly tipgreash burn of no more than $500,000 duringGbeenar
Period. Operating cash burn was defined by takatgntome (or loss), added back all rash items, and excluc
changes in assets, liabilities and financing aitisj

c. The Company was to have a minimum current rati®.5 to 1 at all times during the Covenant Peridhis
calculation was to be made by excluding the curpention of the convertible notes payable and aatinterest, ar
liability from derivative instruments from currelidbility for the current ratio;

d. Accounts payable was not to exceed $750,000\etime during the Covenant Period,;
e. Accrued salaries was not to exceed $350,000yetime during the Covenant Period; and

f. The Company was not make any revisions to thragef the existing contractual agreements forNb&es Payab
to Former Officer, Related Party Notes Payablethed_ine of Credit (as each is referred to in tlempanys Forn
10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2009); other tharptevious amendment to the payment terms of & petabl
to the Company’s former CEO.

8. The Company was not to deliver a redemptionceotiith respect to the outstanding Debentures ganth time as tt
closing price of the Comparg’common stock shall have exceeded $7.00 (as adjust stock splits or simil
transactions) for ten consecutive trading daysrpadhe delivery of the redemption naotice.

On September 22, 2009, the holders of the Octob@f Debentures converted $100,000 of principal 2&@®22 shares
the Companys common stock at a conversion price of $4.50. Assalt of the conversion, the Company reclassi$ig®,799 of th
derivative liability related to the embedded comi@n feature to additional paid-capital and accelerated the recognition of $47
of unamortized debt discount as interest expense.

On October 9, 2009, the holders of the October 2D8Bentures converted $90,000 principal into 20,808res of tt
Companys common stock at a conversion price of $4.50. Aesalt of the conversion, the Company reclassifidd,001 of th
derivative liability related to the embedded comi@n feature to additional paid-capital and accelerated the recognition of $33
of unamortized debt discount as interest expense.

On November 17, 2009, the holders of the Octob6i ZDebentures converted $180,000 principal intOA shares of tt
Companys common stock at a conversion price of $4.50. Aesalt of the conversion, the Company reclassifi8d,368 of th
derivative liability related to the embedded cosian feature to additional paid-capital and accelerated the recognition of $52
of unamortized debt discount as interest expense.

On November 24, 2009, the holders of the Octob8i ZDebentures converted $100,000 principal int@22 shares of tt
Companys common stock at a conversion price of $4.50. Assalt of the conversion, the Company reclassi$ig8,224 of th
derivative liability related to the embedded cosian feature to additional paid-capital and accelerated the recognition of $34
of unamortized debt discount as interest expense.

On January 11, 2010, the holders of the Octobe¥ ZD€bentures converted $100,000 principal into 22 ghares of t
Companys common stock at a conversion price of $4.50. Assalt of the conversion, the Company reclassifig8,001 of th
derivative liability related to the embedded cosian feature to additional paid-capital and accelerated the recognition of $2%
of unamortized debt discount as interest expense.

On January 15, 2010, the holders of the Octobe¥ ZD€bentures converted $100,000 principal into 22 ghares of t
Companys common stock at a conversion price of $4.50. Assalt of the conversion, the Company reclassifi¢ii4,693 of th
derivative liability related to the embedded comi@n feature to additional paid-capital and accelerated the recognition of $2%
of unamortized debt discount as interest expe



On February 19, 2010, the Company entered into meriled and Restated Amendment Agreements withdldens o

the Company’s Debentures (as hereinafter defivellizh was amended on February 23, 2010 (collegtitbe “2010 Amendmeny;
pursuant to which the Company amended and restiatgedmendment agreements entered into on Janua01@ and February
2010 with the holders. Pursuant to the 2010 Amemdmihe debenture holders confirmed their prioreagrent to defer un
March 1, 2010 the Comparsybbligation to make the January 1, 2010 and Fepia2010 debenture amortization payments (ez
the aggregate amount of $200,000) and their coneghe Company’s recent 10-1oreverse stock split. The following is a sumn
of the material terms of the 2010 Amendment:

each holder converted $1,357,215 in principal amh@f the outstanding principal balance of sucldéds debenture
exchange for a number of shares of common stoakm@ted by dividing such principal amount by thét wffering price
in the Companys equity financing on February 25, 2010 (see N@g Based on the public offering price of $3.00
unit, each holder received a total of 452,405 shafecommon stock upon conversion. As a resulhefdonversion of ¢
aggregate of $2,714,430 outstanding principal Gbenpany reclassified a portion of the derivatiablility related to th
conversion feature of the Debentures of $1,450t6G&lditional paidn capital and accelerated the recognition of $53¢
of debt discount as interest exper

with respect to the remaining outstanding balarfcth® debentures after the foregoing conversidms,Gompany is n
obligated to make any principal or interest payrsanttil March 1, 2011, at which time the Compani} e obligated t
start making monthly principal payments of $200,8@0a period of seventeen (17) months with a fipalloon paymel
due on August 1, 2012. In addition, the futurerese of $163,573 (in the aggregate) that wouldweEon the outstandi
principal balance from July 1, 2010 (the date taclwtaccrued interest was previously added to ppadgito March 1, 201
was added to the current principal balance of thleedtures with a corresponding increase to the disbbunt to b
amortized over the remaining life of the debt. tegt payments over the remaining term are to acangebecome di
quarterly;
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» the conversion price of the remaining outstandialgfce of each debenture was reset to $3.00 bastx ublic offerin
price;

» the exercise price of the warrants currently hgldHe debenture holders was reset to $3.30 pee stiaich is equal to tl
exercise price of the warrants included as pathefunits sold in the public offering (110% of tiweit offering price) an
the exercise period was extended to January 1,;:

. the termination of certain arditution provisions contained in the debentures amadrants held by the debenture holi
and their right to maintain a fullguted ownership of our common stock equal to 3¢.%hich, along with the reset
the conversion price to $3.00 per share and waeaetcise price to $3.30 per share, resulted inr¢letassification ¢
$9,009,329 of derivative liability related to theleedded conversion features and warrants to addltipaidin capita
since the modification to the terms of the warrarttdonger required derivative accountil

. the termination of certain financial covenants escaiibed above; ar

. each executed a loalp agreement covering a period of 180 days follgwhre effective date of the registration staten
provided, however, that in the event that on aagitrg day during the lock-up period the tradinggrof the Company’
common stock exceeds 200% of the offering pricthefunits, then each holder may sell at sales pecgial to or greai
than 200% of such unit offering price a numbertwdres of common stock on that trading day (suchrdfgrred to as ¢
“Open Trading Day”) equal to up to 10% of the aggrte trading volume of the Compasyommon stock on the primi
market on which it is trading on such Open Tradlay, and (ii) in the event on any trading day dgrihe lockup periot
the trading price of the Compasytommon stock exceeds 300% of the unit offeringep¢also referred to as an O
Trading Day), each holder may sell at sales prezpsgal to or greater than 300% of such unit offeginige an unlimite
number of shares of common stock on such Open figdday. Sales under the foregoing clause (ii) ongarticular Ope
Trading Day shall not be aggregated with sales uttdeforegoing clause (i) on the same Open Trabiag for purpose
of calculating the 10% limitation under clause

Fiscal Year 2011 Activit

During January 2011, the holders of the Octobei72DB8bentures converted $200,000 principal into &% ghares of tt
Companys common stock at a conversion price of $3.00 paresper the terms of the Debentures. For the geding March 3:
2011 aggregate principal payments were $343,779.

As of March 31, 2011, the May 2008 Debentures vpaiid in full. For the year ending March 31, 201g@gate principi
payments were $79,593.

Private Placement Debenture
Fiscal Year 2010 Activit

In March 2009, the Company entered into an AgengyeAment with a broker to raise capital in a pevalacemel
offering of oneyear convertible debentures pursuant to Regul@iaf the Securities Act of 1933 and the Rules prigamed ther
under (the “Private Placement Debenture£d. of March 31, 2010, the Company had received @rass proceeds of $1,381,t
under this private placement offering of convetillebentures which included gross proceeds of $B8A raised during the yt
ended March 31, 2010. The Company had the optionake principal redemptions on the maturity dafethe debentures in sha
of common stock at a conversion price of $5.10ghe&re. At any time, holders were able to convestdbbentures into shares
common stock at the conversion price of $5.10. ddmversion price was subject to adjustment in thenethe Company issued
next equity financing of at least $2,500,000 ariagpbelow $5.10 per share. Per the terms of thwexible debenture agreeme
the notes had a term of one year from issuancevanel redeemable by the Company with two days nofibe notes bore interes
8% per annum and were convertible into shares ef Gompanys common stock at a conversion rate of $5.10 pareshr
connection with the Private Placement Debentules,Gompany issued to investors an aggregate off B4jteyear warrants 1
purchase shares of the Company’s common stock .40 $er share (the “Private Placement Warranist)ich included 51,82
warrants issued to investors during the year emdiath 31, 2010, and were accounted for as derigdinbilities (see Note 9). T
Company had determined the aggregate fair valubkeofssued warrants as of the dates of each dras¢d on Blaclscholes, to k
approximately $291,570 for the year ended March2B10. The exercise price of the warrants was stibjeadjustment in the ev¢
the Company issued its next equity financing deast $2,500,000 at a price below $5.10 per shareonnection with the issuar
of the Private Placement Debentures, the Compatggrézed a debt discount and derivative liabilitytree dates of issuance in
aggregate amount of $1,125,772 related to the Vialue of the warrants and embedded conversion restuvhich include
$1,080,201 of debt discount recorded during the yeded March 31, 2010 comprised of $788,631 mltiethe fair value of tt
embedded conversion features and $291,570 relatedet fair value of the warrants. Prior to convamnsisee below), the de¢
discount was amortized to interest expense ovelifihef the debentures and the derivative liapikitas revalued each report
period with changes in fair value recognized imeags.



On February 25, 2010, immediately prior to the Canys public offering, the holders of the Private Praeer
Debentures converted the principal balance of 15® and accrued interest of $78,701 into 5194@&fes of the Comparsy’
common stock at a conversion price of $2.81 in @yepent of all amounts due. As a result of the cesiea, the Compar
reclassified the derivative liability related toetlconversion feature of the Private Placement Diebes of $273,465 to additiol
paidin capital and recognized the remaining debt distofiapproximately $331,002 as interest expensadtition, pursuant to t
anti-dilution provisions contained in the Private PlaeamWarrant agreements, the exercise price of tivate Placement Warrai
was reset from $5.10 per share to $2.81 per shadetlee Company recorded a loss of $2,756 in othkxperse, net and
corresponding increase in derivative liabilitiesheTderivative liabilities balance of $128,276 rethtto the Compang’ Privat
Placement Warrants was reclassified to additioaad4m capital in 2011 (see Note 9). During the yeadezhMarch 31, 2010, t
Company issued 16,253 warrants with an exercisee @i $5.10 per share for commissions due in cdroreavith the Company’
Private Placement Debentures. The Company detedntieaggregate fair value of the issued warrdmatsed on the Blac&ehole
pricing model, to be $63,396, or $3.90 per sharefdbe effective date of grant, and was recordeddquity with a correspondi
charge to deferred financing fees to be amortipeihterest expense over the remaining life of tebtdThe remaining balance
$21,132 was charged to interest expense upon csiouesf the Private Placement Debentures in Febr2@ztO.

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compaopgnized an aggregate of $1,125,772 in intergstrese due -
amortization of debt discount related to the waisaand embedded conversion features associatedhat@ompanys outstandin
Private Placement Debentures.

F-20




Table of Contents

CRYOPORT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

Convertible debentures mature in fiscal years epditer March 31, 2011 as follows:

Amount
Years EndingMarch 31,
2012 $ 2,176,622
2013 430,56¢
$ 2,607,19

Note 9. Derivative Liabilities
The Company’s derivative liabilities balance advtarch 31, 2011 and 2010 was $156,497 and $334r86pBectively.

During 2010, the Company adopted a new accountingagce which requires certain instruments to lmaated for &
derivative liabilities. In accordance with this dance, the Compang/outstanding warrants to purchase shares of constock an
embedded conversion features in convertible notgmle previously treated as equity were no loraffarded equity treatme
because these instruments have reset or ratchésipres that are triggered in the event the Compames additional capital a
lower price, among other adjustments. As suchgcégffe April 1, 2009 the Company reclassified thie ¥alue of these common stc
purchase warrants and embedded conversion feaftoesequity to liability status as if these watsand conversion features w
treated as derivative liabilities since their daté$ssuance or modification. Any change in faitweasubsequent to April 1, 200¢
recorded as non-operating, nocash income or expense at each reporting datbelfair value of the derivatives was higher at
subsequent balance sheet date, the Company recami@a-operating, nocash charge. If the fair value of the derivativeswowe
at the subsequent balance sheet date, the Comeeonded non-operating, naash income. The cumulative effect at April 1, 2
to record, at fair value, a liability for the wanta and embedded conversion features, and relaliedtments to discounts
convertible notes of $2,595,095, resulted in anreggte reduction to equity of $13,875,623 congjstiha reduction to additior
paiddin capital of $4,217,730 and an increase in theumecdated deficit of $9,657,893 to reflect the admptof new accountir
guidance.

Fiscal Year 2010 Activit

In July 2009, as a result of the July Agreemerd,ekercise price of the Debenture Warrants wasdsed from $6.00
share to $5.10 per share, which resulted in arease in the liability for derivative instruments%if,608,540 and a corresponc
loss was recorded in other expense, net due tohitwege in fair value of derivative liabilities (Sgete 8).

In September 2009, as a result of the Septembemndment, the conversion price of the Debenturestla@exercise pric
of the Debenture Warrants was decreased from $fetGhare to $4.50 per share, pursuant to the tefrtiee Debentures, whi
resulted in an aggregate increase in the liabibtyderivative instruments of $1,679,990 and a esponding loss was recordec
other expense, net due to the change in fair vafugerivative liabilities. In addition, the convas price of the Debentures v
decreased from $5.10 per share to $4.50 per swaieh resulted in an increase in the number shafe®mmon stock which tl
Debentures may be converted into, an increaseeididbility for derivative instruments of $802,2@0d a corresponding loss v
recorded in other expense, net and included ichila@ge in fair value of derivative liabilities (Sdete 8).

In February 2010, as a result of the conversioallafutstanding amounts due under the Private Rlaoé Debentures, t
Company reclassified the derivative liability fdiet embedded conversion feature of $273,465 to iaddlt paidin capital. Ir
addition, pursuant to the artilution provisions contained in the Private PlaeamWarrant agreements, the exercise price ¢
Private Placement Warrants was reset from $5.1GIpee to $2.81 per share. The Company record@tcesase in the liability fc
derivative instrument of $2,756 and a corresponttisg was recorded in other expense, net and iedlirdthe change in fair value
derivative liabilities. The Company determined #ggregate fair value of the warrants, based onkB&aholes, to be $98,786 as
March 31, 2010. See Note 8 for a discussion offéiirevalue of the warrants and embedded converigatures as of the dates
issuance.

In February 2010, as a result of the 2010 Amendntaetexercise price of the Debenture Warrants adeaseased fro
$4.50 per share to $3.30 per share, pursuant teetires of the Debentures, which resulted in aneiase in the liability for derivati
instruments of $231,093 and a corresponding loss iweorded in other expense, net due to the chanfgr value of derivativ
liabilities. In addition, the conversion price betDebentures was decreased from $4.50 per sh&8Q0 per share which resulte
an increase in the number of shares of common stdi&h the Debentures may be converted into, arease in the liability fc
derivative instrument of $1,376,043 and a corredpanloss was recorded in other expense, net aridded in the change in f.
value of derivative liabilities (see Note 8).
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In February 2010, as a result of the 2010 Amendrardtpartial conversion of the Debentures, the Gompeclassified
portion of the derivative liability related to tlenversion feature of the Debentures of $1,653@9&dditional paid in capital.
addition, due to the modification of the terms loé tDebentures, the remaining derivative liabiliies the embedded convers
features and warrants of $9,009,329 was recladsifieadditional paidn capital as they no longer require derivativeatneent (se
Note 8).

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compssiyeid to various placement agents in lieu of casb &n aggregate
20,000 warrants to purchase shares of the Compargrnmon stock with a fair value of $87,448. Thereise prices of the
warrants are equal to $3.30, as reset from $5.1etwnuary 25, 2010 pursuant to the alilition provisions contained in the warr
agreements and an additional 10,909 warrant sheges issued for an aggregate total of 30,909 wesrdrhe Company determir
the aggregate fair value of the issued warrantsedb@n BlackScholes, to be $55,961 as of March 31, 2010. Sime@xercise pric
of the warrants is subject to adjustment in thenetlee Company issues the next equity financing wharrants are accounted for i
derivative liability.

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compaaglified the terms of an aggregate of 54,676 wasrémtpurchas
shares of the Comparsycommon stock which were previously issued tooeariplacement agents in lieu of cash fees. On Ay
2009, in connection with the termination of a cdtisg agreement, the Company modified the term84676 warrants issued
October 2007 and May 2008. The exercise price efwarrants was reduced from $8.40 per share toO$6ed share and t
expiration date was extended to 5 years from the d& modification. As a result of the modificatiothe Company recogniz
expense of $10,763 in other expense, net basetteoshange in the Blacgeholes fair value before and after modificatiom
February 25, 2010, the exercise price of the wésramas reduced from $6.00 per share to $3.30 @eegursuant to the arditution
provisions contained in the warrant agreementsaanddditional 44,735 warrant shares were issuedyrfaggregate total of 99,4
warrant shares. The Company recorded an increathe iliability for derivative instrument of $5,22Hd a corresponding loss v
recorded in other expense, net and included ichlaage in fair value of derivative liabilities. TB®mpany determined the aggret
fair value of the issued warrants, based on Blacheles, to be $179,616 as of March 31, 2010. Sineeexercise price of t
warrants is subject to adjustment in the eventGbenpany issues the next equity financing, the vmsrare accounted for a
derivative liability.

Fiscal Year 2011 Activit

During the year ended March 31, 2011, it was detexch that the antillution provisions contained in the Priv
Placement Warrants issued in connection with theafr Placement Debentures were no longer affottetment as a derivati
liability due to the equity financing in Februar§X®, thus the Company reclassified the derivaiafaility of $128,276 to addition
paid-in capital.

During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Compasyed an aggregate of 36,371 warrants to purchesessof th
Company’s common stock pursuant to the diitition provisions contained in the warrant agreats which were previously isst
to various placement agents in lieu of cash feesAQgust 20, 2010, in connection with the August@@rivate placement closir
the exercise price of the warrants was reduced 8880 per share to $3.20 per share and the Comipangd an additional 4,0
warrants. On February 4, 2011, in connection with February 2011 private placement, the exercigz mf the warrants w.
reduced from $3.20 per share to $2.81 per shardten@€ompany issued an additional 18,657 warrdbtsFebruary 14, 2011,
connection with the February 2011 private placemtbetexercise price of the warrants was reducad $2.81 per share to $2.58
share and the Company issued an additional 13,6&tants. Since the exercise price of the warramtsubject to addition
adjustment in the event the Company issues dil@iugty securities, as described in the originalrarat agreements, the warrants
accounted for as a derivative liability.
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During the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010Ctrapany recognized aggregate gains of $49,5908&%V6,97¢
respectively, due to the change in fair value sfdérivative instruments. See Note 5 for the coreptmof changes in derivat
liabilities. The Companyg common stock purchase warrants do not trade iactive securities market, and as such, the Con
estimated the fair value of these warrants usieglack-Scholes option pricing model using thedwaing assumptions:

March 31, March 31,
2011 2010
Expected dividend — —
Expected term (in year 3.01-4.22 3.50-5.00
Risk-free interest rat 0.64%-1.79%  1.42%— 2.69%
Expected volatility 128%-189%  178%-204%

Historical volatility was computed using daily frig observations for recent periods that corresgortie remaining ter
of the warrants, which had an original term of fixgars from the date of issuance. The expectedslifased on the remaining tern
the warrants. The riskee interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury geuwith a maturity corresponding to the remaintiexgm of thi
warrants.

The Company estimated the fair value of the embddamversion features related to its convertiblbed¢ures usir
Black-Scholes using the following assumptions:

March 31,
2010
Expected dividend —
Expected term (in year 0.09-2.43
Risk-free interest rat 0.06%-— 1.65%
Expected volatility 81%- 150%

Historical volatility was computed using daily grig observations for recent periods that corresporttie remaining lif
of the related debentures. The expected life i®das the remaining term of the related debenturbs. riskfree interest rate
based on U.S. Treasury securities with a matuagtyesponding to the remaining term of the relatellethtures.

Note 10. Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock

The Companys authorized capital consists of 250,000,000 shafesommon stock, $0.001 par value per share
February 5, 2010, the Company filed a CertificateAmendment to Amended and Restated Articles obidporation with th
Secretary of State of the State of Nevada to efiet0-to-1 reverse stock split of the Companig'sued and outstanding share
common stock. As of March 31, 2011 and 2010, 27&Rland 8,136,619 shares of common stock weredsand outstandin
respectively.
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Fiscal Year 2010 Activit

In May 2009, $713,000 of the October 2007 Debestwas converted by the note holders. Using the ersion rate ¢
$5.10 per share per the terms of the Debenture8@8%hares of registered common stock were issuie investors.

On September 28, 2009, the Company issued 2,358ssb& common stock, in lieu of $12,000 in feesdfar service
performed by Carpe DM, Inc., which were issued adlae of $5.10 per share.

In July 2009, the Company engaged an agent toitsthiie holders of certain warrants to exerciserthights to purchas
shares of the Comparsytommon stock. Pursuant to the terms of the emgaige the Company agreed to pay the agent compen
of 5% of the gross proceeds totaling $76,632, wiscimcluded equity and netted against the grossqeds in the accompany
consolidated balance sheet at March 31, 2010. ditied, the Company issued to the agent a warmputchase a number of sh¢
of the Companys common stock equal to 5% of the number of shamesed in the exercise of the warrants, or a twf#t3,95:
warrants with a fair value of $98,256 or $4.10 pleare. The warrant has an exercise price of $5@l0aall permit the agent or |
designees to purchase shares of common stock priasrto October 1, 2014. The fair value of warehtis been recorded as
offset to additional paiéh capital on the accompanying consolidated balastmets. During the year ended March 31, 201(
Company issued 479,033 shares of its common stockirbss cash proceeds of $1,437,100 from the meenf warrants whic
resulted from the solicitation.

During July 2009, the Company entered into the &igyeement with the holders of the Companipebentures (see N
8). Pursuant to the terms of the July Agreemerd, Holders (i) consented to the Companyssuance of convertible notes
warrants in connection with the Bridge Financingipfto $1,500,000 which commenced in March 2008, (@hwaived, as it relatt
to the Bridge Financing, a covenant contained énDiebentures not to incur any further indebtedrneesept as otherwise permit
by the Debentures. This Bridge Financing is mordiqdarly described in Note 8 above under the icapt'Private Placeme
Debentures.In addition, in connection with the July Agreemahe Company and Holders confirmed that (i) thereige price of th
warrants issued to the Holders in connection whitirtpurchase of the Debentures had been reducesijant to the terms of t
warrants, to $5.10 as a result of the Bridge Fimanaand (i) as a result of the foregoing decreasthe exercise price, pursuan
the terms of the warrants, the number of sharegnyidg the warrants held by Holders of the Debeggthad been proportione
increased by 404,350 pursuant to the terms of tireant agreements (see Note 8).

In August 2009, the Company issued warrants tohase 600 shares of common stock in lieu of payrtei@ary C
Cannon, who then served as Corporate Legal Cofmstile Company and as a member of the Advisoryr@®da purchase shares
the Companys common stock at an exercise price of $5.10 pareshith a five year term. The exercise priceshese warrants &
greater than or equal to the stock price of the @amg’s shares as of the date of grant. The fair marketevof the warrants based
Black-Scholes of $2,799 was recorded as consulting ampensation expense and included in selling, gersrdladministrativ
expenses during the year ended March 31, 2010ulyn2009, Mr. Cannon was given a 30 day notice isftermination as gene
legal counsel and advisor to the Company. Duringedaber 2009, the Company issued 4,314 shares ahoonstock to Mr. Cannc
in lieu of payment for services for a total expea822,000 which has been included in selling,egahand administrative expenses.

Effective September 1, 2009, in connection with September Amendment with the holders of the Delvest th
exercise price of the Debenture Warrants was rette&4.50 per share which resulted in a propoatierincrease in the numbel
shares that may be purchased upon the exerciselofngarrants of 359,423 shares (see Note 8).

In September 2009, $100,000 of the October 200 &bteibes was converted by the note holder. Usingdneersion ra
of $4.50 per share per the terms of the Debent@@&222 share of registered common stock weredstuthe investor.

On October 30, 2009, the Company issued 5,881 slvirgommon stock, in lieu of fees paid for sersiperformed by tt
Board of Directors. These shares were issued alue wf $4.30 per share, for a total value of $28,2

During October and November 2009, the holders @fQlstober 2007 Debentures converted $370,000 pahuito 82,22
shares of the Company’s common stock at a convesice of $4.50 per share per the terms of theeDebes (See Note 8).

During January, 2010, the holders of the Octob@72Debentures converted $200,000 principal intd44 shares of tl
Company’s common stock at a conversion price dGger share per the terms of the Debentures (ste8y.

On February 19, 2010, we entered into the 2010 Almemt with the holders of our Debentures (see 8ht®ursuant 1
the 2010 Amendment, the holders each converted$P35 in principal amount of the outstanding ppatbalance of such holder
debenture in exchange for a number of shares ofrmmstock determined by dividing such principal amtoby the unit offerin
price. Based on the public offering price of $3@) unit, each holder received a total of 452,408ras of common stock ug
conversion. The conversion price of the remainintstanding balance of each debenture was res&.®® $ased on the Compaay’
public offering price. As a result of the conversiof an aggregate of $2,714,430 outstanding praicihbe Company reclassifie(
portion of the derivative liability related to tloenversion feature of the Debentures of $1,45060&dditional pai-in capital. Ir



addition, pursuant to the 2010 Amendment, certaiirdilution provisions contained in the debentures waadrants hel
by the debenture holders were terminated along thighright to maintain a fullghluted ownership of our common stock equz
34.5%, which resulted in the reclassification of(E®,329 of derivative liability related to the esdoled conversion features
warrants to additional paiitt- capital. Pursuant to the terms of the 2010 Amegrt, the exercise price of the warrants curreimlyg
by the debenture holders was reset to equal thecisgeprice of the warrants included as part of uhés sold in the Compars’
public offering (110% of the unit offering price $8.30 per share) and the exercise period was @éatketo January 1, 2015.

On February 25, 2010 the Company completed a poffiécing of units consisting of 1,666,667 sharéshe Companys
common stock and 1,666,667 warrants to purchaseslwme of the Comparg/’common stock for gross proceeds of $5,000,00
net cash proceeds of approximately $3,742,097. Hatthconsisting of one share, together with onerarg to purchase one sh:
was priced at $3.00. The warrants issued as paheobffering have an exercise price of $3.30 atetm of 5 years. In addition, t
Company issued a warrant to purchase 83,333 sladrttee Company’s common stock to the underwriteepresentative at
exercise price of $3.75 with a 5 year term and havair value of $199,043 based on Bldtholes. Pursuant to the offering,
Company issued to an investment banker warrangitchase 17,500 shares of the Compamgmmon stock with a fair value
$41,939, which represented 7% of the warrants istméhe holders of the CompasyDebentures participating in the public offer
at an exercise price of $3.30 per share and a5tgea.
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During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compasyed to the purchasers of the Private Placemebéribare
warrants to purchase an aggregate of 51,824 shlidiresmmon stock at an initial exercise price of 1$6.In February 201
immediately prior to the Compars/'public offering, the holders of the Private Plaeat Debentures converted the aggre
principal balance of $1,381,500 and accrued intere$78,701 into 519,186 shares of the Compsuegmmon stock at a convers
price of $2.81 in prepayment of all amounts due aAgsult of the conversion of all outstanding amsuthe Company reclassif
the derivative liability for the embedded convenrsfeature of $273,465 to additional paid-in capibaladdition, pursuant to the anti-
dilution provisions contained in the Private PlaeainWarrant agreements, the exercise price of tivateé Placement Warrants v
reset from $5.10 per share to $2.81 per shareNstss 8 and 9).

On March 23, 2010, the Company issued warrantsitohase 15,000 shares of the Compampmmon stock with a fi
value of $27,426 to an agent for continued shadstdupport at an exercise price of $1.91 per sAdre warrants were recordec
equity with a corresponding charge to general almimistrative expense.

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compssiyed 20,000 warrants to purchase shares of th@&grs commol
stock to various placement agents. The warrants vesued in April 2009 with a fair value of $87,4&d an exercise price of $5
and were classified as derivative liabilities. Thercise price of these warrants was reset to §%8@hare from $5.10 per share
February 25, 2010 pursuant to the atilition provisions contained in the warrant agreats, and an additional 10,909 war
shares were issued for an aggregate total of 3®@@&nts (see Note 9).

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compaaoglified the terms of 54,676 warrants to purchasaeshof th
Companys common stock which were previously issued toousriplacement agents and currently classified agadiwe liabilities
In April 2009, the exercise price of the warrantasweduced from $8.40 per share to $6.00 per glratehe expiration date w
extended to 5 years from the date of modificat@n.February 25, 2010, the exercise price of theamds was reduced from $6
per share to $3.30 per share pursuant to theddation provisions contained in the warrant agreats and an additional 44,
warrant shares were issued, for an aggregateab®,411 warrant shares. See Note 9 for a disonssithe accounting impact.

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compssiyeid 4,719 shares of common stock upon the cagitescise of
total of 11,640 warrants at an average exercige @i $2.80 per share and 11,034 shares of comtaook gpon the cashless exer:
of a total of 11,900 options at an average exemmige of $0.40 per share.

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compasyed 20,942 shares of common stock the resalehichwva:
registered pursuant to Form83n lieu of fees paid for services performed bypsudtants. On April 13, 2009 and June 11, 200¢
Company filed the related Forms8Swith the SEC. These shares were issued at a whl$8.10 per share with a total value
$106,806 which has been included in selling, gdreerd administrative expenses for the year endedtivial, 2010.

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compamnyerted interest payments due on the Debentutasg $171,25
into 42,814 shares of common stock using the camverate of $4.00 per share.

During the year ended March 31, 2010, a total g6@Q warrants and 190,553 stock options with a kteidj average fe
value of $3.53 per share were granted to emplogeddlirectors (see Note 11).

During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Compssed 16,253 warrants with a fair value of $63,&9$3.90 per sha
for commissions due in connection with the Comparivate Placement Debentures (see Note 8).

Fiscal Year 2011 Activit

In April 2010, the Company issued 13,636 sharesnoéstricted common stock in lieu of fees paid anous consultan
for services incurred in fiscal year 2010 pursuarthe Company’s Form 8-iled on April 27, 2010. These shares were issates
value of $1.76 per share for a total cost of $23,@@ich is included in accounts payable and accexginses and selling, gen
and administrative expense as of and for the yedea March 31, 2010 in the accompanying consolibfitancial statements.

In May 2010, the Company granted 40,000 warrant ¢tonsultant to purchase shares of the Compargfnmon stoc
with an exercise price of $1.89. Of the 40,000 wats, 20,000 warrants with a fair value of $36,088ted upon issuance an
included in selling, general and administrative enges in the accompanying consolidated statemémtgenations. The remaini
20,000 shares vest upon completion of certain kiégstones (see Note 12).
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During August 2010, the Company closed its firsino of a private placement financing to instituiband accredite
investors resulting in the issuance of units cdimgof 4,699,550 shares of common stock and wisranpurchase 4,699,550 sh:
of common stock at an exercise price of $0.77 pares for gross cash proceeds of $3,289,701 andasétproceeds of $2,990,¢
Each unit consisting of one share of common sttadether with one warrant to purchase one shaoemimon stock, was priced
$0.70. Certain investors that had invested in tben@anys public offering that was completed on FebruaryZBLO were issut
additional warrants with the same terms to purclasaggregate of 448,333 shares of common stoc&rinection with this priva
placement. The fair market value of the warrargsi@sl to prior investors of $307,794 was based ackZbcholes and recorded
additional paidn capital and offset against the proceeds of it@nting with no net effect on equity. In conneutigith the closin
of this first round of financing, the Company pad/% fee to the placement agents of $230,279 agtdswarrants to purch:
657,940 shares of the Compasigommon stock, at an exercise price of $0.77, hvaie immediately exercisable and have a tel
five years. The fair market value of the warrassued to the placement agents of $449,938 was lms8dackScholes and wi
recorded to additional paid- capital and offset against the proceeds of thenting with no net effect on equity. The Comg
incurred additional legal and accounting fees d@,$37 in connection with the first round of finamgi

During September 2010, the Company received a $2;fedit for financing fees which were reclasseddditional paid-
in capital during the year ended March 31, 2010, @éffset against the proceeds related to the Fep@EL0 public offering.

On October 14, 2010, the Company closed on itsrekoound of a private placement financing of itsusiies to certai
institutional and accredited investors that commednia August 2010. In connection with the secomsiolg of the private placems
financing, the Company received aggregate grossepds of $583,001 and net cash proceeds of $416Th26investors purchas
an aggregate of 832,868 units priced at $0.70 pi#r with each unit consisting of one share of camnstock and one warrant
purchase one share of common stock at an exerdize @f $0.77 per share. The warrants are immegti@eercisable and have
term of five years. In connection with this seceadnd of financing, the Company paid a 7% fee tolacement agents of $40,:
and issued a warrant to purchase 116,602 shar€smfmon Stock at an exercise price of $0.77 pereshalnich are immediate
exercisable and have a term of five years. Thenfiairket value of the warrants issued to the placemagents of $85,719 was ba
on Black-Scholes and was recorded to additional-pacapital and offset against the proceeds of it@nting with no net effect «
equity. The Company incurred additional legal aocbanting fees of $122,964 in connection with teeonid round of financing.

Pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, otolier 19, 2010, the Company filed a registrati@tesnent on For
S-1 with the Securities and Exchange Commissio&C'S registering the resale of the 12,287,711 sharesmwimon stock issued
the investors that participated in both the fifstsing of the private placement during August 2@H@ the second closing of
private placement during October 2010, and theeshai common stock underlying the warrants issodtd investors and placem
agents in both closings. The registration statemestdeclared effective by the SEC on Decembe2@90.

During January 2011, the holders of the Octobe72D8bentures converted $200,000 principal into & $hares of tt
Company’s common stock at a conversion price d&per share per the terms of the Debentures (s&=8).

On February 4, 2011, the Company consummated rdtecfosing of a private placement to accrediteg@tors resulting
the issuance of units consisting of 6,335,318 shafe&common stock and warrants to purchase 6,38%Bares of common stock
an exercise price of $0.77, for gross cash procettid,434,722. On February 14, 2011, the Compamypteted the second clos
of this same private placement resulting in thedsse of units consisting of 7,026,771 shares aimon stock and warrants
purchase 7,026,771 shares of common stock at acisxerice of $0.77, for gross cash proceeds ¢d1#740. In both closing
each unit consisting of one share, together withwarrant to purchase one share, was priced ab $6:aggregate gross proceed
$9,353,462. Aggregate net proceeds which refleatguhent agent fees, legal and accounting fees $8041,880. In addition,
part of the compensation to the selling agentsramés to purchase 2,393,826 shares of common steckissued to the agents.
warrants issued to the investors and selling agaetimmediately exercisable and have a term efyiars. The fair market value
the warrants issued to the placement agents 063337 was based on Black-Scholes and was rectodedditional paida capita
and offset against the proceeds of the financintp wb net effect on equity. The Company was obdidab file a registratic
statement with the SEC registering the resale efstiares of common stock issued to the investatgrenshares of common st
underlying the warrants issued to the investorkiwihinety (90) days following the close of thenigaction.

On March 4, 2011, the Company granted a warraatrelated party (see Note 7) to purchase 200,08 slof commc
stock with an exercise price of $0.77 valued at2$B869 as calculated using Black Scholes. The assomspused under Black-
Scholes included: a risk free rate of 2.17%; vbtatof 179%; a term of 5.01 years; and no annuaidénd rate. The warrant w
issued pursuant to a one year consulting agreeamehivested upon issuance. The Company recorded3®87ds an other curre
asset and recognized $25,231 in selling, genehladministrative expense for the year ended Matct2B811 in the accompanyi
consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, pril22, 2011, the Company filed a registratiortesteent on Form 3-
with the SEC registering the resale of 40,943,1h8res of common stock issued to the investors paaticipated in th
February 2011 private placement, the private plasgwhich occurred during August 2010 and Octol®di02 the shares of comir
stock underlying the warrants issued to the invesétmd placement agents in both private placenserdsthe underlying shares



common stock which will be issued upon exercis¢hef publicly traded warrants that were issued as qfathe publis
offering of units the occurred in February 2010.
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During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Compssiyed 36,371 warrants to purchase shares of thep&gyrs commo
stock to various placement agents pursuant tortieddution provisions contained in their original want agreements (see Note
The anti-dilution provisions were triggered as aufe of the Companyg private placements which occurred in August 2at€
February 2011. An aggregate of 166,691 placementtagarrants were classified as derivative liab#itat March 31, 2011, and |
a fair value of $156,497 and an exercise price205& (reduced from an exercise price of $3.30 attk&1, 2010).

During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Compaulassified $128,276 of derivative liability reldtéo the Privat
Placement Warrants to additional paid-in capitaé(slote 9).

During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Compssyeid 274,500 shares of common stock upon theiss@fcwarrant
at an exercise price of $0.77 per share and 4 5&s of common stock upon the exercise of op@@s exercise price of $0.40
share.

During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Compssiyeid 114,061 shares of common stock upon theesasékercise
a total of 209,525 warrants at an exercise prick0of 7 per share.

During the year ended March 31, 2011, stock optiongurchase a total of 1,296,832 shares of the gaoyis commo
stock with a weighted average value of $0.69 pereslwvere granted to employees and directors. Iedlud this amount were stc
options to purchase 362,232 shares of the Compamyisnon stock issued to the CompanZhief Executive Officer in lieu of
cash bonus for fiscal year 2010. As of and foryear ended March 31, 2010, this bonus was inclilegtcrued compensation ¢
related expenses and selling, general and adnatigtrexpenses in the accompanying consolidatezhdiml statements (see N
11).

Warrants Outstanding:
A summary of the Company’s warrant activity (otllean those warrants issued to the Compamyhployees, officel

directors and related consultants presented irStbek Compensation Plan Section below) and relatiedmation during the 20!
fiscal year follows:

Weighted- Remaining
Average Contractual Aggregate

Number of Share: Exercise Price Life (Years) Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at April 1, 201 5,227,677 @ $ 3.42 $
Grantec 22,787,58 $ 0.7¢
Exercisec (388,56) $ 0.77 279,95:
Forfeited (95,469 $ 0.77
Expired (21,4200 $ 6.9¢
Outstanding at March 31, 20 27,509,81 $ 1.27 4.5 $ 14,003,12
Exercisable 27,489,81  $ 1.2 45/ $  14,003,12

At March 31, 2010 the number of unvested warraras 20,000. The following summary information reffecutstandin
warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s constegk as of March 31, 2011 and other related idetai

Warrants Outstandin

Remaining
Year of Gran Contractua
(as of March 31 Exercise Pric  Number Outstandir  Life (Years
2008 $1.50- $15.0( 1,777,15: 3.6¢
2009 $2.81- $8.50 659,88 3.6(C
2010 $1.91-$5.10 2,769,22. 3.81
2011 $0.77- $2.74 22,303,55 4.7%

27,509,811
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Note 11. Stock Compensation Plan

The Company accounts for share-based payments piogees and directors in accordance with shesed payme
accounting literature which requires all shbesed payments to employees and directors, indugliants of employee stock optit
and warrants, to be recognized in the consolidfitedhcial statements based upon their fair valiee. Company uses Blaehole
to estimate the grant-date fair value of sHamsed awards. Fair value is determined at the afageant. The consolidated financ
statement effect of forfeitures is estimated at tihee of grant and revised, if necessary, if théualceffect differs from tho
estimates. The estimated average forfeiture ratthéoyears ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 was asrihe Company has not he
significant history of forfeitures and does not espforfeitures in the future.

Cash flows resulting from the tax benefits resgltirom tax deductions in excess of the compensatish recognized fi
those options or warrants to be classified as imancash flows. Due to the Compagsyoss position, there were no such tax ber
during the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010.

Plan Descriptions

The Company maintains two stock option plans, t8822Stock Incentive Plan (the “2002 Plarmid the 2009 Sto
Incentive Plan (the “2009 Plan"yhe 2002 Plan provides for grants of incentive lstotions and nonqualified options to employ
directors and consultants of the Company to puehias Companyg shares at the fair value, as determined by mamagteand th
board of directors, of such shares on the grarg. dédie options are subject to various vesting dardi and generally vest ove
three-year period beginning on the grant date amg tseven to tepear term. The 2002 Plan also provides for the tgrgrof
restricted shares of common stock subject to vgsdgquirements. The Company is authorized to ispu® 500,000 shares under
plan and has 318,136 shares available for futsteaisces as of March 31, 2011.

On October 9, 2009, the Compasystockholders approved and adopted the 2009 Rihith had previously be
approved by the ComparsyBoard of Directors on August 31, 2009. The 20 Provides for the grant of incentive stock op$
nonqualified stock options, restricted stock rightsstricted stock, performance share units, perdmice shares, performance ¢
awards, stock appreciation rights, and stock gaavdrds (collectively, “Awards”) to employees, offis, nonemployee director
consultants and independent contractors of the @osnpThe 2009 Plan also permits the grant of aw#nds qualify for th
“performance-based compensation” exception to theap,000 limitation on the deduction of compermsatmposed by Section 162
(m) of the Internal Revenue Code. A total of 1,200, shares of the Compasytommon stock are authorized for the grantir
Awards under the 2009 Plan. The number of sharasafe for future awards, as well as the termeugstanding awards, is subj
to adjustment as provided in the 2009 Plan forksgpiits, stock dividends, recapitalizations angeotsimilar events. Awards may
granted under the 2009 Plan until October 9, 202t all shares available for awards under tB82Plan have been purchase
acquired. The Company is authorized to issue up,2600,000 shares under this plan and has 209,7&¢slavailable for futu
issuances as of March 31, 2011.

In addition to the stock options issued pursuanthies Companys two stock option plans, the Company has gr:
warrants to employees, officers, nemployee directors, consultants and independertrasziors. The warrants are generally
subject to vesting requirements and have ten-pearst

As of March 31, 2011, a total of 136,401 and 976,6dares of common stock were reserved for issuander the 20(
and 2009 Stock Plans, respectively, and a tote881&,855 shares of common stock were reserved $olige upon exercise
outstanding warrants. A summary of the Compamrhployee and director stock option and warratitigcand related informatic
during the 2011 fiscal year follows:

Number of Weighted- Average Remaining Aggregate

Shares Exercise Price Contractual Life Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at April 1, 201 555,20: $ 6.22 $
Grantec 1,296,83 $ 0.7z
Exercisec (4,599 $ 0.4C 4,59
Cancelec (421,54H $ 1.11
Outstanding and expected to vest at March 31, ! 1,425,891 $ 2.7¢ 7.7 $ 709,70:
Exercisable at March 31, 20. 993,39¢ $ 3.5¢ 7.1t $ 418,57.
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The following summary information reflects stocktiops and warrants outstanding, vesting and reldtedils as ¢
March 31, 2011:

Stock Options and Warrants Outstanding

Remaining

Year of Grant Number Contractual Vested and
(as of March 31 Exercise Price  Outstanding Life (Years) Exercisable
2003 $10.00 5,00( 2.5¢ 5,00(C
2004 6.00 20,00( 3.2¢€ 20,00(
2005 0.40-6.00 22,20 2.3C 22,20
2007 2.80-10.00 111,33! 5.4¢ 111,33!
2008 7.50-10.80 88,78( 6.7 88,78(
2009 5.10-10.50 91,74( 7.71 91,74(
2010 4.30-8.30 107,00t 6.07 84,00¢
2011 0.6€-2.00 979,83. 8.5: 570,33.

1,425,89i 993,39¢

The Company uses Black-Scholes to recognize theeafl stock-based compensation expense for alesizeed payme
awards. Determining the appropriate fair-value nmauahel calculating the fair value of stoblesed awards at the grant date req
considerable judgment, including estimating stodkepvolatility, expected option life and forfeimurates. The Company devel
estimates based on historical data and marketnr#ton, which can change significantly over timéadk-Scholes requires t
Company to make several key judgments including:

. The expected option term reflects the applicatibthe simplified method set out in SAB No. 107a&Based Payme
(SAB 107), which was issued in March 2005. In Delben2007, the SEC released Staff Accounting Bulléto. 11(
(SAB 110), which extends the use of the “simplifiadethod, under certain circumstances, in developimgstimate «
expected term of “plain vanilla8hare options. Accordingly, the Company has utllitee average of the contractual t
of the options and the weighted average vestingpgdor all options and warrants to calculate thpexted option term

. Estimated volatility also reflects the historicalatility pattern of the Compar's share price
» The dividend yield is based on the Com(’s historical pattern of dividends as well as expedctividend pattern:

. The riskfree rate is based on the implied yield of U.S.abtey notes as of the grant date with a remainéng
approximately equal to the expected te

. Estimated forfeiture rate of 0% per year is basedhe Company' historical forfeiture activity of unvested stogftions
The Company used the following assumptions forlstmations and warrants granted during the yeargenidarch 31
2011 and 201cC

Years Ended March 31,

2011 2010
Risk-free interest rat 0.77%-3.32%  1.38%-— 3.04%
Expected volatility 142%—-179%  179%- 197%
Expected life (in years 3.50-6.48 3.50-6.02
Expected dividend yiel N/A N/A
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For the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, tghtegl-average fair value of the Compangtock option and warre
grants are as follows:

Weighted
Average
Fair Value of
Options and
Grant Year Granted Warrants

March 31, 201: 1,296,83 $ 0.6¢
March 31, 201( 211,55! $ 3.5¢

There were no warrants and 1,296,832 stock optipasted to employees and directors during the gaded March 3
2011, and 21,000 warrants and 190,553 stock opfmman aggregate of 211,553 shares granted toaymeeds and directors duri
the year ended March 31, 2010. In connection withwarrants and options granted and the vestimgiof warrants issued, duri
the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, the Comeaorded total charges of $396,696 and $559 f&pectively, which ha
been included in selling, general and administeatdxpenses in the accompanying consolidated statenoé operations. TI
Company issues new shares from its authorized shigp@n exercise of warrants or options.

As of March 31, 2011, there was $286,821 of toteeaognized compensation cost, related to vested stock options a
warrants, which is expected to be recognized overaining weighted average vesting period of ¥&8s.

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options wadrants exercised during the years ended MarcB@11 and 2010 w.
$4,594 and $79,964, respectively.

Note 12. Equity Instruments Issued to Non-Employee®r Acquiring Goods or Services

Issuances of the Compasycommon stock for acquiring goods or services ragasured at the fair value of
consideration received or the fair value of theiggimstruments issued, whichever is more reliablgasurable. The measuren
date for the fair value of the equity instrumersisuied to consultants or vendors is determinedeag¢dhlier of (1) the date at whicl
commitment for performance to earn the equity imsgnts is reached (a “performance commitmevitich would include a pena
considered to be of a magnitude that is a suffttidarge disincentive for nonperformance) or {iig date at which performance
complete. When it is appropriate for the Compansetmgnize the cost of a transaction during finaln@porting periods prior to t
measurement date, for purposes of recognition sisaduring those periods the equity instrumentésisured at the thesurrent fai
values at each of those interim financial reportlages.

On May 11, 2010, the Company granted an aggreda4®,000 warrants to purchase shares of the Compammmmol
stock at an exercise price of $1.89 to a consuftargervices to be rendered through March 31, 28¥until the related deliverabl
are met. Of the total warrants, 20,000 warrant$egespon issuance with a fair value of $36,090;absumptions used under Black-
Scholes included: a risk free rate of 2.26%, vhtatdf 177%, an expected exercise term of 5.0 gyeend no annual dividend rate.
remaining 20,000 warrants will vest based uporirattant of certain deliverables and are valued atingty at each interim reportil
date until the deliverables are completed. The Gompecognized an aggregate of $55,693 in selljegeral and administrati
expense related to these warrants for the yeamdeddech 31, 2011 in the accompanying consolidatatksents of operations.

On March 4, 2011, the Company granted a warraatriedated party to purchase 200,000 shares of constozk with a
exercise price of $0.77 valued at $302,769 as ik using the Black Scholes option pricing modéle warrant was issu
pursuant to a one year consulting agreement aneéd/epon issuance. The assumptions used under-Blatoiles included: a ri
free rate of 2.17%, volatility of 179%, a term 005 years and no annual dividend rate. The Compaecyrded $277,538 as an of
current asset and recognized $25,231 in sellingegg and administrative expense for the year eridacch 31, 2011 in tt
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Note 13. Commitments and Contingencies
Lease Commitment

On July 2, 2007, the Company entered into a legseement with Viking Investors -Barents Sea, LLC (Lessor) fo
building with approximately 11,881 square feet agfmafacturing and office space located at 20382 iBarBea Circle, Lake Fore
CA, 92630. The lease agreement is for a periowofytears with renewal options for three, orear periods, beginning Septembe
2007. The lease required base lease payments ohampately $10,000 per month plus operating expgnbeconnection with tt
lease agreement, the Company issued to the lesgarrant to purchase 1,000 shares of common stoak exercise price of $15.
per share for a period of two years, valued at48(Gas calculated using the Black Scholes optigingr model. The assumptic
used under Blaclscholes included: a risk free rate of 4.75%; viilwtof 293%; an expected exercise term of 5 yeanst no annu
dividend rate. The Company capitalized and amattthe value of the warrant over the life of theskeand recorded the unamorti
value of the warrant in other assets. For the yeaded March 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company rezednvarrant amortization
$0 and $2,970, respectively. As of March 31, 204@ fair value of the warrant was fully amortizedh @ugust 24, 2009, tl
Company entered into the second amendment to #se er its manufacturing and office space. Theraiment extended the lei
for twelve months from the end of the existing E28srm with a right to cancel the lease with a mimin of 120 day written notice
anytime as of November 30, 2009. In June 2010, Gmyntered into the third amendment to the leasé&d manufacturing ai
office space. The amendment extended the leas&xiyr months commencing July 1, 2010, with a rihtancel the lease witt
minimum of 120 day written notice at anytime afefcember 31, 2012, and adjusted the base leaseep&s/to a range over the
of the agreement of $7,010 per month to $8,91Imerth plus operating expenses.

On April 11, 2011, the Company entered into anceffservice agreement with Regis Management Grou@, (Lessor
for six (6) executive offices located at 402 Wespd&lway, San Diego, CA 92101. The office serviceeament is for a sixaontt

period ending October 31, 2011 and is subject toraatic renewal unless terminated with 90 daysrpmitice. The office servi
agreements require aggregate base lease paymegprokimately $9,250 per month.

Total rental expense was $170,358 and $144,728éoyears ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, resphctive

Future annual minimum payments under operatingekease as follows:

Years Ending March 31:

2012 $ 156,97¢
2013 96,15:
2014 99,08¢
2015 104,79
2016 26,73:

Consulting and Engineering Services

Effective November 1, 2010, the Company entered mtSecond Amendment to Master Consulting and Eegiing
Services Agreement (the “Second Amendment”) withAKL Networks, LLC (“KLATU”), which amended the Master Consul
and Engineering Services Agreement between théepatated as of October 9, 2007 (the “Agreemeis)amended by the Fi
Amendment to Master Consulting and Engineering iBesvAgreement between the parties dated as of 2ri2009. The parti
entered into the Second Amendment to clarify thaitual intent and understanding that all licenghts granted to the Compse
under the Agreement, as amended, shall surviveemnyination or expiration of the Agreement. In didi, in recognition that tt
Company has paid KLATU less than the market ratecémmparable services, the Second Amendment prets if the Compar
terminates the Agreement without cause, which tben@any has no intention of doing, or liquidates, AU shall be entitled 1
receive additional consideration for its servicesved from the commencement of the Agreementutincssuch date of terminatic
which additional compensation shall not be lesa $&million plus two times the “cost of workdg defined in the Agreement). A
such additional compensation would be payable rieetlequal installments within 12 months followimg tdate the amount of st
additional compensation is determined.

The Master Consulting and Engineering Services ament dated October 9, 2007, as amended on Apr2@39 an
November 1, 2010, between CryoPort, Inc. and KLANEXworks, LLC provides a framework for KLATU to ide services 1
CryoPort. The agreement provides for one year temnaing on December 31 of each year, but it auticalbt renews for one ye
periods unless otherwise terminated. CryoPort eanihate the agreement upon 30 days notice. If Boytoterminates the agreem:
it has to pay KLATU a termination fee that will nbe less than $2,000,000 plus two times the costark (as defined in tt
agreement) performed by KLATU under the agreemnr



Litigation

The Company may become a party to product litigatiothe normal course of business. The Companguasdor ope
claims based on its historical experience and abkilinsurance coverage. In the opinion of managentieere are no legal matt
involving the Company that would have a materialeade effect upon the Company’s financial conditomesults of operations.

Indemnities and Guarantee

The Company has made certain indemnities and gugesnunder which it may be required to make paysném ¢
guaranteed or indemnified party, in relation totaier actions or transactions. The guarantees atlmnities do not provide for a
limitation of the maximum potential future paymetite Company could be obligated to make. Histdsicdhe Company has r
been obligated nor incurred any payments for tioddigations and, therefore, no liabilities have beecorded for these indemnit
and guarantees in the accompanying consolidatesh@alsheets.

The Company indemnifies its directors, officers,ptoyees and agents, as permitted under the lawtheofStates «
California and Nevada. In connection with its fagilease, the Company has indemnified its lesspocértain claims arising from t
use of the facility. The duration of the guarantaed indemnities varies, and is generally tiechiolife of the agreement.

In connection with the Compars/agreement with FedEx pursuant to which the Compeeses to FedEXx its cryoge
shippers, the Company has agreed to indemnify ahd fermless FedEx, its directors, officers, empks/ and agents from ¢
against any and all claims, demands, causes dafmadiisses, damages, judgments, injuries and itiabil including payment
attorneys fees. In addition, the Company has agreed tomndg, defend and hold harmless FedEx, its Affamt(including th
corporate patent company), directors, officers, legges and agents from and against any and alinSlay third parties based on
allegation that the use of the Companghippers infringes on any United States or forémgellectual property right of such th
parties, including any potential royalty paymems ather costs and damages, reasonable attorrens’ahd out-gbocket expens
reasonably incurred by FedEx. The duration of thiedemnities survive the termination or expiratadrthe agreement.
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Note 14. Income Taxes

Significant components of the Company’s deferredassets as of March 31, 2011 and 2010 are sholewbe

2011 2010
Deferred tax asse

Net operating loss carryforwa $ 8,661,00i $ 10,938,00
Research credil 28,00( 24,00(
Expenses recognized for granting of options andams 927,00( 800,00(
Accrued expenses and reser 41,00( 104,00(
Valuation allowanct (9,657,000 (11,866,00)

$ = $ =

Based on the weight of available evidence, the Gom management has determined that it is more litkelp not the
the net deferred tax assets will not be realizdwerdfore, the Company has recorded a full valuasibowance against the 1
deferred tax assets. The Company’s income tax gimviconsists of state minimum taxes.

The income tax provision differs from that computeing the federal statutory rate applied to incdmeéore taxes i

follows:

2011 2010
Computed tax benefit at federal statutory | $ (2,091,000 $ (1,920,00i)
State tax, net of federal bene (307,000 (645,000
Warrant MTM Adjustmen (27,000 —
Permanent items and ott 4,625,601 (3,226,400
Valuation allowanct (2,209,001 5,793,00!

$ 1,60( $ 1,60(

At March 31, 2011, the Company has federal ane stet operating loss carryforwards of approxima$ag, 743,000 ar
$21,706,000 which will begin to expire in 2020 &ll4, respectively, unless previously utilized.Mdrch 31, 2011, the Compe
has federal and California research and developit@antredits of approximately $17,000 and $16,0@8pectively. The fedel
research tax credit begins to expire in 2026 urpessgiously utilized and the California researchdeedit has no expiration date.

Utilization of the net operating loss and reseaanld development carryforwards might be subject saltzstantial annu
limitation due to ownership change limitations thay have occurred or that could occur in the fytas required by Section 38:
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended“Q@bde”), as well as similar state and foreign provisionseséh ownersh
changes may limit the amount of NOL and R&D creditryforwards that can be utilized annually to effiiture taxable income a
tax, respectively. In general, an “ownership chdnge defined by Section 382 of the Code results feotransaction or series
transactions over a thrgear period resulting in an ownership change ofartban 50 percentage points of the outstandin stbe
company by certain stockholders or public groupacé& the Companyg formation, the Company has raised capital throting
issuance of capital stock on several occasionshyliombined with the purchasing stockholdemsbsequent disposition of thi
shares, may have resulted in such an ownershipgehar could result in an ownership change in tliteré upon subsequt
disposition.

The Company has not completed a study to assesthevhan ownership change has occurred. If the Camnpe:
experienced an ownership change, utilization oM. or R&D credit carryforwards would be subjeatan annual limitation und
Section 382 of the Code, which is determined bst fimultiplying the value of the Compasystock at the time of the owners
change by the applicable long-term, eempt rate, and then could be subject to additiadjastments, as required. Any limitat
may result in expiration of a portion of the NOL R&D credit carryforwards before utilization. Fueth until a study is complet
and any limitation is known, no amounts are beiogsidered as an uncertain tax position or discl@sean unrecognized tax ben:
Due to the existence of the valuation allowancéyri changes in the Compasyunrecognized tax benefits will not impact
effective tax rate. Any carryforwards that will ésgoprior to utilization as a result of such lintitms will be removed from deferr
tax assets with a corresponding reduction of theat@n allowance.

FASB ASC Topic 740)Jncome Taxes which clarifies the accounting for uncertaintyimtome taxes recognized in
financial statements, provides that a tax bensdinfan uncertain tax position may be recognizednwhis more likely than not th
the position will be sustained upon examinatiorjuding resolutions of any related appeals or diiign processes, based on
technical merits. Income tax positions must meetae likely than not recognition threshold. The Qamy did not record ai
unrecognized tax benefits upon adoption of Accaunfior Uncertainty in Income Taxes. The Companpblicy is to recogni:
interest and penalties that would be assessedgitioreto the settlement value of unrecognizedi@mefits as a component of incc
tax expense
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The Company does not have any unrecognized taXitsetiet will significantly decrease or increasghin 12 months ¢
March 31, 2011. The Company is subject taxatiahénUS and the state of California.

As of March 31, 2011, the Company is no longer sctbio U.S. federal examinations for years befdd872and fo
California franchise and income tax examinationf®itge2006. However, to the extent allowed by ldve, taxing authorities may he
the right to examine prior periods where net opegalosses were generated and carried forward,naae adjustments up to -
amount of the net operating loss carry forward amholihe Company is not currently under examinatignU.S. federal or ste
jurisdictions.

Note 15. Quarterly Results of Operations (unauditep

The following table sets forth a summary of our wttited quarterly operating results for each of et eight quarters
the period ended March 31, 2011. This data has deswed from our unaudited consolidated interimaficial statements which,
our opinion, have been prepared on substantiadlysdme basis as the audited financial statementained elsewhere in this reg
and include all normal recurring adjustments neagsfor a fair presentation of the financial infation for the periods present
These unaudited quarterly results should be readnjunction with our financial statements and sdtereto included elsewhere
this report. The operating results in any quarterreot necessarily indicative of the results thayrhe expected for any future pel
(in thousands except earnings per share).

Quarter Ended
Mar. 31, Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30 Mar. 31, Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30

2011 2010 2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009
(Unaudited)

Revenues $ 10 $ 10C $ 124 $ 152 % 7% $ 21 % 8 $ 14
Cost of revenue 274 257 37¢ 39¢ 25¢ 13¢ 177 14¢
Gross lost (179 (157) (259) (249) (189 (112) (169) (135)
Research and

developmen 107 10t 11t 122 15 89 93 88
Selling, general and

administrative 1,182 1,081 1,114 94z 1,114 69C 77¢ 72¢
Total operating expens 1,28¢ 1,18¢ 1,22¢ 1,06¢ 1,12¢ 77¢ 87z 817
Loss from operation (1,469 (1,349 (1,487 (2,30¢) (1,319 (897) (2,047 (952)
Other income (expense),

net (399 (119 (27) (19 747 3,34z (6,144 602
Income (loss) before

income taxe: (1,857 (1,457 (1,510 (1,327) (56€) 2,451 (7,18%) (350
Income taxe: — — — 2 — — 2 —
Net income (loss $ (1,85) $(1,45) $ (1510 $(1329 $ (566) $ 2451 $ (7,18) $ (350

Net income (loss) pe
common share
Basic (0.09) (0.11) (0.15) (0.16) (0.09) 0.5C (1.56) (0.08)

Weighted average
common shares
outstanding

Basic 21,34¢ 13,56¢ 10,26¢ 8,14¢ 6,24z 4,917 4,61°F 4,294

Diluted 21,34¢ 13,56¢ 10,26¢ 8,14¢ 6,24z 6,57 4,61°f 4,294
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CRYOPORT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
Note 16. Subsequent Events

On April 4, 2011, CryoPort, Inc. (the “Company”)mad Mark Englehart, 53, as the CompangZhief Commercii
Officer. Mr. Englehart has more than 30 years ofketing, sales and product commercialization exgex in the pharmaceutic
biotechnology and contract research organizatidnstries.

On May 25, 2011, the Board of Directors of CryoPamt. (the “Company”)glected Karen M. Muller to the Board
Directors to fill the vacancy created by the reqeamsing of Mr. Hank Bonde. Ms. Muller was expedtetie appointed to the Au
Committee, Compensation Committee and Governantd&aminating Committee of the Board of DirectorsJame 23, 2011.

In April 2011, the Company issued 171,428 sharesoaimon stock upon the exercise of warrants atvamage exercis
price of $0.77 per share for total gross proceé&i82,000.

In April 2011, the Company issued 36,090 sharesoafmon stock upon the cashless exercise of adb&8,714 warran
at an average exercise price of $0.77 per share.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registhas duly caus

this Report to be signed on its behalf by the usideed, thereunto duly authorized.
CRYOPORT, INC

Dated: June 27, 2011 By: /s/ LARRY G. STAMBAUGH

Larry G. Stambaugt

President & Chief Executive Officer, and Direc

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each penrsbose signature appears below constitutes andirgpp.arry G
Stambaugh, President and Chief Executive Officed @atherine M. Doll, Chief Financial Officer, aedch of them, his true a
lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with the fudlwer of substitution and mibstitution, for him and in his name, place amaddt ir
any and all capacities, to sign any amendmentitoreport, and to file the same, with exhibitsréte and other documents
connection therewith, with the Securities and ExggaCommission, granting unto each said attorndgdhand agent full pow
and authority to do and perform each and everynagerson, hereby ratifying and confirming all tisaid attorney-irfact and ager

or either of them, or their or his substitute dostitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done iby& hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons «

behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities@nthe dates indicated:

Signature Capacity Date

/sl Larry G. Stambaugh President & Chief Executive Officer (Principal Exéue June 27, 2011
Larry G. Stambaug Officer), and Director

/s/ Catherine M. Doll Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial andriripal June 27, 2011
Catherine M. Dol Accounting Officer)

/s/ Carlton M. Johnson Director June 27, 2011

Carlton M. Johnso

/s/ Adam Michelin Director
Adam Michelin
/sl Karen M. Muller Director

Karen M. Muller
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Exhibit
No.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

3.1

3.4

3.4.]

3.4.2

3.4.:

3.€

3.1C

3.11

3.1Z

3.1:

3.14

Corporate Charter for G.T.5-Limited issued by th&t&of Nevada on March 15, 2005. Incorporatedefigrence
to CryoPor's Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

Articles of Incorporation for G.T.5-Limited filedith the State of Nevada in May 25, 1990. Incorpexuidty
reference to CryoPc's Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of G.T.5-lited increasing the authorized shares of commarkg$tom
5,000,000 to 100,000,000 shares of common stoed filith the State of Nevada on October 12, 2004.
Incorporated by reference to CryoF' s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

Amendment to Articles of Incorporation changing ttzane of the corporation from G.T.5-Limited to CPgut,
Inc. filed with the State of Nevada on March 16020Incorporated by reference to CryoPort’s Regiiin
Statement on Form -SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation dl@etober 19, 2008. Incorporated by reference ymRort’s
Current Report on Formr-K filed October 19, 2007

Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorportifiled with the State of Nevada on November )20
Incorporated by reference to CryoPort’'s Amendmemt Nto Form S-1/A Registration Statement dated
January 12, 201(

Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restatd@las of Incorporation filed with the State of Nela on
February 3, 2010. Incorporated by reference to Boy’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on February 5, 201(

Amended and Restated By-Laws of CryoPort, Inc. tetbpy the Board of Directors on June 22, 2005 and
amended by the Certificate of Amendment of Amenaiedi Restated Bylaws of CryoPort, Inc. adopted by th
Board of Directors on October 9, 2009. Incorpordigdeference to CryoPort’'s Amendment No. 1 to F&IVA
Registration Statement dated January 12, 2

Articles of Incorporation of CryoPort Systems, Ifited with the State of California on December 2000,
including Corporate Charter for CryoPort Systems, Issued by the State of California on DecemiBe2000.
Incorporated by reference to CryoF' s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

By-Laws of CryoPort Systems, Inc. adopted by tharB8®f Directors on December 11, 2000. Incorporated
reference to CryoPc's Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

CryoPort, Inc. Stock Certificate Specimen. Incogted by reference to CryoPort’s Registration Statgmon
Form 1(-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

Code of Conduct for CryoPort, Inc. Incorporatedéference to CryoPort’s Registration Statement amFL0-
SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

Code of Ethics for Senior Officers of CryoPort, .land subsidiaries. Incorporated by reference yoRort's
Registration Statement on Form-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

Statement of Policy on Insider Trading. Incorpoddtg reference to CryoPort’s Registration Statenoent
Form 1(-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

CryoPort, Inc. Audit Committee Charter, under whilbe Audit Committee will operate, adopted by theaRl of
Directors on August 19, 2005. Incorporated by mfee to CryoPort’s Registration Statement on FORSRB/A4
dated February 23, 200

CryoPort Systems, Inc. 2002 Stock Incentive Playpsetl by the Board of Directors on October 1, 2002.
Incorporated by reference to CryoF s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

Stock Option Agreement ISO -Specimen adopted by the Board of Directors on QGutéb2002. Incorporated
reference to CryoPc's Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(
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Exhibit
No. Description
3.1t Stock Option Agreement NSO — Specimen adopted rdof Directors on October 1, 2002. Incorporated b
reference to CryoPc's Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(
3.1¢€ Warrant Agreement — Specimen adopted by the Bobldrectors on October 1, 2002. Incorporated by
reference to CryoPc's Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(
3.17 Patents and Trademar
3.17.] CryoPort Systems, Inc. Patent #6,467,642 informaglmeet and Assignment to CryoPort Systems, Incurdent
On File with CryoPort
3.17.2 CryoPort Systems, Inc. Patent #6,119,465 informadimeet and Assignment to CryoPort Systems, Ireurdent
On File with CryoPort
3.17.2 CryoPort Systems, Inc. Patent #6,539,726 informaglmeet and Assignment to CryoPort Systems, Incurdent
On File with CryoPort
3.17.¢ CryoPort Systems, Inc. Trademark #7, 583, 478 arin&tion sheet and Assignment to CryoPort Systémas,
document. On File with CryoPo
3.17.t CryoPort Systems, Inc. Trademark #7, 586, 797f@nmation sheet and Assignment to CryoPort Systénes,
document. On File with CryoPo
3.17.¢ CryoPort Systems, Inc. Trademark #7,748,667,3 inédion sheet and Assignment to CryoPort Systengs, In
document. On File with CryoPo
3.17.5 CryoPort Systems, Inc. Trademark #7,737,454,1 in&dion sheet and Assignment to CryoPort Systengs, In
document. On File with CryoPo
4.1 Form of Debenture — Original Issue Discount 8% SedConvertible Debenture dated September 28, 2007.
Incorporated by reference to CryoF' s Registration Statement on Form-2 dated November 9, 20C
4.1.1 Amendment to Convertible Debenture dated Febru@r2Q08. Incorporated by reference to CryoPort sré€ht
Report on Form - K dated March 7, 2008 and referred to as Exhibil 11@.
4.1.2 Amendment to Convertible Debenture dated AprilBW)8. CryoPort’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
April 30, 2008 and referred to as Exhibit 10.1.
41.2.. Annex to Amendment to Convertible Debenture datpdI&0, 2008. CryoPort’s Current Report on ForrK 8-
dated April 30, 2008 and referred to as Exhibitl101.1.
4.1.: Amendment to Convertible Debenture dated AuguseR08. Incorporated by reference to CryoPort’s Euirr
Report on Form-K dated August 29, 200
4.1.¢ Amendment to Convertible Debenture effective Jan@ar 2009 and dated February 20, 2009. Incorpdiayge
reference to CryoPc's Current Report on Forn-K dated February 19, 200
4.1 Amendment to Debentures and Warrants with Enabtevér Partners LP, Enable Opportunity Partners LP,
Pierce Diversified Strategy Master Fund LLC, Endd8ePointe Master Fund Ltd. and CryoPort Inc. date
September 1, 2009. Incorporated by reference toRt’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated SepteriiGer
20009.
4.1.¢€ Amendment to Debentures and Warrants, Agreement\faider with Enable Growth Partners LP, Enable
Opportunity Partners LP, Pierce Diversified Strgtdtaster Fund LLC, Ena, BridgePointe Master Fundl laind
CryoPort Inc. dated January 12, 2010. Incorporbteceference to CryoPort’s Current Report on Forka @ated
January 15, 201(
4.1.7 Amendment Agreement with Enable Growth PartnersHrigble Opportunity Partners LP, Pierce Diversified

Strategy Master Fund LLC, Ena, BridgePointe MaBterd Ltd. and CryoPort Inc. dated February 1, 2010.
Incorporated by reference to CryoF's Current Report on Forn-K dated February 3, 201



4.1.¢ Amended and Restated Amendment Agreements withl&@owth Partners LP, Enable Opportunity Partners
LP, Pierce Diversified Strategy Master Fund LLCaEBridgePointe Master Fund Ltd. and CryoPort tated
February 19, 2010. Incorporated by reference t@Poy’s Current Report on Forn-K dated February 26, 20:
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Exhibit
No. Description
4.1.¢ First Amendment to Amended and Restated Amendmgregeients with Enable Growth Partners LP, Enable
Opportunity Partners LP, Pierce Diversified Strgtdtaster Fund LLC, Ena, BridgePointe Master Fundl &hd
CryoPort Inc. dated February 23, 2010. Incorporateceference to CryoPort’s Current Report on F8Fi
dated February 26, 201
4.2 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated Sejete®d 2007. Incorporated by reference to CryoRort’
Registration Statement on Form-2 dated November 9, 20C
4.3 Original Issue Discount 8% Secured Convertible Délne dated May 30, 2008. Incorporated by referéoce
CryoPor’s Current Report on Forn-K dated June 9, 200
4.4 Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated May 30, 20@8rporated by reference to CryoPsi€urrent Report ¢
Form ¢-K dated June 9, 20(
4.5 Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated May 30, 20@8rporated by reference to CryoPsi€urrent Report ¢
Form &K dated June 9, 20C
4.€ Form of Warrant and Warrant Certificate in connaetivith the February 25, 2010 public offering. Irnmarated
by reference to CryoP¢s Amendment No. 5 to Forn-1/A Registration Statement dated February 9, 2
4.7 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement in conneetitinthe August to October 2010 private placement.
Incorporated by reference to CryoF' s Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated October 19, 201
4.8 Form of First Amendment to Security Purchase Agre@nm connection with the August to October 206i0gte
placement. Incorporated by reference to Cryc's Registration Statement on For-1 dated October 19, 201
4.9 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (Continuaifdhe Placement) in connection with the August to
October 2010 private placement. Incorporated bgregfce to CryoPort’'s Registration Statement on Fé+in
dated October 19, 201
4.1C Registration Rights Agreement in connection with ugust to October 2010 private placement. Incaieal by
reference to CryoPc(' s Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated October 19, 201
4.11 Form of Joinder to Registration Rights Agreemerntdnnection with the August to October 2010 private
placement. Incorporated by reference to Cryc's Registration Statement on For-1 dated October 19, 201
4.1z Form of Securities Purchase Agreement in connegtitinthe February 2011 private placement. Incoaza by
reference to CryoP('s Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated April 1, 2011
413 Form of Registration Rights Agreement in connectigth the February 2011 private placement. Incaapen by
reference to CryoP('s Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated April 1, 2011
4,14 Form of Warrant in connection with the August ta@er 2010 private placement. Incorporated by esfee to
CryoPor’s Registration Statement on Fori-1/A dated April 22, 2011
4.1¢ Form of Warrant in connection with the February P@tivate placement. Incorporated by referencertmBort’s
Registration Statement on Forr-1/A dated April 22, 2011
10.1.1 Stock Exchange Agreement associated with the mefg@rT.5-Limited and CryoPort Systems, Inc. sigoaed
March 15, 2005. Incorporated by reference to Cryt®Registration Statement on Form 10-SB/A4 dated
February 23, 200¢
10.1.2 Commercial Promissory Note between CryoPort, Ind. 2. Petreccia executed on August 26, 2005. lraratpc
by reference to CryoP(¢ s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(
10.1.2 Commercial Promissory Note between CryoPort, Ind. & Dell executed on September 1, 2005. Incotpdtay
reference to CryoPc('s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(
10.1.¢ Commercial Promissory Note between CryoPort, Ind. . Grossman executed on August 25, 2005.

Incorporated by reference to CryoF' s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(



10.1.5

10.1.¢

10.1.7

10.1.¢

Commercial Promissory Note between CryoPort, Ind.R. Mullens executed on September 2, 2005.
Incorporated by reference to CryoF' s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

Commercial Promissory Note between CryoPort, Ind. R. Takahashi executed on August 25, 2005.
Incorporated by reference to CryoF' s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

Exclusive and Representation Agreement betweenRemgdystems, Inc. and CryoPort Systems, Ltda.wrdc
on August 9, 2001. Incorporated by reference tm@oyt's Registration Statement on Form 10-SB/A4dat
February 23, 2006 and referred to as Exhibit 10

Secured Promissory Note and Loan Agreement betWeatana Group, LLC and CryoPort, Inc. dated May 12,

2006. Incorporated by reference to CryoPort’s Regfion Statement on Form BB/A4 dated February 23, 20
and referred to as Exhibit 10.1
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Description

10.2

10.2.1

10.2

10.4

10.4.1

10.t

10.€

10.7

10.€

10.¢

10.1(

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.1¢

Business Alliance Agreement dated April 27, 2007CloyoPort, Inc. and American Biologistics CompamyC.
Incorporated by reference to CryoPort’s Currentd®epn Form 8-K dated April 27, 2007 and referreds
Exhibit 10.3.

Corrected Business Alliance Agreement dated AptjlZ007, by CryoPort, Inc. and American Biologistic
Company LLC. Incorporated by reference to CryoRaftirrent Report on Form 8-K/A dated May 2, 200d an
referred to as Exhibit 10.3.

Consultant Agreement dated April 18, 2007 betwesioRort, Inc. and Malone and Associates, LLC.
Incorporated by reference to CryoPort’s Quarteyp&t on Form 10-QSB for the quarter ended Jun@@07
and referred to as Exhibit 10.

Lease Agreement dated June 26, 2007 between CydRorand Viking Investors — Barents Sea LLC.
Incorporated by reference to CryoPort’s Quarteryp&t on Form 10-QSB for the quarter ended Jun@@07
and referred to as Exhibit 10.

Second Amendment To Lease: Renewal dated Augu&0®®, between CryoPort, Inc. and Viking Inventors-
Barents Sea LLC. Incorporated by reference to CoypdAmendment No. 1 to Form S-1/A Registration
Statement dated January 12, 2(

Securities Purchase Agreement dated Septembef@7, lcorporated by reference to CryoPort’s Reagjfigin
Statement on Form &2 dated November 9, 2007 and referred to as Exhib@.

Registration Rights Agreement dated September@¥7.2ncorporated by reference to CryoPort's Regfigin
Statement on Form ¢-2 dated November 9, 2007 and referred to as Exhibit.

Security Agreement dated September 27, 2007. locatgd by reference to CryoParRegistration Statement
Form SE-2 dated November 9, 2007 and referred to as Exhib&.

Sitelet Agreement between FedEx Corporate Servisesand CryoPort Systems, Inc. dated Januarg@33.
Incorporated by reference to CryoPort’s Currentd®epn Form 8-K dated February 1, 2008 and refetwesbs
Exhibit 10.9.

Securities Purchase Agreement dated May 30, 20@8rporated by reference to CryoPort’s Current Repo
Form ¢-K dated June 9, 2008 and referred to as ExhibitQL

Registration Rights Agreement dated May 30, 2008oiporated by reference to CryoPort’s Current Repo
Form ¢-K dated June 9, 2008 and referred to as Exhibit1l!

Waiver dated May 30, 2008. Incorporated by refeeeiocCryoPort’s Current Report on Form 8-K dateke)9,
2008 and referred to as Exhibit 10.

Security Agreement dated May 30, 2008. Incorporateteference to CryoPort’'s Current Report on F8r
dated June 9, 2008 and referred to as Exhibit 1

Board of Directors Agreement between Larry G. Stangh and CryoPort, Inc. dated December 10, 2008.
Incorporated by reference to CryoPort’s Currentdepn Form 8-K dated December 5, 2008 and refdoed
Exhibit 10.15.

Rental Agreement with FedEx Corporate Services@myodPort, Inc. dated May 15, 2009 (CryoPort hasifih
Confidential Treatment Request under Rule 24bthefExchange Act, for parts of this document). tpooated
by reference to CryoPort's Annual Report on ForrKlfor the year ended March 31, 2009 and referoeaist
Exhibit 10.16.

Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release with Ddly ldad CryoPort, Inc. dated July 24, 2009. Incogted
by reference to CryoP¢s Current Report on Forn-K dated July 20, 2009 and referred to as Exhibit 4(

Consent, Waiver and Agreement with Enable Growttiniees LP, Enable Opportunity Partners LP, Pierce
Diversified Strategy Master Fund LLC, Ena, Bridgefe® Master Fund Ltd. and CryoPort Inc. and itsssdilary
dated July 30, 2009. Incorporated by referencery@Bort’'s Current Report on Formik8eated July 29, 2009 a
referred to as Exhibit 10.1



10.1% Employment Agreement with Larry G. Stambaugh angb@ort, Inc. dated August 1, 2009. Incorporated by
reference to CryoPc's Current Report dated August 21, 2009 and refeoad Exhibit 10.1¢
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Exhibit
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Description

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.2(

10.21

10.2¢

10.2:

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.2%

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.3(

10.31

10.32

10.3t

10.3¢

Letter Accepting Consulting Agreement dated Octdhe2007 with Carpe DM, Inc. and CryoPort, Inc.
Incorporated by reference to CryoPort, Inc.’s Regi®on Statement on Form S-8 dated March 25, 20@D
referred to as Exhibit 10.

Master Consulting and Engineering Services Agreemiated October 9, 2007 with KLATU Networks, LLCdan
CryoPort, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Cry¢Haoc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 dadedch 25,
2009 and referred to as Exhibit 1C

Investment Banker Termination Agreement dated Ajr2009 with Bradley Woods & Co. Ltd., SEPA Cabita
Corp., Edward Fine, and CryoPort, Inc. Incorpordigdeference to CryoPort, Inc.’s Registration &tatnt on
Form ¢-8 dated April 13, 2009 and referred to as ExhiBitl1

Attorney-Client Retainer Agreement with Gary Cufiannon and CryoPort, Inc. dated December 1, 2007.
Incorporated by reference to CryoPort, Inc.’s Reegi®n Statement on Form S-8 dated June 11, 2689 a
referred to as Exhibit 10.:

CryoPort, Inc., 2009 Stock Incentive Plan. Incogted by reference to CryoPort’s Current Report om8-K
dated October 9, 2009 and referred to as ExhibR1Li

CryoPort, Inc., Form Incentive Stock Option Awardrdement under the CryoPort, Inc., 2009 Stock Itieen
Plan. Incorporated by reference to CryoPort’'s GuirReport on Form 8-K dated October 9, 2009 anefred to
as Exhibit 10.22

Warrant issued to Rodman & Renshaw, LLC in conoectiith the February 25, 2010 public offering.
Incorporated by reference to CryoF s Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated October 19, 201

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreemender the CryoPort, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan.
Incorporated by reference to CryoF s Registration Statement on Fori-8 dated April 27, 201(

Underwriting Agreement with Rodman & Renshaw, Lu@&ryoPort in connection with the February 25,201
public offering. Incorporated by reference to Crgd® Registration Statement on Form S-1 dated @utd9,
2010.

Letter of Engagement with Maxim Group, LLC and Gpgeot dated as of June 16, 2010. Incorporated leyanat:
to CryoPor s Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated October 19, 201

Second Amendment to Engagement Agreement with M&iaup, LLC. Incorporated by reference to CryoPort’
Registration Statement on Forr-1 dated October 19, 201

Selling Agency Agreement for CryoPort, Inc. StocklAVarrants with Emergent Financial Group, Inc. and
CryoPort dated as of July 27, 2010. Incorporatedeligrence to CryoPort’'s Registration Statemerffam S-1
dated October 19, 201

Addendum to Selling Agency Agreement for CryoPbit, Stock and Warrants with Emergent Financialupro
Inc. and CryoPort dated as of August 31, 2010.rimaz@ted by reference to CryoPort’s RegistraticaateShent on
Form ¢-1 dated October 19, 201

Agreement dated as of January 13, 2010, betweenFory, Inc. and Federal Express Corporation. Inm@ted
by reference to CryoP¢s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended September 30, 201

First Amendment to Master Consulting and Engineg8ervices Agreement dated as of April 23, 2008yben
CryoPort, Inc. and KLATU Networks, LLC. Incorpordtby reference to CryoPort’s Registration Statenoent
Form ¢-1 dated October 19, 201

Second Amendment to Master Consulting and EngingeServices Agreement dated as of November 1, 2010,
between CryoPort, Inc. and KLATU Networks, LLC. émporated by reference to CryoPort’s Registration
Statement on Form-1 dated October 19, 201

Selling Agency Agreement between CryoPort, Inc. Briibrgent Financial Group, Inc. dated as of Felgrdar
2011. Incorporated by reference to Cryo’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated April 1, 2011



10.3¢ Consent to Appointment of Co-Agent Agreement betw@eyoPort, Inc. and Emergent Financial Group, Inc.
dated as of February 10, 2011. Incorporated byeate to CryoPort's Registration Statement on F8rfindated
April 1, 2011.
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10.3¢ Letter Agreement between CryoPort, Inc. and Maxiraup LLC dated February 11, 2011. Incorporated by
reference to CryoPc's Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated April 1, 2011
13.1 Consolidated Financial Statements and related Nbarsto.*
21 Subsidiaries of Registran
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing — KMJ Corbin & Company LLP.
31.1 Rule 13i-14(a)/15¢14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer
31.2 Rule 13i-14(a)/15¢-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer
32.1 Certification Pursuant to U.S.C. 81350 of Chief &xéve Officer.*
32.2 Certification Pursuant to U.S.C. 81350 of Chiefdfinial Officer.*

*  Filed herewith
**  Portions omitted pursuant to a request for confidétreatment filed separately with the Commiss
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EXHIBIT 21

CRYOPORT, INC.
Subsidiaries of Registrant

CryoPort Systems, Inc.



EXHIBIT 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm
We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statement No. 333-166327 on Forehd-our report dated June
2011, with respect to the consolidated financiateshents of CryoPort, Inc. included in this Ann&dport on Form 16 of
CryoPort, Inc. for the years ended March 31, 20id 2010.
/sl KMJ Corbin & Company, LLP

Costa Mesa, California
June 27, 2011



EXHIBIT 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002

I, Larry G. Stambaugh, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16tICryoPort, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiomny untrue statement of a material fact or donftate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in lighedfircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contasld procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrifie period in which this report is being prepared

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaoing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragtisslosure controls and procedures and presentdsineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contiots procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the teghig’s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regits fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, thegistrant’s internal control over financial repogdj and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitatcmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct(@spersons performing the
equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectbgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaiad report financial information;
and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invawaanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Dated: June 27, 2011 Signed /s/ LARRY G. STAMBAUGH

Larry G. Stambaug
President & Chief Executive Officer, and Direc




EXHIBIT 31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002

I, Catherine M. Doll, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16tICryoPort, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiom@ny untrue statement of a material fact or donfitate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contasld procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrifie period in which this report is being prepared

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaoing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragtisslosure controls and procedures and presentdsineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contiots procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the teghig’s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regits fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, thegistrant’s internal control over financial repogdj and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitatcmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct(@spersons performing the
equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectbgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaiad report financial information;
and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invawaanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Dated: June 27, 2011 Signed /s/ CATHERINE M. DOLL

Catherine M. Dol
Chief Financial Officel




EXHIBIT 32.1
Certification Pursuant to U.S.C. §1350 of Chief Exeutive Officer

I, Larry G. Stambaugh., President and Chief Exgeulifficer of CryoPort, Inc. (the “Company”), céytipursuant to Rule 13
(a)-14(b) or Rule 15(d)-14(b) of the Securities Bxege Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compamythe fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 (the “Re&péully complies
with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(def Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. #8m80(d)); and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of
operations of the Company.

Dated: June 27, 2011

/sl Larry G. Stambaug

Larry G. Stambaugh, Chairme
Chief Executive Office

A signed original of this written statement requitey Section 906 has been provided to CryoPort,dnd will be retaines
by CryoPort, Inc. and furnished to the Securitiagl &xchange Commission or its staff upon request.

This Certification is being furnished pursuant tol&15(d) and shall not be deemed “filed” for puges of Section 18 of
the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78r), or otherwiseexttttp the liability of that section. This Certdigon shall not be deemed
incorporated by reference into any filing under thecurities Act or the Exchange Act, except t@itent that the Company
specifically incorporates it by reference.



EXHIBIT 32.2
Certification Pursuant to U.S.C. 81350 of Chief Fiancial Officer

I, Catherine M. Doll Chief Financial Officer of QrfPort, Inc. (the “Company”), certify, pursuant tal® 13(a)-14(b) or Rule 15
(d)-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 48 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compamythe fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 (the “Re&péully complies
with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(ddef Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. #8m80(d)); and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of
operations of the Company.

Dated: June 27, 2011

/sl Catherine M. Doll

Catherine M. Doll
Chief Financial Officer, Chief Accounting Offic

A signed original of this written statement requitey Section 906 has been provided to CryoPort,dnd will be retaines
by CryoPort, Inc. and furnished to the Securitiagl &xchange Commission or its staff upon request.

This Certification is being furnished pursuant tol&15(d) and shall not be deemed “filed” for puges of Section 18 of
the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78r), or otherwiseexttttp the liability of that section. This Certdigon shall not be deemed
incorporated by reference into any filing under thecurities Act or the Exchange Act, except t@itent that the Company
specifically incorporates it by reference.



